


This document comprises a prospectus relating to Pure Gold Mining Inc. prepared in accordance with the Prospectus 
Regulation Rules. This document has been approved by the Financial Conduct Authority in accordance with Part VI of 
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and has been filed with the FCA and made available to the public in 
accordance with Rule 3.2 of the Prospectus Regulation Rules. This Prospectus has been approved by the FCA as 
competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. The FCA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards 
of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such approval should not 
be considered as an endorsement of the issuer that is the subject of this document nor should such approval be 
considered as an endorsement of the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Prospectus. Prospective investors 
should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 

 

Applications have been made to the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange for the New Common Shares to be admitted 
to the standard segment of the Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market for listed securities, respectively. 
Admission to trading on the Main Market constitutes admission to trading on a UK regulated market. It is expected that Admission will 
become effective and that unconditional dealings in the New Common Shares will commence on 17 December 2019. Dealings on the 
London Stock Exchange before Admission will only be settled if Admission takes place. All dealings before the commencement of 
unconditional dealings will be of no effect if Admission does not take place and such dealings will be at the sole risk of the parties 
concerned. 

The Company has established arrangements to enable investors to settle interests in the New Common Shares through the CREST 
system. Securities issued by non-UK companies, such as the Company, cannot be held or transferred electronically in the CREST 
system. However, depositary interests allow such securities to be dematerialised and settled electronically through CREST. The 
Depositary Interests will be independent securities constituted under English law which may be held and transferred through the CREST 
system. Investors should note that it is the Depositary Interests which will be settled through CREST and not the New Common Shares. 

 
The Common Shares are also currently listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, where they will continue to be listed. The Company and 
each of the Directors, whose names appear on page 33 of this document, accept responsibility for the information contained in this 
document. To the best of the knowledge of the Company and the Directors, the information contained in this document is in accordance 
with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

Prospective investors should read this document in its entirety. In particular, your attention is drawn to Part 2 (Risk Factors) of this 
document for a discussion of the risks that might affect the value of your shareholding in the Company. Prospective investors should be 
aware that an investment in the Company involves a degree of risk and that, if certain risks described in this document occur, investors 
may find their investment materially adversely affected. Accordingly, an investment in the Common Shares is only suitable for investors 
who are particularly knowledgeable in investment matters and who are able to bear the loss of the whole or part of their investment. 

 

 

Pure Gold Mining Inc. 
(incorporated and registered in British Columbia with Business Number 818789943)  

Admission to the Official List (by way of a Standard Listing under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules)  
and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market for listed securities of 91,255,000  

New Common Shares 

The application for Admission has been made in compliance with Rule 3 of the Listing Rules. 

Information to distributors 
The distribution of this document and the offer, sale and/or issue of Common Shares in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. 
No action has been or will be taken by the Company or the Directors to permit a public offer or sale of Common Shares or possession 
or distribution of this document (or any other offering or publicity material or application form relating to the Common Shares) in any 
jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this document comes are required by the Company and the Directors to inform themselves 
about and to observe any such restrictions. This document does not constitute or form part of an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an 
offer to buy, Common Shares to any person in any jurisdiction to whom or in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. 

Application has been made for the New Common Shares to be admitted to the standard segment of the Official List. A Standard 
Listing affords investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection than that afforded to investors in companies whose 
securities are admitted to the premium segment of the Official List, which are subject to additional obligations under the Listing Rules. 

It should be noted that the UK Listing Authority does not have the authority to (and will not) monitor the Company’s compliance with 
any of the Listing Rules or those aspects of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules which the Company has indicated herein 
that it intends to comply with on a voluntary basis, nor to impose sanctions in respect of any failure by the Company to so comply. 

 

Without prejudice to any obligation of the Company to publish a supplementary prospectus pursuant to section 87G of FSMA or Rule 3.4 
of the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the publication of this document does not create any implication that there has been no change in 
the affairs of the Company since, or that the information contained herein is correct at any time subsequent to, the date of this document. 

Forward-looking statements 
Certain statements contained in this document constitute “forward-looking statements”. These statements, including the explanatory 
wording in the document in relation to the Company’s working capital, relate to future events or the future performance of the Company 
but do not seek in any way to qualify the working capital statement given by the Company. These statements relate to future events 
or the future performance of the Company. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. 
Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, 
“estimate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe”, 
“expect” or similar expressions. These statements involve numerous assumptions, known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed, anticipated or implied in such forward-looking 
statements. The Company believes that the expectations reflected in forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, 
but no assurance can be given that such expectations will prove to be correct or accurate and accordingly, such forward-looking 
statements included in, or incorporated by reference into, this document should not be unduly relied upon. These statements speak 
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only as of the date of this document do not seek in any way to qualify the working capital statement given by the Company at paragraph 
18 of Part 8 (Information on Pure Gold Mining) of this document. Actual operational and financial results or events may differ materially 
from the Company’s expectations contained in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, many of which are beyond 
the control of the Company. 

Forward-looking statements in this document include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to the following: 

l       changes in the markets for and pricing of gold; 

l       currency exchange rate fluctuations; 

l       costs and productivity; 

l       unanticipated production disruptions (including as a result of safety-related stoppages, labour or community unrest or 
interruptions in the Company’s electricity and water supply) and other operational difficulties (including delays in commissioning 
and bringing into production new mining areas); 

l       changes in mining, environmental, tax and other laws and regulations and the impact of the current laws of Canada concerning 
areas such as exchange control restrictions, environmental protection and rezoning of land for mining purposes; 

l       the impact on the Company’s business of inflation and other macroeconomic conditions; 

l       the Company’s ability to fund further exploration and new business plans; 

l       environmental laws, regulations and rehabilitation obligations; 

l       the Company’s ability to realise and maximise its business plan, exploration and development activities; 

l       the impact of investments, acquisitions and dispositions (including related financing), any delays, unexpected costs or other 
problems experienced in connection with dispositions or with integrating acquisitions and achieving expected savings and 
synergies; and 

l       uncertainties inherent in estimating the Company’s Reserves and Resources and potential restatements and impairments 
relating thereto. 

With respect to forward-looking statements contained in this document, the Company has made assumptions regarding: 

l       production levels; 

l       commodity prices; 

l       transportation; 

l       foreign exchange rates; 

l       exploration, rehabilitation and development costs; 

l       future currency and interest rates; 

l       the Company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations and to access existing or future credit facilities and capital 
markets to meet its future financial obligations; 

l       availability of labour and mining equipment; 

l       general economic and financial market conditions; and 

l       government regulation in the areas of taxation, royalty rates and environmental protection. 

These factors should not be considered exhaustive. Statements relating to Reserves and Resources are by their nature forward-looking 
statements, as they involve the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions that the Reserves described can be 
profitably produced in the future. The forward-looking statements contained in this document are expressly qualified by this cautionary 
statement. The Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements except as 
required by applicable securities laws. 

Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. The Company makes no 
representation, warranty or prediction that the results predicted by such forward-looking statements will be achieved and these 
forward–looking statements represent, in each case, only one of many possible scenarios and should not be viewed as the most likely 
or standard scenario. Forward-looking statements may, and often do, differ materially from actual results. Any forward-looking 
statements in this document speak only as at the date of this document, reflect the Company’s current view with respect to future 
events and are subject to risks relating to future events and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to the Company’s 
operations, results of operations, growth strategy and the availability of new credit. Investors should specifically consider the factors 
identified in this document that could cause actual results to differ. All of the forward-looking statements made in this document are 
qualified by these cautionary statements. 

Subject to the requirements of the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules and the Listing 
Rules, or applicable law, the Company explicitly disclaims any intention or obligation or undertaking publicly to release the result of any 
revisions to any forward-looking statements in this document that may occur due to any change in the Company’s expectations or to 
reflect events or circumstances after the date of it. 

Company’s website 
Information contained on the Company’s website or the contents of any website accessible from hyperlinks on the Company’s website 
are not incorporated into and do not form any part of this document. 

Interpretation 
Certain terms used in this document are defined in Part 17 (Definitions) of this document. 

References to the singular in this document shall include the plural and vice versa, where the context so requires. References to 
paragraphs, sections or Parts are to paragraphs, sections or Parts of this document, unless otherwise stated. All references to time in 
this document are to London time unless otherwise stated. 

Exchange rates 
Throughout this document, unless indicated otherwise, the following exchange rates have been used: 

C$ : GBP – 0.58 

Dated 12 December 2019
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PART 1 

SUMMARY 

1.     INTRODUCTION AND WARNINGS 

1.1   Introduction warning 
This summary must be read as an introduction to this document. Any decision to invest in Common Shares 
should be based on consideration of this document as a whole by the investor. By deciding to invest in 
Common Shares, an investor could lose all or part of his invested capital. Where a claim relating to the 
information contained in this document is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under national 
law, have to bear the costs of translating this document before the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil 
liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary, including any translation thereof, but 
only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with other parts of this 
document or it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of this document, key information 
in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in such securities. 

1.2   The name and ISIN of the securities 
The securities being admitted to trading are 91,255,000 fully paid New Common Shares without par value. 

The ISIN of the New Common Shares is CA74624E1007.  

1.3   The identity and contact details of the issuer and LEI 
The Issuer is Pure Gold Mining Inc. The contact details for Pure Gold are as follows: 

Address:      1900 – 1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E2E9, Canada  

Telephone:   +1 604 646 8000 

Email:           info@puregoldmining.ca 

The LEI number for Pure Gold is 529900OFY0IOQSQ5B077. 

1.4   The identity and contact details of the competent authority approving the prospectus and, 
where different, the competent authority that approved the registration document or the 
universal registration document 

UK Listing Authority  
Financial Conduct Authority 
12 Endeavour Square 
London E20 1JN 
United Kingdom 

1.5   Date of approval of the prospectus 
12 December 2019. 

2.     KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 

2.1   Who is the issuer of the securities? 
Pure Gold is engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development of high grade gold mineral deposits 
in Canada. 

The Company’s current focus is on advancing the Madsen Gold Project, a high grade underground gold 
mining project located in Red Lake, Ontario, Canada. 
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As at the Last Practicable Date, the Company is aware of the following Shareholders that, directly or 
indirectly, hold interests in five per cent. or more of the Common Shares or voting rights: 

Number of Percentage 

Name Common of Share  

Shares Capital 

AngloGold(1) 50,021,251 14.1 
2176423 Ontario(2) 36,000,000 10.2 
Evanachan(3) 18,000,000 5.0 

Notes 

(1)       AngloGold also owns 12,325,000 Warrants exercisable into 12,325,000 Common Shares. 

(2)       2176423 Ontario is an entity beneficially owned and controlled by Eric Sprott. 2176423 Ontario also owns 18,000,000  
Warrants exercisable into 18,000,000 Common Shares.  

(3)       Evanachan is an entity wholly-owned and controlled by Robert McEwen. 

There are no differences between the voting rights enjoyed by the Shareholders described above and those 
enjoyed by the other holders of Common Shares. 

The Directors and Senior Managers are as follows: 

Name Age Position Appointed 

Darin Labrenz 54 President, CEO & Director 15 February 2011 
Graeme Currie 60 Chairman & Independent Director 4 March 2014 
Mark O’Dea 51 Independent Director 4 March 2014 
Robert Pease 62 Independent Director 25 June 2014 
Troy Fierro 56 Independent Director 12 May 2014 
Lenard Boggio 65 Independent Director 4 March 2014 
Sean Tetzlaff 50 Chief Financial Officer & 12 May 2014;  

Company Secretary 7 June 2016 
Phil Smerchanski 43 Vice President, Exploration 17 May 2016 
Ken Donner 61 Vice President, Operations 23 September 2016 
Christopher Lee 51 Chief Geoscientist 17 May 2016 
 
The statutory auditors of the Company are PwC. 

2.2   What is the key financial information regarding the issuer? 
The table below sets out summary financial information of the Company as derived from the audited annual 
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the nine-month period ended 31 December 2018 
and the financial years ended 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016. 

Consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss 

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 

31 December 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2018 2018 2017 2016 

C$ C$ C$ C$ 

Loss before income taxes (22,663,690) (30,661,791) (25,493,681) (5,932,684) 
Income tax recovery 762,506 4,500,723 961,656 923,637 
Net loss (21,901,184) (26,161,068) (24,532,025) (5,009,047) 
Total comprehensive loss (21,901,184) (26,161,068) (24,982,799) (4,558,273) 
Weighted average number of  
Common Shares outstanding 249,848,826 204,596,280 159,252,279 125,722,594 
Basic and diluted loss per  
Common Share (0.09) (0.13) (0.15) (0.04) 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 

31 December 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2018 2018 2017 2016 

C$ C$ C$ C$ 

Total assets 20,871,965 24,661,551 35,311,795 21,697,657 
Total liabilities 3,458,327 5,690,728 7,632,528 3,871,471 
Total equity 17,413,638 18,970,823 27,679,267 17,826,186 
Total liabilities and equity 20,871,965 24,661,551 35,311,795 21,697,657 

The table below sets out summary financial information of the Company as derived from the unaudited 
condensed interim financial statements of the Company for the three and nine months ended 30 September 
2019 and 30 September 2018. 

For the For the For the For the  

three months three months nine months nine months 

ended ended ended ended 

30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September  

2019 2018 2019 2018 

C$ C$ C$ C$ 

Total Revenue – – – – 
Exploration Expenditures $3,643,163 $7,183,704 $7,247,427 $22,091,640 
Change in fair value of  
derivative liabilities $3,299,400 – $3,299,400 – 
Net Loss and comprehensive loss  
for the period attributable  
to shareholders $8,836,364 $8,101,945 $15,711,147 $22,994,324 
Basic and Diluted Loss per Share $0.03 $0.03 $0.05 $0.10 

The following financial data are as derived from the unaudited condensed interim financial statements of 
the Company as at nine months ended 30 September 2019 and the audited annual consolidated financial 
statements of the Company as at the nine-month period ended 31 December 2018. 

As at As at   

30 September 31 December  

2019 2018 

C$ C$ 

Total assets 107.7 million 20.9 million 
Current liabilities 3.5 million 1.0 million 
Non-current liabilities 49.6 million 2.4 million 
Cash dividends declared – – 

There has been no significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Company since 
30 September 2019, being the end of the last financial period of the Company for which financial information 
has been published, to the date of this document. Such financial information, being the Historical Financial 
Information, is incorporated by relevance into this document. 

This document does not contain pro forma financial information.  

The auditor’s reports on the consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended 
31 December 2018, 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 do not contain any qualifications. 

2.3   What are the key risks that are specific to the issuer? 
l      While the Company’s strategy is to target first gold pour by the end of 2020, the Company currently 

has no cash producing assets. Therefore, it does not currently generate positive cash flow, and has 
incurred losses for each of the financial periods set out in this document.  
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l      Development of the Project could be delayed, experience interruptions, incur increased costs or be 
unable to complete due to a number of factors, including but not limited to: 

          l      changes in the regulatory environment including environmental compliance requirements; 

          l      non-performance by third party consultants and contractors; 

          l      inability to attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified and unqualified workers; 

          l      unforeseen escalation in anticipated costs of development, or delays in construction; 

          l      increases in extraction costs including energy, material and labour costs; 

          l      shortages or delays in obtaining critical mining and processing equipment; and 

          l      catastrophic events such as fires, storms or explosions, 

        any of which would have a material adverse effect on the Company ability to develop the Madsen 
Project in line with expectations. 

l      The Company can draw down up to US$65 million under the Credit Facility, structured in multiple 
tranches to finance the Project. US$10 million was advanced to the Company at closing of the 
agreement on 6 August 2019 and subsequent tranches are available to the Company on satisfaction 
of certain conditions, primarily relating to the development and advancement of the Madsen Project. 
While the Company has no reason to believe that these conditions will not be met in a timely manner, 
there can be no assurance that this will be the case which may delay development of the Madsen 
Project in line with expectations. Further, under the terms of the Credit Facility and the Gold Stream 
the Company is required to comply with various ongoing positive and restrictive covenants and 
undertakings that limit the Company’s ability to engage in activities that may be in the Company’s 
long-term best interest, including: the making of distributions, the sale or encumbrance of assets, the 
acquisition of assets and the assumption of indebtedness other than that contemplated under the 
Credit Facility. 

l      Although the Company currently has a number of permits relating to the Project which are currently in 
good standing, in order to commence development of the Project and draw down subsequent tranches 
under the Credit Facility, regulatory changes require some of the Company’s existing permits to be 
updated. While the Company can foresee no reason why it may not receive all necessary updates to 
its existing permits, there can be no assurance that such updates will be obtainable at all, on reasonable 
terms or the conditions to which they may be subject. The failure to obtain such required amendments 
or any additional permits that may be required, or delays in obtaining the same, or failure to fulfil any 
conditions attaching to such permits could increase the Company’s costs and delay its activities 
including commencing development of the Project. The Company’s future success will largely depend 
upon the Company’s ability to develop and manage the Project. In particular, the Company’s success 
is dependent upon the Directors’ ability to implement the Company’s strategy, to develop the Project 
and to maintain ongoing gold production from the Project. 

l      The Company’s financial performance is highly dependent on the market price of gold. The price of 
gold has historically been subject to wide and, at times, rapid fluctuations and is affected by numerous 
factors beyond the Company’s control, including international economic and political conditions, levels 
of supply and demand, inventory levels maintained by producers and others, actions of central banks, 
interest rates, expectations of the future rates of inflation, the cost of gold production in major 
gold-producing nations, the strength of, and confidence in, USD (the currency in which the price of 
gold is generally quoted) and relative to other currencies, and participants in the commodities markets 
and, to a lesser extent, the effects of inventory carrying costs and currency exchange rates. 

3.     KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES  

3.1   What are the main features of the securities? 
l      The securities being admitted to trading are the New Common Shares. The ISIN of the New Common 

Shares is CA74624E1007. The Project Financing Shares and Project Agreement Shares are subject 
to a hold period of four months and one day until 22 December 2019, in accordance with Canadian 
securities laws.  
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l      On Admission, holders of the New Common Shares will be able to hold and transfer interests in the 
Common Shares within CREST pursuant to a depositary interest arrangement established by the 
Company. The Common Shares will not themselves be admitted to CREST; rather, the Depositary will 
issue the Depositary Interests in respect of underlying Common Shares. 

l      The Depositary Interests are independent securities constituted under English law, which are held and 
transferred directly through the CREST system. Depositary Interests have the same ISIN as the 
underlying Common Shares and do not require a separate admission to trading on the London Stock 
Exchange. The Depositary Interests were created and issued pursuant to a Deed Poll issued and 
executed by the Depositary. 

l      The price of the Common Shares is quoted on the London Stock Exchange in GBX. 

l      On Admission, the Company will have an issued share capital of 358,466,692 Common Shares of no 
par value. 

l      The Common Shares rank equally for voting purposes. On a show of hands, each Shareholder present 
has one vote and on a poll, each Shareholder has one vote per Common Share held. 

l      The Common Shares rank equally for dividends declared and for any distributions on a winding-up. 

l      The Common Shares rank equally in the right to receive a relative proportion of the Company’s assets 
upon dissolution and are, as at the Last Practicable Date, the most senior security in the Company’s 
capital structure.  

l      The Common Shares are freely transferable and there are no restrictions on transfer. 

l      The Company has never declared or paid dividends on the Common Shares.  

3.2   Where will the securities be traded? 
In addition to the New Common Shares being traded on the TSX-V, application has been made to the UKLA 
and the LSE for the New Common Shares to be admitted to the standard segment of the Official List and 
to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market for listed securities. It is expected that Admission 
will become effective and that dealings will commence at 8.00 a.m. on 17 December 2019. 

3.3   What are the key risks that are specific to the securities? 
l      The market price of the Common Shares could be negatively affected by sales or an additional offering 

of substantial numbers of Common Shares in the public market, or the perception or any 
announcement that such sales or an additional offering could occur. 

l      The market price for the Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response 
to numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control. Financial markets have 
experienced significant price and volume fluctuations in the past several years that have particularly 
affected the market price of equity securities of companies and that have, in many cases, been 
unrelated to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. 

l      Any decision to pay dividends on the Common Shares will be made by the Board on the basis of the 
Company’s earnings, financial requirements and other conditions existing at such future time. 
Accordingly, the Company cannot guarantee its ability to pay dividends in the future. 

l      The Common Shares are admitted to the Standard List and so Shareholders will not be afforded the 
protections applicable to a Premium Listing, in particular the provisions of Chapter 6 to 13 of the Listing 
Rules. 

l      The Common Shares are listed on both the TSX-V and the Main Market of the London Stock 
Exchange. Both the TSX-V, the LSE and the FCA therefore have the right to suspend trading in the 
Common Shares in certain circumstances. If trading is suspended, Shareholders may not be able to 
dispose of their Common Shares on the LSE or TSX-V as the case may be. 
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4.     KEY INFORMATION ON THE ADMISSION TO TRADING ON A REGULATED MARKET  

4.1   Under which conditions and timetable can I invest in this security? 
It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings will commence at 8.00 a.m. on 
17 December 2019. 

4.2   Why is this prospectus being produced? 
Following completion of the Offering and Non-Brokered Private Placement, and entering into the Project 
Financing Package and Project Agreement, the Company is seeking Admission of the New Common Shares 
in accordance with Rule 3 of the Listing Rules.
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PART 2  

RISK FACTORS 

The Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely 

affected by the risks described below. In such cases, the market price of the Common Shares may decline 

due to any of these risks and investors may lose all or part of their investment. The Company considers the 

following risks to be the material risks for potential investors in the Company, but the risks listed do not 

necessarily comprise all those associated with an investment in the Company. 

Any investment in the Common Shares may not be suitable for all recipients of this document and is subject 
to a high degree of risk. Prior to investing in the Common Shares, prospective investors should carefully 
consider the risks and uncertainties associated with any investment in the Common Shares, the Company’s 
business and the industry in which it operates, together with all other information contained in this document, 
including, in particular, the risk factors described below. Any of the risks described below, as well as other 
risks and uncertainties discussed in this document, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business and could therefore have a negative effect on the trading price of the Common Shares. Prospective 
investors should note that the risks relating to the Company, its industry and the Common Shares 
summarised in Part 1 (Summary) of this document are the risks that the Company believes to be the most 
essential to an assessment by a prospective investor of whether to consider an investment in the Common 
Shares. However, as the risks which the Company faces relate to events and depend on circumstances 
that may or may not occur in the future, prospective investors should consider not only the information on 
the key risks summarised in Part 1 (Summary) of this document, but also, among other things, the risks 
and uncertainties described below. 

The following factors are not exhaustive, or an explanation of all of the risk factors involved in investing in 
the Common Shares, and should be used as guidance only. The factors listed under a single heading may 
not provide a comprehensive view of all risks relevant to the subject to which the heading relates. Additional 
risks and uncertainties that are not currently known to the Company, or that the Company currently deems 
immaterial, may individually or cumulatively also have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, results 
of operations, financial condition and prospects. In particular, the Company’s performance might be affected 
by changes in market and/or economic conditions and in legal, regulatory and tax requirements. If such 
changes were to occur the price of the Common Shares may decline and investors could lose all or part of 
their investment. Prospective investors should also consider carefully whether an investment in the Common 
Shares is suitable for them in light of the information in this document and their personal circumstances. 

The information contained in this document is based upon current legislation and tax practice and any 
changes in the legislation or in the levels and bases of, and reliefs from, taxation may affect the value of an 
investment in the Common Shares. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS  

The Company has yet to commence production and is exposed to development risk 
While the Company’s strategy is to target first gold pour by the end of 2020, the Company currently has no 
cash producing assets. Therefore, it does not currently generate positive cash flow, and has incurred losses 
for each of the financial periods set out in this document. These losses reflect that the Company’s current 
business activities are as an exploration and development company, with regard to activities at the Madsen 
Gold Project. 

As the Project is anticipated to be the Company’s sole source of near-term revenue earnings, the Company’s 
ultimate success will depend on its ability to develop the Project, reach the production stage and generate 
cash flow in the future and the Company will continue to report negative cashflow from operations until gold 
from the Madsen Gold Project can be sold in sufficient quantities. 

AI 4  
AIII 2 
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Risks associated with the development of the Project 
The Company’s future success will largely depend upon the Company’s ability to develop and manage 
the Project. In particular, the Company’s success is dependent upon the Directors’ ability to implement the 
Company’s strategy, to develop the Project and to maintain ongoing gold production from the Project. 

Development of the Project could be delayed, experience interruptions, incur increased costs or be unable 
to complete due to a number of factors, including but not limited to: 

l      changes in the regulatory environment including environmental compliance requirements; 

l      non-performance by third party consultants and contractors; 

l      inability to attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified and unqualified workers; 

l      unforeseen escalation in anticipated costs of development, or delays in construction; 

l      increases in extraction costs including energy, material and labour costs; 

l      shortages or delays in obtaining critical mining and processing equipment; and 

l      catastrophic events such as fires, storms or explosions. 

It is not uncommon for new mining developments to experience unexpected problems and delays during 
construction, commissioning and production start-up, or indeed for such projects to fail. Any adverse event 
affecting the Project, either during its development or following the commencement of production, would 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and the 
price of the Common Shares, as the Company has no other near-term source of revenue earnings. 

Terms of the Project Financing Package  
The term of the Credit Facility is seven years, during which the Company can draw down up to 
US$65 million, structured in multiple tranches to finance the Project. US$10 million was advanced to the 
Company at closing of the agreement on 6 August 2019, and subsequent tranches are available to the 
Company on satisfaction of certain conditions, primarily relating to the development and advancement of 
the Madsen Project. While the Company has no reason to believe that these conditions will not be met in a 
timely manner, there can be no assurance that this will be the case and if the Company does not satisfy 
these conditions precedent to each drawing under the Credit Facility, there may be adverse consequences 
on the Company’s ability to develop the Madsen Project in line with expectations. 

Under the terms of the Credit Facility and the Gold Stream, the Company is required to comply with various 
ongoing positive and restrictive covenants and undertakings that limit the Company’s ability to engage in 
activities that may be in the Company’s long-term best interest, including: the making of distributions, the 
sale or encumbrance of assets, the acquisition of assets and the assumption of indebtedness other than 
that contemplated under the Credit Facility.  

Each of the above limitations, alone or in combination, could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Failure to comply with these requirements 
would result in an event of default which may result in Sprott Lending recalling or accelerating the debt it is 
owed and/or enforcing security over the Project. 

The repayment of the Credit Facility is dependent on the Company generating sufficient cash flow from the 
production of gold to make the repayment or, alternatively, being able to refinance the Credit Facility. 
Moreover, movements in interest rates may impact the price of the debt pursuant to the Credit Facility. 
A portion of the Company’s debt, including under the Credit Facility, is subject to variable interest rates 
indexed to the greater of 2.5 per cent. and 3-month LIBOR plus 5.50 per cent. to 6.75 per cent. per annum. 
LIBOR could rise significantly in the future. If interest rates increase significantly, the Company’s interest 
expense will correspondingly increase to the extent of the drawings under, or issuances of, such debt bearing 
floating rates of interest, thereby reducing its cash flow. In addition, there is potential uncertainty with respect 
to interest rate calculations in 2021 due to the phasing out of LIBOR, which could have an impact on the 
Company’s interest rate sensitive liabilities. Any failure to service the Credit Facility or to refinance it could 
result in a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects 
of the Company.  
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Permitting and licence requirements 
The Madsen Mine is currently permitted as a mine in Temporary Suspension, being a voluntary suspension 
of activities at a mine site allowing the mine to be shut down without full closure, and last operated in 1999. 
A subset of mining claims are permitted as a mine in Advanced Exploration, allowing underground 
development and drilling to continue in proximity to the mine decline. 

Although the Company currently has a number of permits relating to the Project which are currently in good 
standing, in order to re-open the mine and commence production, operational enhancements and regulatory 
changes require some of the Company’s existing permits to be updated ahead of the Company 
commissioning the mill. 

Permit status has been confirmed with both ENDM and MECP who have confirmed the following existing 
permits are currently in good standing but would require updating due to process changes or regulatory 
changes: (i) Environmental Compliance Approval (ECA) for Industrial Sewage Works, (ii) ECA for Air and 
Noise, (iii) Mine Closure Plan. 

An amendment of the existing ECA for Industrial Sewage Works is required due to changes in effluent 
regulations since the mine last operated. The Company has completed and submitted baseline studies in 
support of the ECA amendment and anticipates a full submission of the permit application in Q4 2019 with 
a new permit expected to be issued in Q1 2020. The revised permit is required before the mill and tailings 
facility can be operated, but it is not required to commence development of these facilities.  

Baseline studies have been completed and a new permit application for the ECA, Air and Noise was 
submitted in 2018 and is expected to be received in Q4 2019. The air component has completed regulatory 
review and the noise permit is almost through review. The Company is able to start development of the 
Project without this permit but the amendment will be required before milling can commence. 

The existing mine closure plan is also required to be amended in advance of production. A new notice of 
project status and project definition has been filed in support of the mine closure plan application. Regulatory 
meetings to screen the application have been scheduled and the closure plan amendment will be submitted 
in Q4 2019 followed by screening and public consultation. 

The Company has successfully completed a federal environmental assessment screening and is not required 
to submit an environmental assessment for the reopening of the Madsen Gold Project. This is consistent 
with a provincial environmental assessment not being required. These outcomes are based on the current 
mine design and reuse of existing infrastructure as well as the detailed closure plan that has been included 
in the design for reopening.  

Further, new regulatory requirements that have come into force since the Madsen Mine last operated may 
require the Company to obtain a number of new, ancillary permits before mining is allowed to re-commence, 
namely: (i) ECA for approval to construct and operate a domestic sewage treatment system; 
(ii) construction/relocation work permit for transmission line and/or water works; (iii) plans and specifications 
approval for dam and berm work, including those associated with tailings facilities; (iv) forestry clearing 
licence; (v) aggregate extraction permit for dam construction; (vi) leave to construct a transmission line; 
(vii) notice of construction before any activities take place; and (viii) approval for construction and operational 
activities under SARA. It has not yet been confirmed if these permits will be required and no application has 
yet been made for them; however application will be made for them as required. 

While the Company can foresee no reason why it may not receive all necessary updates to its existing 
permits, there can be no assurance that such updates will be obtainable at all, on reasonable terms or the 
conditions to which they may be subject. The failure to obtain such required amendments or any additional 
permits that may be required, or delays in obtaining the same, or failure to fulfil any conditions attaching to 
such permits, could increase the Company’s costs and delay its activities including commencing 
development of the Project, could adversely affect the properties, business or operations of the Company. 

Further, any additional future laws and regulations, changes to existing laws and regulations (including, but 
not restricted to, the imposition of higher licence fees, mining royalties or taxes) or more stringent 
enforcement or restrictive interpretation of current laws and regulations by governmental authorities, or of 
rulings or clearances obtained from such governmental authorities, could require additional permitting or 
cause additional expenditure (including capital expenditure) to be incurred or impose restrictions on, or 
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suspensions of, the Company’s operations and cause delays in the development of its properties. Moreover, 
these laws and regulations may allow governmental authorities and private parties to bring lawsuits based 
upon damage to or destruction of properties and injury to persons resulting from the environmental, health 
and safety impacts of the Company’s past and current operations, and could lead to the imposition of 
substantial fines, penalties or other civil or criminal sanctions. The occurrence of any of these factors may 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition and 
the price of the Common Shares. 

Failure to agree a revised closure plan and Closure Bond 
When the Company acquired the Madsen Gold Project, Pure Gold inherited a mining legacy site with a 
history of almost a century of exploration and mining, and a closure programme that was designed by 
previous operators for the historic operation. 

In 2018, the closure plan was amended and the Closure Bond increased by C$85,000 to C$2.4 million to 
allow the Company to reopen the Madsen Portal (C$60,000) and undertake the bulk sampling programme 
(C$25,000). The current Closure Bond is considered to be adequate for closure of the current mine in 
temporary suspension. 

However, in light of the proposed development of the Project and the return of the Madsen Mine to operational 
status, the existing closure plan will require updating, along with the Closure Bond. The revised Closure Bond 
has been estimated by JDS to be C$16 million (which includes the current provision of C$2.4 million) and will 
be considered by ENDM in conjunction with its assessment of the revised closure plan. 

The Company will seek to make an application to ENDM with a revised closure plan and Closure Bond in 
Q4 2019 and, in light of previous updates, expects this to be finalised with ENDM within four to six weeks 
from the date of application. The Company does not anticipate any difficulties in agreeing both a revised 
closure plan and additional funding to the Closure Bond in accordance with this timeline as ENDM’s 
determination will be made in light of JDS’s assessment. 

However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to agree both a revised closure plan 
and additional funding to the Closure Bond in line with its planned timetable for development of the Project. 
The failure to reach an agreement in line with the Company’s expectations and JDS’s estimate could increase 
the Company’s costs and/or delay its planned activities, including commencing development of the Project 
and could adversely affect the business and operations of the Company. 

Development of existing tailings pond dams 
Following the commencement of development of the Project, tailings containment will be provided by raising 
the existing tailings pond dams. The dams will be raised in two stages over the LOM. 

Instrumentation will be installed in the tailings pond dams and underlying foundations and monitored during 
construction and operations to assess performance and to identify any conditions that differ from those 
assumed during design and analysis. 

As such, amendments to the ongoing designs, operating strategies and/or remediation work can be 
implemented to respond to changing conditions, should the need arise and there is potential for additional 
foundation improvement measures to be required at the tailings pond dams to meet safety requirements, 
which could lead to additional development costs. Incurring such costs could delay or interrupt the 
development of the Project and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, result of 
operations, financial condition and the price of the Common Shares. 

Reliance on infrastructure 
The Company’s planned activities depend on adequate infrastructure, including reliable roads, power 
sources and water supplies. 

Any failure or unavailability of the infrastructure on which the Company’s planned operations rely (for example, 
through equipment failure or service disruption) could adversely affect the Company’s exploration activities 
or the development of the Project. 

13



The Company has completed a power study with Hydro One, the Ontario government agency responsible 
for providing hydroelectric grid power to Red Lake, and currently believes that sufficient grid power will be 
available for the Project; however, the initial capacity is very close to estimated operating demand load; 
further there is limited electrical power capacity available in the Red Lake area where the Project is located. 
As such, the Project could be affected by any power shortages or outages that occur, or if the Project 
requires additional power capacity. Further if additional power capacity (planned to be available in 2022 
following the upgrade of the Pickle Lake section of transmission line) is not completed, the Company may 
require additional generators to mitigate any power shortages. In the event the Company is required to 
self-generate electricity on site using diesel-powered generators, the Company will incur higher costs than 
for electricity purchased from the provincial grid. Further, an increase in diesel fuel costs may also result in 
the Company’s operating costs increasing. Prices for diesel fuel can fluctuate widely due to a range of 
factors, including global oil prices, availability and demand from other consumers. If the Company’s operating 
costs increase (whether due to diesel fuel costs increasing, the Company using more key consumables 
than planned or for any other reason) the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition 
and the price of the Common Shares could be materially adversely affected. 

Reliance on historical infrastructure 
The planned development of the Project is reliant on historical infrastructure, including the Madsen Number 2 
mineshaft which currently requires dewatering to determine its final condition. While, following assessment 
by JDS, it is not anticipated that the Company will incur substantial expenditure in relation to the rehabilitation 
of the mineshaft during the Working Capital Period, if it transpires that once dewatered the mineshaft is not 
in as good a condition as currently assessed, work to address additional blockages or conditions may delay 
the Project and increase rehabilitation costs and/or delay getting the shaft operational. The Company has 
provided for an appropriate degree of rehabilitation of the mineshaft in accordance with JDS’s assessment 
in planning the Project. However it is possible that this estimate may not be sufficient to cover the cost of 
repair or replacement depending on the state of the mineshaft, once dewatered, which could lead to a delay 
in shaft housing and more expenditure on rehabilitation than is currently envisaged. The Company would 
be able to mitigate this delay by increasing truck haulage, albeit at a higher operating cost and an increased 
dewatering rate, which would allow additional time for assessment and mitigation and/or rehabilitation. 

Reliance on third party contractors 
The Company has entered into agreements with each of JDS and Dumas with respect to advancing 
construction of the Project and will seek to enter into agreements with other third party service providers in 
connection with future development plans for the Project. Other than direct equipment purchases, the 
balance of JDS’s capital cost estimate (C$51 million) will be through third party contractors. Significant 
contracts that will be required are: (i) engineering, procurement, construction management; (ii) earthworks; 
(iii) mineral processing plant and ancillary infrastructure; (iv) onsite infrastructure; and (v) electrical and 
instrumentation. 

However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to secure in a timely manner, on 
commercially acceptable terms (including as to cost) or at all, the provision of all of the services that the 
Company will need to execute its development plans, or that such arrangements will be sufficient for its 
future needs or will not be interrupted. 

Further, all contracts carry risks associated with the performance by the parties thereto of their obligations 
as to time and quality of work performed and the Company’s business and development plans may be 
adversely affected by a failure to secure or any failure or delay by third parties in supplying these services, 
by any change to the terms on which these services are made available or by the failure of such third party 
contractors to provide services that meet the Company’s quality or volume requirements. 

It is not uncommon for mining companies to have disputes with third party contractors, and for these 
disputes to have a material and adverse effect on the companies’ operations. Any disruption to services or 
supply may have an adverse effect on the financial performance of the Company’s operations. 

If the Company is obliged to change a provider of such services, it may experience additional costs, 
interruptions to development or production or other adverse effects on its business. There is a risk that the 
Company may not be able to find adequate replacement services on commercially acceptable terms, on a 
timely basis, or at all. 
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Should the Company be unable to acquire or retain providers of key services on favourable terms, or should 
there be interruptions to, or inadequacies with, any services provided, this could have a material adverse 
effect on its business, results of its operations and its financial condition and the price of the Common Shares. 

The Resource and Reserve data cited in this document are estimates based on a number of 
assumptions that may prove inaccurate 
The Resource and Reserve estimates cited in this document in respect of the Project are, unless otherwise 
stated, based on a number of assumptions that have been made by JDS and the Feasibility Contractors in 
accordance with NI 43-101 which adopts the CIM Standards on Mineral Resources and Reserves. 

Resource and Reserve estimates are inherently prone to variability, as they involve expressions of judgment 
based on various factors such as knowledge, experience and industry practice. The accuracy of these 
estimates may be affected by many factors, including quality of the results of exploration drilling and analysis 
of samples, as well as the procedures adopted by and the experience of those making the estimates the 
interpretation of which is subjective. 

Estimates of the Resources and Reserves may change significantly in the future when new information 
becomes available or new factors arise, and interpretations and deductions on which these Resources and 
Reserve estimates are based may prove to be inaccurate. The Reserves and Resources information set out 
in this document represent estimates only. Moreover different engineers may make different estimates of 
Reserves and Resources based on the same data. Should the Company encounter mineralisation that is 
more complex or different from that predicted by past drilling, sampling and similar examination, Resources 
and Reserve estimates may have to be adjusted downward. 

Additionally, lower market prices, increased production costs, reduced recovery rates and/or other factors 
may render the Resources uneconomical to exploit and may result in the revision of its Resources and 
Reserve estimate from time to time. 

There can be no assurance that the Reserves or Resources will be recovered in the quantities or yields 
presented. The inclusion of Reserve and Resources estimates should not be regarded as a representation 
that all these amounts can be economically exploited, and nothing contained herein (including, without 
limitation, estimates of mine life) should be interpreted as assurance of the economic life of the Company’s 
Reserves and Resources or the profitability of its future operations. If the Company’s actual Reserves or 
Resources are less than current estimates, the Company’s business, development plans, financial position 
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. 

Furthermore, there are numerous uncertainties in estimating the timing and quantity of development 
expenditures and associated production projections. The production and development plans in this document 
are based on a number of assumptions which, together with the estimates, may prove to be inaccurate. 

The Company’s operations may be harmful to the environment and may be subject to 
compliance, clean-up and other costs 
The Company is subject to various Canadian federal, provincial and municipal environmental laws. Any 
project which involves the exploration for minerals, development of mines and the extraction and production 
of gold has the potential to be hazardous to the environment and environmental damage may occur that is 
costly to remedy. It is not unknown for mining projects to cause environmental damage, whether by way of 
negligence or accident, and for the owner and/or operator of those projects to be liable to fines, 
imprisonment, suspension or revocation of licences and clean-up costs. 

Although the Company believes that it is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable 
environmental laws and regulations, there are certain risks inherent to its activities, such as accidental 
spillages, leakages or other unforeseen circumstances, which could subject the Company to substantial 
remediation costs or liabilities to third parties. 

Further, the ongoing cost and complexity of complying with the applicable environmental laws and regulations 
may prevent the Company from being able to develop potentially economically viable mineral deposits. 
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There can be no assurances that new environmental laws, regulations or stricter enforcement policies, once 
implemented, will not oblige the Company to incur significant expenses and undertake significant 
investments in such respect, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The Company could be liable for losses associated with environmental hazards and rehabilitation that are 
not covered under the closure plan, have its licences and permits withdrawn or suspended as a result of a 
failure to meet its environmental obligations due to circumstances outside of its control, and face negative 
reputational consequences or be forced to undertake remedial clean-up action or to pay for 
government-ordered remedial clean-up actions. Any such losses, withdrawals, suspensions, reputational 
consequences, actions or payments may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results 
of operations and financial condition and the price of the Common Shares. 

Measures to protect endangered species 
Canada has a diverse and fragile ecosystem and the federal government, regional governments and 
nongovernmental organisations (“NGOs”) are vigilant in their attempts to protect endangered species. 

The Project site provides potential habitat for several Species at Risk (“SAR”) that are known to occur in the 
region. Of these only the Myotis bats have been encountered on the site to date. Pure Gold currently holds 
a SAR permit for Myotis species bats. Surveys for SAR species are ongoing by FRi Corp Ecological Services 
and a staff biologist undertakes regular surveys and maintains a Pure Gold management system for SAR. 

As part of the management system should SAR be encountered, Pure Gold will notify MNRF, as in the past, 
and prepare required Management and Protection Plans for the identified species. 

The existence or discovery of additional SAR at the Project could have a number of adverse consequences 
to the Company’s plans and operations. For instance, the presence of an endangered species could require 
the Company to modify its design plans and construction, to take extraordinary measures to protect the 
species or to cease its activities at the Project temporarily or permanently, which would delay the Project’s 
development and production and would have an adverse economic impact on the Company, which could 
be material. The existence or discovery of an endangered species at the Project could also ignite NGO and 
local community opposition to the Project, which would be a further barrier to development and could impact 
the Company’s global reputation. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S INDUSTRY 

The Company’s financial performance is highly dependent upon the price of gold 
The Company’s financial performance is highly dependent on the market price of gold. The price of gold 
has historically been subject to wide and, at times, rapid fluctuations and is affected by numerous factors 
beyond the Company’s control, including international economic and political conditions, levels of supply 
and demand, inventory levels maintained by producers and others, actions of central banks, interest rates, 
expectations of the future rates of inflation, the cost of gold production in major gold-producing nations 
such as China, the United States, Canada, Australia and Russia, the strength of, and confidence in, USD (the 
currency in which the price of gold is generally quoted) and relative to other currencies, and participants in 
the commodities markets and, to a lesser extent, the effects of inventory carrying costs and currency 
exchange rates. 

The price of gold may decline in the future. Future prolonged declines in the market price of gold could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition and the 
price of the Common Shares. 

Depending on the market price of gold, particularly in the case of a significant and prolonged reduction in the 
price of gold, the Company may determine that it is not economically viable to continue commercial 
production/development at some or all of its operations or the development of some or all of its current 
prospects, as applicable, which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations 
and financial condition. In such circumstances, the Company may reduce or suspend some or all of its 
exploration, development and production activities and/or be required to draw down and/or restate its Reserves. 
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Exploration for gold can be costly and uncertain 
The Company’s exploration work programme is speculative and may be unproductive. These activities often 
require substantial expenditure to establish Reserves through drilling and metallurgical and other testing; 
determine appropriate recovery processes to extract gold from the ore; and construct, renovate or expand 
mining and processing facilities. Once deposits are discovered it can take several years to determine whether 
Reserves exist. During this time, the economic viability of production may change. As a result of these 
uncertainties, the exploration programmes engaged in by the Company may not result in the expansion or 
replacement of the current production with new gold operations. This could materially affect the Company’s 
business, results of operations and financial condition and the price of the Common Shares. 

The mining industry is subject to a number of laws and governmental regulations, compliance 
with which may be burdensome 
Exploration, development and operational activities in the mining industry are subject to extensive laws and 
regulations. These include, but are not limited to, laws and regulations relating to taxation, environmental 
protection, management and use of hazardous substances and explosives, management of natural 
resources, licences over resources owned by governments, exploration, development of mines, production 
and post-closure reclamation, the employment of local and expatriate labour, and occupational health and 
safety standards, including mine safety. 

Mining companies are required to seek and to comply with the terms of governmental licences, permits, 
authorisations and other approvals in connection with their exploration, construction and operating activities, 
for example in relation to their exploration licences, mining licences, environmental management, water 
supply and discharge, and use of hazardous chemicals. Obtaining the necessary governmental permits can 
be a complex and time-consuming process and may involve costly undertakings. The duration and success 
of permit applications are contingent on many factors that are outside the Company’s control. Although the 
Company currently has a number of permits relating to the Project, should it proceed to a production 
decision in respect of the Project, it is expected that the government will require a number of clarifications 
and updates to existing permits and will require the Company to obtain a number of new permits to before 
mining is allowed to re-commence. 

The costs associated with compliance with these laws, regulations and licences are substantial, and possible 
additional future laws and regulations, changes to existing laws and regulations (including, but not restricted 
to, the imposition of higher licence fees, mining royalties or taxes) or more stringent enforcement or restrictive 
interpretation of current laws and regulations by governmental authorities, or of rulings or clearances obtained 
from such governmental authorities, could cause additional expenditure (including capital expenditure) to be 
incurred or impose restrictions on, or suspensions of, the Company’s operations and cause delays in the 
development of its properties. Moreover, these laws and regulations may allow governmental authorities and 
private parties to bring lawsuits based upon damage to or destruction of properties and injury to persons 
resulting from the environmental, health and safety impacts of the Company’s past and current operations, 
and could lead to the imposition of substantial fines, penalties or other civil or criminal sanctions. 
The occurrence of any of these factors may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition and the price of the Common Shares. 

The Company’s activities are subject to operational risks, hazards and unexpected disruptions, 
including damage to property or injury to persons, some of which are beyond its control 
The Company’s planned mining and processing operations are subject to a number of operational risks and 
hazards, some of which are beyond its control. Risks commonly associated with underground workings 
include variations in rock structure and strength as it impacts on construction of the mine, and de-watering 
and water handling requirements (if required) and unexpected local ground conditions. Hazards, such as 
unusual or unexpected rock formations, rock bursts, pressures, collapses, flooding, unknown historic stope 
fill failures or other conditions may be encountered during construction. Additional risks and hazards include 
unexpected maintenance or technical problems, natural disasters, industrial accidents, power or fuel supply 
interruptions, water supply interruptions and shortages, machinery and equipment failure, malfunction and 
breakdowns of information management systems. 
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Further operations of the Company may be disrupted by a variety of risks and hazards which are beyond 
the control of the Company, including environmental hazards (as noted above), industrial accidents, technical 
failures, labour disputes, flooding and extended interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather 
conditions, fire, explosions, and other incidents beyond the control of the Company. 

Any of these risks and hazards could also result in damage to, or destruction of, production facilities, personal 
injury, environmental damage, business interruption or permanent cessation, monetary losses and possible 
legal liability, each of which may hinder the development of the Project and which could materially affect the 
Company’s business, result of operations and financial condition and the price of the Common Shares. 

Limiting the impact of such risks if they arise may require additional capital or operational expenditure, which 
may have a material adverse impact on the business and its profitability. 

The Company’s insurance and indemnities may not adequately cover all risks or expenses 
The Company maintains insurance of the type and in the amounts that the Directors consider necessary for 
the Company’s operations. However, the Company is unable to insure against all risks and may be exposed 
under certain circumstances to uninsurable hazards and risks, which may result in financial liability, property 
damage, personal injury or other hazards or liability for the acts or omissions of sub-contractors, operators 
and other third parties. Although indemnities may have been provided by sub-contractors, operators and 
other third parties, such indemnities may be difficult to enforce given the financial positions of those giving 
the indemnities or due to the jurisdiction in which the Company seeks to enforce the indemnities, leaving 
the Company exposed to claims by third parties. 

There is also no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at 
rates that the Company considers reasonable. Accordingly, the Company could incur substantial losses if 
an event which is not fully covered by insurance occurs, which would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operation, financial condition and the price of the Common Shares. 

The Company is dependent on its Directors, Senior Managers and employees with relevant 
experience 
The Company is reliant on a number of key personnel. The loss of one or more of its key personnel could 
have an adverse impact on the business of the Company. Furthermore, it may be particularly difficult for the 
Company to attract and retain suitably qualified and experienced people, given the competition from other 
industry participants and the relevant size of the Company. 

The loss of, or diminution in, the services of qualified mining specialists or of members of the Company’s 
senior management team or an inability to attract and retain additional senior management and/or mining 
personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

There is no assurance that the Company will successfully continue to retain existing specialised personnel 
and senior management or attract additional experienced and qualified senior management and/or mining 
personnel required to successfully execute and implement the Company’s business plan, which will be 
particularly important as the Company expands. Competition for such personnel is intense. The loss of such 
personnel and the failure to successfully recruit replacements in a timely manner, or at all, would have a 
material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Company is likely to be exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates 
The Company is exposed to currency and exchange rate fluctuations. Future sales of the Company are 
likely to be in USD, with the majority of capital expenditure being incurred in a combination of USD and CAD 
while the proceeds from the Credit Facility are also in USD. This exposes the Company to the fluctuations 
and volatility of the rate of exchange between these currencies as determined by the international market. 
The Company does not currently use hedging and will develop a formalised foreign currency risk 
management policy closer to development of the Project. Any extreme fluctuations in these currencies may 
have an adverse impact on the financial performance of the Company. 
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The Company may be exposed to interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows or fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates. A portion of the Company’s debt, including under the Credit Facility, is 
subject to variable interest rates indexed to 3-month LIBOR plus 5.50 per cent. to 6.75 per cent. per annum. 
LIBOR could rise significantly in the future. If interest rates increase significantly, the Company’s interest 
expense will correspondingly increase to the extent of the drawings under, or issuances of, such debt bearing 
floating rates of interest, thereby reducing its cash flow. In addition, there is potential uncertainty with respect 
to interest rate calculations in 2021 due to the phasing out of LIBOR, which could have an impact on the 
Company’s interest rate sensitive liabilities. In addition, cash and short-term investments include deposits 
which are at variable interest rates.  

The following table shows the impact of a plus or minus 10 per cent. change in the USD/CAD exchange 
rate on financial assets and liabilities denominated in USD for the nine months ended 30 September 2019: 

C$ 

Cash 4,447,096 
Credit Facility 489,385 
Production Payment Agreement 531,365 
Callable Gold Stream 3,648,970 

RISKS RELATING TO THE TAXATION OF THE COMPANY 

Change in the Company’s tax status or in taxation law could negatively affect the Company’s 
ability to provide returns to Shareholders 
Statements in this document concerning the taxation of the Company or of Shareholders are based on 
current tax law and practice which is subject to change. The taxation of an investment in the Company also 
depends on the individual circumstances of the relevant Shareholder. Any Shareholder who is in doubt as 
to its tax position should consult an appropriate advisor. 

Any change in the Company’s UK tax status or any change in UK taxation law could affect the Company’s 
ability to provide returns to Shareholders resident in the UK. Adverse changes in tax laws and any other 
reform of or changes in the interpretation of enforcement of applicable taxation legislation could have a 
detrimental effect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations and could affect 
the Company’s ability to provide returns to Shareholders. 

Statements in this document concerning the UK taxation of Shareholders are based on current UK tax law 
and practice, which are subject to change. The taxation of an investment in the Company depends on the 
individual circumstances of Shareholders. 

The Company is not incorporated in the UK. Accordingly, the Company should not be treated as being 
resident in the UK for corporation tax purposes unless its central management and control is exercised in 
the UK. The concept of central management and control is indicative of the highest level of control of a 
company, which is wholly a question of fact. The Company intends to manage its affairs so that it is not 
resident in the UK for UK tax purposes. 

A company not resident in the UK for corporation tax purposes can, nevertheless, be subject to 
UK corporation tax if it carries on a trade through a permanent establishment in the UK, but the charge to 
UK corporation tax is limited to profits (including revenue profits and capital gains) attributable directly or 
indirectly to such permanent establishment. 

The Company intends to operate in such a manner that it does not carry on a trade through a permanent 
establishment in the UK. Nevertheless, because neither case law nor UK statute completely defines the 
activities that constitute trading in the UK through a permanent establishment, HMRC might contend 
successfully that the Company is trading in the UK through a permanent establishment in the UK. 

If the Company was treated as being resident in the UK for UK corporation tax purposes, or if the Company 
was to be treated as carrying on a trade in the UK through a permanent establishment or otherwise subject 
to UK income tax, the results of the Company’s operations could be materially adversely affected. 
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RISKS RELATING TO COMMON SHARES 

Shareholders are not entitled to the takeover offer protections provided by the UK Takeover Code 
The UK Takeover Code applies to offers for, among other companies, listed public companies which are 
either (i) considered by the Takeover Panel to be resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the 
Isle of Man; or (ii) incorporated in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man and listed on 
a Member State’s regulated market, traded on a multilateral trading facility in the United Kingdom or traded 
on a stock exchange in the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man. 

While the Common Shares are listed on the regulated market of the London Stock Exchange, the Company 
is not a resident or incorporated within the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man. 
Shareholders will not therefore receive the benefit of the takeover offer protections provided by the UK 
Takeover Code. 

An active trading market may not develop in the United Kingdom or be sustained in the future 
Although the Company is admitted to the Official List and is admitted to trading on the Main Market of the 
London Stock Exchange, the Company can give no assurance that an active trading market for the Common 
Shares will develop in the United Kingdom or, if developed, can be sustained. If an active trading market is not 
developed or maintained, the liquidity and trading price of the Common Shares could be adversely affected. 

Substantial future sales of Common Shares, or the perception that such sales might occur, or 
additional offerings of Common Shares could depress the market price of Common Shares 
The Company cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of Common Shares, or the availability of 
Common Shares for future sale, or the offer of additional Common Shares in the future, will have on the 
market price of Common Shares. Sales or an additional offering of substantial numbers of Common Shares 
in the public market, or the perception or any announcement that such sales or an additional offering could 
occur, could adversely affect the market price of Common Shares and may make it more difficult for 
Shareholders to sell their Common Shares at a time and price which they deem appropriate and could also 
impede the Company’s ability to raise capital through the issue of equity securities. 

There may be volatility in the value of an investment in Common Shares and the market price 
for Common Shares may fluctuate 
The market price for the Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to 
numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the following (i) actual or 
anticipated fluctuations in the Company’s results of operations; (ii) actual or anticipated changes in the capital 
markets; (iii) recommendations by securities research analysts; (iv) changes in the economic performance 
or market valuations of other companies that investors deem comparable to the Company; (v) addition or 
departure of the Company’s executive officers and other key personnel; (vi) sales or perceived sales of 
additional Common Shares; (vii) significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, 
joint ventures or capital commitments by or involving the Company or its competitors; (viii) changes in laws, 
rules and regulations applicable to the Company and its operations; (ix) general economic, political and 
other conditions; (x) the Company’s involvement in any litigation or dispute, or threat of any litigation or 
dispute; and (xi) news reports relating to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, 
regulatory changes and other related issues in the Company’s industry or target markets. 

Financial markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations in the last several years that 
have particularly affected the market prices of equity securities of companies and that have, in many cases, 
been unrelated to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. 
Accordingly, the market price of the Common Shares may decline even if the Company’s operating results, 
underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these factors, as well as other related 
factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result 
in impairment losses. Also, certain institutional investors may base their investment decisions on 
consideration of the Company’s environmental, governance and social practices and performance against 
such institutions’ respective investment guidelines and criteria, and failure to meet such criteria may result 
in a limited or no investment in the Common Shares by those institutions, which could adversely affect the 
trading price of the Common Shares. There is no assurance that continuing fluctuations in the price and 
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volume of publicly traded equity securities will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility and market 
turmoil continue, the Company’s operations could be adversely impacted and the trading price of the 
Common Shares may be adversely affected. 

The Company does not currently intend to pay dividends and its ability to pay dividends in the 
future may be limited 
The Company has never declared or paid any dividends on the Common Shares. The Company currently 
intends to retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment, if necessary. 
Therefore, at present, there is no intention to pay dividends and a dividend may never be paid. Any decision 
to declare and pay dividends will be made at the discretion of the Board and will depend on, among other 
things, the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and solvency and distributable reserves tests 
imposed by corporate law and such other factors that the Board may consider relevant. 

In addition to the foregoing, the Company’s ability to institute and pay dividends now or in the future is or 
may be limited by covenants contained in any debt facilities or other agreements governing any indebtedness 
that the Company may incur in the future, including the terms of any credit facilities the Company may enter 
into with third party lenders. It is not uncommon that credit facilities will prevent a borrower from declaring 
or paying any dividends to any of its shareholders or returning any capital (including by way of dividend) to 
any of its Shareholders. 

As a result of the foregoing factors, purchasers of the Common Shares may not receive any return on an 
investment in the Common Shares unless they sell such Common Shares for a price greater than that which 
they paid for them. 

Certain Shareholders will be issued Depositary Interests in respect of underlying Common Shares 
The holders of Common Shares are able to hold and transfer interests in the Common Shares within CREST 
pursuant to a depositary interest arrangement established by the Company. The Common Shares are not 
themselves admitted to CREST; rather, the Depositary issues the Depositary Interests in respect of underlying 
Common Shares. Holders of Depositary Interests may experience delays in receiving any dividends paid by 
the Company, may receive proxy forms later than other Shareholders and may have to act earlier than other 
Shareholders when casting votes at general meetings of the Company, by virtue of the administrative process 
involved in connection with holding Depositary Interests. 

If the Company is wound up, distributions to Shareholders will be subordinated to the claims of 
creditors 
On a winding-up of the Company, holders of the Common Shares will be entitled to be paid a distribution 
out of the assets of the Company available to Shareholders only after the claims of all creditors of the 
Company have been met. 

The Company has a Standard Listing and, accordingly, the Company is not required to comply 
with those protections applicable to a Premium Listing 
The Company has a Standard Listing and, as a consequence, additional ongoing requirements and 
protections applicable to a Premium Listing do not apply to the Company. In particular, the provisions of 
Chapters 6 to 13 of the Listing Rules (other than Rule 7.2.1), being additional requirements for a Premium 
Listing of equity securities (Premium Listing principles, sponsors, continuing obligations, significant 
transactions, related party transactions, dealing in own securities and treasury shares and contents of 
circulars), do not apply. In addition, a Standard Listing will not permit the Company to gain UK 
FTSE indexation. 

Trading in the Common Shares may be suspended 
The Company’s shares are traded on the TSX-V and the LSE. In certain circumstances, the TSX-V and the 
LSE have the right to suspend trading in the Common Shares. If the Common Shares are suspended from 
trading, the holders of Common Shares may not be able to dispose of their Common Shares on the LSE or 
the TSX-V (as the case may be). 

21



TSX-V  
The TSX-V may halt or suspend trading of the Common Shares without notice at any time if the TSX-V 
believes it is in the public’s best interest. The TSX-V can also impose a trading halt if the Company is not in 
compliance with the terms of its listing agreement or the TSX-V’s requirements, or there are circumstances 
that exist, which in the opinion of the TSX-V, could materially affect the public interest. 

The TSX-V may impose a suspension in a variety of circumstances, including where: 

(i)      the Company’s Common Shares are halted and the reason for the halt is not adequately addressed 
by the Company; or 

(ii)     the Company has made public announcements and there is substantial market interest but the 
Company has not filed current financial statements; or 

(iii)     a Canadian securities commission issues a cease trade order relating to the Company; or 

(iv)    the Company significantly fails to meet the continued listing requirements or has failed to meet the 
continued listing requirements in the time permitted by the TSX-V; or 

(v)     the Company has breached the terms of its listing agreement or has otherwise failed to comply with 
the TSX-V requirements; or 

(vi)    the Company’s circumstances appear to warrant a delisting, but the TSX-V decides to allow the 
Company some time to reorganise its affairs in order to meet the initial or continued listing requirements, 
as appropriate. 

A trading suspension on the Common Shares would remain in effect until the circumstances giving rise to 
it have been settled to the satisfaction of the TSX-V and the Company otherwise satisfies all TSX-V 
requirements. 

LSE 
The FCA may suspend the Common Shares from trading on the LSE if it determines that the smooth 
operation of the market is or may be temporarily jeopardised or it is necessary to protect investors. 

The Company believes that as at the date of this document there are no circumstances which could provide 
grounds for the halting or suspending of the Common Shares from the LSE or the TSX-V for the foreseeable 
future. However, there can be no assurance that any such circumstances will not arise in relation to the 
Common Shares in the future. 

The Company may be excluded from trading 
In certain circumstances, the Common Shares may be delisted from the LSE and/or the TSX-V. Delisting 
could have an adverse effect on the liquidity of the Common Shares and on investors’ ability to sell the 
Common Shares at a satisfactory price. 

The Company believes that as at the date of this document there are no circumstances which could provide 
grounds for the delisting of the Common Shares from the LSE or the TSX-V for the foreseeable future. There 
can however be no assurance that any such circumstances will not arise in relation to the Common Shares 
in the future. 

TSX-V  
The TSX-V retains a general discretion to delist the Common Shares under the following circumstances, 
among others: 

(i)      the Company has failed to meet the initial or continued listing requirements of the TSX-V in the time 
permitted; or 

(ii)     the Company has sold or otherwise disposed of its principal operating assets, has ceased to be an 
operating company or has discontinued a substantial portion of its operations or business; or 

(iii)     the Company has breached its listing agreement with the TSX-V or has otherwise failed to comply or 
is unwilling to comply with the TSX-V Policies or other requirements; or 
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(iv)    the Company has failed to pay its annual sustaining fee, filing fees or any other charge due to the 
TSX-V when due; or 

(v)     if the Company’s Common Shares have been suspended, it has failed to proceed with a reactivation 
plan as required by the TSX-V. 

The Company may also request that the TSX-V delist the Common Shares from trading on the TSX-V. Unless 
the TSX-V is satisfied that a satisfactory alternative market exists for the Common Shares, the TSX-V will 
require a majority of Shareholder approval for the delisting application. Typically, a company’s shares will be 
delisted at the request of the company when the company has redeemed its shares or a successful takeover 
bid for the shares has been completed, the shares are listed on another recognised exchange and the 
shares are no longer held by a sufficient number of public shareholders. If the listed shares are not inter-listed 
on another recognised exchange, the TSX-V will confirm that Shareholders and the investing public generally, 
will not be prejudiced by the delisting. 

LSE 
The FCA may cancel the listing of the Common Shares on the LSE if satisfied that there are special 
circumstances precluding the normal and regular dealings in the Common Shares. 

The listing of the Common Shares on the LSE may also be cancelled at the request of the Company, subject 
to the Company giving at least 20 Business Days’ notice of the proposed cancellation of the listing to a 
regulatory information service. Because the Company is intending to list on the Standard Listing segment 
of the Official List, it would not be required to seek shareholder approval before seeking the cancellation of 
the listing of the Common Shares on the LSE. 

Dual listing on the TSX-V and the LSE may lead to an inefficient market in the Company’s shares 
Dual listing of the Common Shares will result in differences in liquidity, settlement and clearing systems, 
trading currencies, prices and transaction costs between the exchanges where the Common Shares will 
be quoted. These and other factors may hinder the transferability of the Common Shares between the 
two exchanges. 

The Common Shares are listed on both the TSX-V and the LSE. Consequently, the trading in and liquidity 
of the Common Shares is split between these two exchanges. The price of the Common Shares may 
fluctuate and may at any time be different on the TSX-V and the LSE. This could adversely affect the trading 
of the Common Shares on these exchanges and increase their price volatility and/or adversely affect the 
price and liquidity of the Common Shares on these exchanges. 

The Common Shares are quoted and traded in CAD on the TSX-V and in GBX on the LSE. The market 
price of the Common Shares on those exchanges may also differ due to exchange rate fluctuations. 

The rights afforded to Shareholders are governed by Canadian law and non-Canadian 
Shareholders may have difficulties exercising rights which are governed by Canadian law 
As the Company is a Canadian resident company, the rights of Shareholders will be governed by Canadian 
law and the Company’s constitutional documents. The rights of shareholders under Canadian law may differ 
from the rights of shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions. Not all rights available to 
shareholders under English law will be available to the Shareholders. 

The Company is organised and exists under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada. 
Accordingly, the rights and obligations of Shareholders are regulated by Canadian corporate law and the 
Shareholders must follow Canadian legal requirements in order to exercise their rights, in particular the 
resolutions of the Shareholders in general meetings may be passed with majorities different from the 
majorities required for the adoption of equivalent resolutions under English law or other laws. 
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PART 3 

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 

1.     General 
This document comprises a prospectus for the purpose of Article 6 of the Prospectus Regulation and is 
issued in compliance with the Listing Rules. Investors should only rely on the information in this document. 
No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representations in connection with 
Admission, other than those contained in this document and, if given or made, such information or 
representations must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Company or the 
Directors. The Company does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any 
information reported by the press or other media, nor the fairness or appropriateness of any forecasts, views 
or opinions expressed by the press or other media regarding the Company. The Company makes no 
representation as to the appropriateness, accuracy, completeness or reliability of any such information or 
publication other than this document. 

Without prejudice to any obligation of the Company to publish a supplementary prospectus pursuant to 
FSMA, the delivery of this document shall not under any circumstances, create any implication that there 
has been no change in the business or affairs of the Company since the date of this document, or that the 
information contained herein is correct as of any time subsequent to its date. 

The contents of this document or any subsequent communications from the Company, the Company or 
any of their respective affiliates, officers, advisers, Directors, Senior Managers, employees or agents, are 
not to be construed as legal, business or tax advice. Each prospective investor should consult its, his or her 
own lawyer, financial intermediary or tax adviser for legal, financial or tax advice. In making an investment 
decision, each investor must rely on its, his or her own examination, analysis and enquiry of the Company, 
including the merits and risks involved. 

This document is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be 
considered as a recommendation by any of the Company or the Directors or any of its representatives that 
any recipient of this document should subscribe for or purchase Common Shares. Prior to making any 
decision as to whether to subscribe for or purchase Common Shares, prospective investors should read 
this document. Investors should ensure that they read the whole of this document carefully and not just rely 
on key information or information summarised within it. In making an investment decision, prospective 
investors must rely upon their own examination of the Company and the terms of this document, including 
the risks involved. 

2.     Presentation of financial information 
The financial information incorporated by reference into this document includes audited annual consolidated 
financial statements for the Company as at and for the nine-month period ended 31 December 2018 and 
the financial years ended 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 and the unaudited financial 
statements for the Company as at and for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2019. 

The audited annual consolidated financial statements for the Company have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

3.     Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources 
Mineral Resources are not Mineral Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability. There is no 
certainty that all or any part of the Mineral Resources estimated will be converted into Mineral Reserves. 
The estimate of Mineral Resources may be materially affected by environmental, permitting, legal, title, 
taxation, socio-political, marketing, or other relevant issues. The CIM Standards were followed for the 
classification of Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources. 

The quantity and grade of reported Inferred Mineral Resources in this document are uncertain in nature and 
there has been insufficient exploration to define these Inferred Mineral Resources as an Indicated Mineral 
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Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in upgrading them to an Indicated Mineral 
Resource category. All figures have been rounded to reflect the relative precision of the estimates. 

In this document, Mineral Resources are reported at a cut-off grade of 4.0 g/t gold based on 
US$1,275 per troy ounce gold and gold metallurgical recoveries of 95 per cent. Mineral Reserves are 
estimated using a US$1,275/oz gold price and gold cut-off grade of 4.75 g/ t for all mining zones with the 
exception of the McVeigh Zone, which used a cut-off grade of 4.0 g/ t. Other costs and factors used for 
gold cut-off grade determination were mining, process and other costs of C$226.00/t, transport and 
treatment charges of C$6.00 oz Au, CAD : USD exchange rate of 0.78 and a gold metallurgical recovery of 
95 per cent.. 

4.     Currencies 
In this document, references to “GBP”, “GBX”, “£” or “p” are to the lawful currency of the UK, references 
“CAD” or “C$” are to the lawful currency of Canada and references to “USD” or “US$” are to the lawful 
currency of the United States of America. The basis of translation of any foreign currency transactions and 
amounts are incorporated by reference as noted in Part 11 (Historical Financial Information) of this 
document.  

5.     Rounding 
Percentages and certain amounts in this document, including financial, statistical and operating information, 
have been rounded to the nearest thousand whole number or single decimal place for ease of presentation. 
As a result, the figures shown as totals may not be the precise sum of the figures that precede them. 
In addition, certain percentages and amounts contained in this document reflect calculations based on the 
underlying information prior to rounding, and, accordingly, may not conform exactly to the percentages or 
amounts that would be derived if the relevant calculations were based upon the rounded numbers. 

 

6.     Third party information 
The Company confirms that all third party information contained in this document has been accurately 
reproduced and, so far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by 
that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or 
misleading. Where third party information has been used in this document, the source of such information 
has also been identified. 

7.     Forward-looking statements 
Certain statements contained in this document constitute “forward-looking statements”. These 
statements, including the explanatory wording in the document in relation to the Company’s working capital, 
relate to future events or the future performance of the Company but do not seek in any way to qualify the 
working capital statement given by the Company. These statements relate to future events or the future 
performance of the Company. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking 
statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as 
“seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, 
“potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe”, “expect” or similar expressions. These 
statements involve numerous assumptions, known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that 
may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed, anticipated or implied in such 
forward-looking statements. The Company believes that the expectations reflected in forward-looking 
statements contained herein are reasonable, but no assurance can be given that such expectations will 
prove to be correct or accurate and accordingly, such forward-looking statements included in, or 
incorporated by reference into, this document should not be unduly relied upon. These statements speak 
only as of the date of this document do not seek in any way to qualify the working capital statement given 
by the Company at paragraph 18 of Part 8 (Information on Pure Gold Mining) of this document. Actual 
operational and financial results or events may differ materially from the Company’s expectations contained 
in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, many of which are beyond the control of 
the Company. 

AI 23.2  
AIII 10.4
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Forward-looking statements in this document include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to the 
following: 

l      changes in the markets for and pricing of gold; 

l      currency exchange rate fluctuations; 

l      costs and productivity; 

l      unanticipated production disruptions (including as a result of safety-related stoppages, labour or 
community unrest or interruptions in the Company’s electricity and water supply) and other operational 
difficulties (including delays in commissioning and bringing into production new mining areas); 

l      changes in mining, environmental, tax and other laws and regulations and the impact of the current 
laws of Canada concerning areas such as exchange control restrictions, environmental protection and 
rezoning of land for mining purposes; 

l      the impact on the Company’s business of inflation and other macroeconomic conditions; 

l      the Company’s ability to fund further exploration and new business plans; 

l      environmental laws, regulations and rehabilitation obligations; 

l      the Company’s ability to realise and maximise its business plan, exploration and development activities; 

l      the impact of investments, acquisitions and dispositions (including related financing), any delays, 
unexpected costs or other problems experienced in connection with dispositions or with integrating 
acquisitions and achieving expected savings and synergies; and 

l      uncertainties inherent in estimating the Company’s Reserves and Resources and potential restatements 
and impairments relating thereto. 

With respect to forward-looking statements contained in this document, the Company has made 
assumptions regarding: 

l      production levels; 

l      commodity prices; 

l      transportation; 

l      foreign exchange rates; 

l      exploration, rehabilitation and development costs; 

l      future currency and interest rates; 

l      the Company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations and to access existing or future 
credit facilities and capital markets to meet its future financial obligations; 

l      availability of labour and mining equipment; 

l      general economic and financial market conditions; and 

l      government regulation in the areas of taxation, royalty rates and environmental protection. 

These factors should not be considered exhaustive. Statements relating to Reserves and Resources are by 
their nature forward-looking statements, as they involve the implied assessment, based on certain estimates 
and assumptions that the Reserves described can be profitably produced in the future. The forward-looking 
statements contained in this document are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. The Company 
does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements except as 
required by applicable securities laws. 

Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. The 
Company makes no representation, warranty or prediction that the results predicted by such forward-looking 
statements will be achieved and these forward-looking statements represent, in each case, only one of 
many possible scenarios and should not be viewed as the most likely or standard scenario. Forward-looking 
statements may, and often do, differ materially from actual results. Any forward-looking statements in this 
document speak only as at the date of this document, reflect the Company’s current view with respect to 
future events and are subject to risks relating to future events and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions 
relating to the Company’s operations, results of operations, growth strategy and the availability of new credit. 
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Investors should specifically consider the factors identified in this document that could cause actual results 
to differ. All of the forward-looking statements made in this document are qualified by these cautionary 
statements. 

Subject to the requirements of the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency 
Rules and the Listing Rules, or applicable law, the Company explicitly disclaims any intention or obligation 
or undertaking publicly to release the result of any revisions to any forward-looking statements in this 
document that may occur due to any change in the Company’s expectations or to reflect events or 
circumstances after the date of it. 

8.     No incorporation of website 
The contents of the Company’s website, any website mentioned in this document or any website directly 
or indirectly linked to these websites have not been verified and do not form part of this document and 
investors should not rely on such information. 

9.     Definitions and technical terms 
A list of defined terms used in this document is set out in Part 17 (Definitions) of this document. A list of 
defined technical terms used in this document is set out in Part 18 (Glossary of Technical Terms) of this 
document. 
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PART 4 

CONSEQUENCES OF A STANDARD LISTING 

After careful consideration, the Directors have concluded that in order to promote liquidity in the Common 
Shares through a public listing on the London Stock Exchange while allowing a sufficient degree of flexibility 
for a company of its size and type, it is appropriate for the Company’s shares to be admitted to listing on 
the standard segment of the Official List. In particular, the following are key considerations for the Company’s 
proposed Standard Listing: 

l      a Standard Listing as compared to a Premium Listing will generally facilitate more cost efficient 
administration. In this regard, the Company wishes to align its regulatory responsibilities and the 
associated cost consequences with the Company’s size; 

l      the proposed Standard Listing of the Company will mean that the Company will not be required to 
comply with the super-equivalent provisions of the Listing Rules that apply to companies with a 
Premium Listing, which will have a direct cost saving for the Company; and 

l      the Listing Rules for securities with a Standard Listing are far less demanding and stringent than those 
applicable to securities with a Premium Listing. 

A Standard Listing affords Shareholders and investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection 
than that afforded to investors in companies with a Premium Listing, which are subject to additional 
obligations under the Listing Rules. 

It should be noted that the FCA will not have the authority to (and will not) monitor the Company’s 
compliance with any of the Listing Rules or any of the DTR, nor to impose sanctions in respect 
of any failure by the Company to so comply. 

Application has been made for the Common Shares to be admitted to listing on the standard segment of 
the Official List pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, which sets out the requirements for a Standard 
Listing and does not require the Company to comply with, inter alia, the provisions of Chapters 6 to 13 of 
the Listing Rules (excluding Listing Principles 1 and 2). As a result, the Company’s securities will not be 
eligible for inclusion in the UK series of the FTSE indices. 

1.     Listing Rules which are not applicable to a Standard Listing 
The following Listing Rules are not applicable to a Standard Listing: 

l      Chapter 6 of the Listing Rules regarding, among other things, the content of the Historical Financial 
Information, provisions pertaining to, control of the business, working capital, constitutional 
arrangements of the Company and Shares in public hands; 

l      Chapter 7 of the Listing Rules other than the listing principles relating to (i) taking reasonable steps to 
establish and maintain adequate procedures, systems and controls to enable the Company to comply 
with its obligations; and (ii) dealing with the FCA in an open and co-operative manner; 

l      Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a listing sponsor to guide the Company 
in understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the Listing Rules in connection with certain 
matters. In particular, the Company is not required to appoint a sponsor in relation to the publication 
of this document or Admission; 

l      Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules relating to further issues of shares, issuing shares at a discount in excess 
of 10 per cent. of market value, notifications and contents of financial information; 

l      Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules relating to significant transactions which requires Shareholder consent 
for certain acquisitions; 

l      Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions; 

l      Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its Common Shares; and 

l      Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to Shareholders. 
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2.     Listing Rules with which the Company must comply under a Standard Listing 
There are, however, a number of principles and continuing obligations set out in Chapter 7 and Chapter 14, 
respectively, of the Listing Rules that will be applicable to the Company. These include requirements as to: 

Chapter 7 – Listing Principles 

l      the taking of reasonable steps to establish and maintain adequate procedures, systems and controls 
to enable it to comply with its obligations; and 

l      the dealing with the FCA in an open and co-operative manner. 

Chapter 14 – Continuing Obligations 

l      the forwarding of circulars and other documentation to the UKLA for publication through the document 
viewing facility and related notification to a regulatory information service; 

l      the provision of contact details of appropriate persons nominated to act as a first point of contact with 
the UKLA in relation to compliance with the Listing Rules and the DTR; 

l      the form and content of temporary and definitive documents of title; 

l      the appointment of a registrar; 

l      the making of regulatory information service notifications in relation to a range of debt and equity capital 
issues; and 

l      at least 25 per cent. of the Common Shares being held by the public in the European Economic Area 
or the jurisdiction in which the Common Shares are listed. 

In addition, as a company whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market, the Company 
will be required to comply with the DTR. 

3.     Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules 
Under Rule 5 of the DTR (Vote Holder and Issuer Notification Rules) (“DTR5”), a person must notify the 
Company and the FCA of the percentage of the Company’s voting rights he or she holds as a Shareholder 
(or holds or is deemed to hold through his or her direct or indirect holding of financial instruments) if, as a 
result of an acquisition or disposal of Common Shares or financial instruments, or as a result of any event 
changing the breakdown of voting rights of the Company (for example, a buy-back of Common Shares by 
the Company), the percentage of those voting rights in which he is interested reaches, exceeds or falls 
below 5 per cent., 10 per cent., 15 per cent., 20 per cent., 25 per cent., 30 per cent., 50 per cent. and 
75 per cent.. 

The form in which such notification must be made is provided by the FCA on its website at: 

https://www.fca.org.uk/markets/ukla/regulatory-disclosures/submit-investor-notification 

Such notification must be made no later than four trading days after the date upon which the person making 
the notification (1) learns of the acquisition or disposal or of the possibility of exercising voting rights, or on 
which, having regards to the circumstances, should have learned of it, regardless of the date on which the 
acquisition, disposal or possibility of exercising voting rights takes effect, or (2) is informed about the event 
changing the breakdown of voting rights of the Company. 

Any person who is in breach of their obligations under DTR5 is liable to a fine and/or public censure by the 
FCA and the FCA may apply to court to have such person’s voting rights suspended. 

National Instrument 55-104, “Insider Reporting Requirements and Exemptions” requires that any person or 
company that has beneficial ownership of, or control or direction over, whether direct or indirect, securities 
of a reporting issuer (such as the Company) carrying more than 10 per cent. of the voting rights attached 
to all the issuer’s outstanding voting securities, including securities (issued and unissued) that the person or 
company is the beneficial owner of, which are convertible into voting securities within 60 days following that 
date, is required to provide public notice of their holdings. Insider reports are filed electronically using the 
System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (“SEDI”) established by the Canadian Securities Administrators. 
Further information about SEDI can be found at the SEDI website (www.sedi.ca). Furthermore, a reporting 
issuer (such as the Company) is required by Form 51-102F5 of National Instrument 51-102, 
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“Continuous Disclosure Obligations”, to disclose in its information circulars whether, to the knowledge of 
its directors or executive officers, any person or company beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly 
or indirectly, voting securities carrying 10 per cent. or more of the voting rights attached to any class of 
voting securities of such reporting issuer. 
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PART 5 

EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS 

Prospectus published                                                                                                    12 December 2019 

Admission and commencement of dealings in New Common Shares  
on the London Stock Exchange                                                                      8.00 am 17 December 2019 

These dates and times are indicative only, subject to change and may be brought forward as well as moved 
back, in which case new dates and times will be announced. The times referred to above are references to 
the time in London. 
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PART 6 

ADMISSION STATISTICS AND DEALING CODES 

Number of New Common Shares                                                                                              91,255,000 

Number of Common Shares in issue on Admission                                                                 358,466,692 

Number of Options on Admission                                                                                              15,153,333 

Number of Warrants on Admission                                                                                            57,672,000 

Number of Common Shares on a fully diluted basis                                                                 431,292,025 

Percentage of issued share capital represented by Options or 
Warrants outstanding at Admission                                                                                          17 per cent. 

Expected market capitalisation of the Company on Admission                                          C$260.75 million 
                                                                                                                                           £149.96 million 

ISIN                                                                                                                                    CA74624E1007 

LEI                                                                                                                    529900OFY0IOQSQ5B077 

Tickers                                                                                                                                         LSE: PUR 
                                                                                                                                               TSX-V: PGM 
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Lenard Boggio                                               Independent Director 

Company Secretary Sean Tetzlaff 

Registered Office of the Company c/o McMillan LLP, Suite 1500 Royal Centre 
1055 West Georgia Street  
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Vancouver  
British Columbia  
V6E 4N7  
Canada 

Head Office of the Company 1900 – 1055 West Hastings Street  
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PART 8 

INFORMATION ON PURE GOLD MINING INC. 

1.     Introduction 
Pure Gold is engaged in the exploration and development of high grade gold mineral deposits in Canada. 

The Company’s current focus is on advancing and developing the Madsen Gold Project, which is 
100 per cent. owned by the Company, a high grade gold mining project located in Red Lake, Ontario, 
Canada. Over a 12-year production period, the Company plans to develop an underground mine and 
processing operation with mining from the Madsen Deposit, near the historical Madsen Mine, which 
produced 2.5Moz of gold at an average grade of 9.7 g/t Au (7.9Mt) between 1938 and 1976 and from 1997 
to 1999. 

The Madsen Gold Project comprises a contiguous group of 251 mining leases, mining patents and 
unpatented mining claims covering an aggregate area of 4,648ha (46.5km2). Infrastructure includes paved 
highway and secondary road access, a mill and tailings facility and access to power and water. The Madsen 
Gold Project is the Company’s only material property. 

The Madsen Gold Project is focussed on the exploration and development of orogenic gold deposits within 
highly deformed mafic and ultramafic volcanic and intrusive rocks of the Archean Red Lake Greenstone 
Belt, which is part of the Uchi Subprovince of the Superior Province craton. 

From 2014 to 2018, Pure Gold drilled 904 core holes (for 210.645km), re-logged 595 historical drill holes 
(for 271km), developed a new geological model for mineralisation which formed the basis for a new Madsen 
Deposit Mineral Resource estimate and discovered and published maiden Mineral Resource estimates for 
the Satellite Deposits (comprising three new deposits, Fork, Russet South, and Wedge) delineated through 
systematic exploration of the broader Madsen gold system. 

The Madsen Gold Project contains an Indicated Mineral Resource of 7.196Mt for 2.063Moz of gold and an 
Inferred Mineral Resource of 1.880Mt for 0.467Moz of gold. 

         

Figure 1.1 – Madsen Gold Project location map, including location of the Madsen Mine.
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Figure 1.2 – Generalised plan map of the Madsen Gold Project Mineral Resources. 

2.     Key strengths 

Fully funded  
The US$90 million in proceeds from the Project Financing Package fully fund the initial capital costs to 
develop a mine at Madsen based on the recommendations in the Technical Report. 

With the Project Financing Package secured, the Board approved a “decision to construct” for the Project 
on 7 August 2019. With approximately C$90 million cash on hand to the Company following completion of 
the Project Financing Package, development activities have commenced with a goal of first goal pour by 
the end of 2020. Initial plans for detailed engineering and procurement are being formalised, and a hiring 
strategy has been initiated to facilitate the short Project implementation schedule. 

Established Project 
The Madsen Gold Project, which is 100 per cent. owned by Pure Gold Mining Inc. is centred around the 
historical Madsen Mine, which produced 2.5Moz of gold at an average grade of 9.7 g/t Au (7.9Mt) between 
1938 and 1976 and from 1997 to 1999. 

The Project is located in Red Lake, Ontario, an established mining jurisdiction where more than 29Moz of 
gold has been produced to date. The Madsen Gold Project includes a 46km2 land position consisting 
primarily of Patents (claims in which the Government has passed its title to the claimant, making it private 
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land consisting of both surface rights and mineral rights) with both established Mineral Resources and 
significant exploration potential. The Madsen Deposit and the Satellite Deposits are considered to be high 
grade gold deposits. 

Existing infrastructure 
Existing infrastructure at the Project includes a 1,275m deep shaft and headframe; 27 levels of underground 
workings; a portal and ramp which is currently open and accessible for exploration and development; a mill 
and processing facility; and a tailings facility with an existing ECA which allows for operation of up to a 
1,089tpd milling and processing facility. 

Experienced team 
The Directors, Senior Managers and the Company’s technical teams have global experience in gold 
exploration and mining. They have extensive experience in Red Lake, with intimate knowledge acquired 
during years of mining and exploring in the area. 

3.     Project Geology and Mineralisation 

Geology 
The Red Lake Greenstone Belt is approximately 50km by 40km in dimension, and comprises approximately 
three billion year old deformed and metamorphosed volcanic and sedimentary rocks, intervening between 
three main granitoid batholiths. All major gold deposits in the belt are hosted within the Balmer Assemblage, 
which includes the belt’s oldest volcanic rocks that are predominantly of mafic and ultramafic composition. 

Gold deposits in the belt are classified as orogenic gold deposits and characterised by an association with 
crustal-scale fault structures. Gold deposition in orogenic gold deposits is typically syn-kinematic and syn-to 
post-peak metamorphic in timing and is largely restricted to the brittle-ductile transition zone of the Earth’s 
crust. 

         

Figure 3.1 – Simplified Geology Map of the Madsen Gold Project. 

The Project is underlain by Balmer, Confederation and Huston Assemblage supracrustal rocks (not shown 
in Figure 3.1 due to limited scale). These rocks are intruded by a series of plutonic rocks (post-tectonic 
Killala-Baird batholith to the west and syntectonic dome stock to the east) and associated smaller sills 
and dykes. 

In some ways, the Madsen Deposit seems atypical from classic orogenic gold deposits in that it is strongly 
overprinted by deformation and metamorphism rather than being syn- to post-peak metamorphic. The age 
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of D1 deformation and gold mineralisation, however, is poorly constrained and if the overprinting deformation 
is unravelled from the Madsen Deposit, they closely fit the orogenic gold deposit model including an 
association with crustal scale structures and an association with pervasive structurally-controlled carbonate 
alteration and quartz-carbonate veining. 

Most historical gold production and most of the current Reserves and Resources at the Madsen Deposit 
are within the Austin, South Austin, and McVeigh Zones which, along with the 8 Zone, comprise the Madsen 
Deposit. At the property-scale, these zones all lie within much broader, kilometre-scale planar zones that 
are considered early shear or fault zones. The distribution of gold within these planar structures is controlled 
principally by the intersection of the structures with mafic-ultramafic lithological contacts (Figure 3.2). 

A secondary plunge control is locally defined by the intersection of these structures with the overlying 
Confederation Assemblage rocks. These controls are both evident in Figure 3.2. The more dominant (-40o) 
plunge is defined by the intersection lineation of Balmer ultramafic sills (purple) and the early shear or fault 
zone. The subordinate, steeper plunge control is defined by intersection with Confederation rocks 
(pale yellow) and also locally by small-scale S-shaped folds. 

The Austin and South Austin Zones are open down plunge from the Reserves. Core review and geological 
modelling of recent drilling has confirmed high grade gold, alteration, and host rock continuity at a depth of 
825m below past mining in the Austin Zone and 240m in the South Austin Zone. 

The mineralised structures are oriented at low angles to both the Balmer Assemblage stratigraphy as well 
as to the dominant, overprinting regional foliation. The geometry of the ore zones is the result of intersection 
between the early mineralising structures and prospective stratigraphy. Primary lithological control on gold 
distribution includes proximity of approximately 100m of the contacts of an ultramafic unit in rock 
characterised by strong to intense biotite, garnet and diopside alteration. As such, the linear Austin and 
South Austin Zones occur on the same mineralising structure, with a poorly mineralised zone of ultramafic 
rock separating them (Figure 3.2). 

         

Figure 3.2 – Inclined long section through the Austin and South Austin Deposits of the Madsen Mine with 
projected geology. 

Note: The McVeigh and 8 Zones occur in the footwall off of this long section. 

8 Zone 
The geology and mineralisation style at the 8 Zone is somewhat distinct from that of other mined zones 
within the Madsen Deposit. Gold mineralisation at the 8 Zone occurs within strongly altered and veined 
peridotite of the Russet Lake Ultramafic in contrast to the other zones which are hosted within mafic host 
rocks proximal to barren ultramafic units. The 8 Zone has a planar geometry, strikes generally north-south 
and dips to the east at approximately 45° which is significantly shallower dipping than the other deposits. 
Within this mineralised plane, gold occurs in highly deformed, centimetre- to metre-scale blue-grey 
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recrystallised quartz veins (VBGQ) located within a corridor of amphibole-biotite alteration which is generally 
on the order of tens of metres wide. The more intense zones of alteration are marked by near-total 
replacement by 1cm – 10cm intervals with biotite, an abundance of blue-green amphibole, and a 
well-developed foliation defined by alignment of biotite. 

Russet South Deposit 
Gold at the Russet South Deposit is hosted within deformed blue-grey quartz veins similar to those of the 
8 Zone. The veins mostly occur within planar zones proximal to the northern contact of ultramafic volcanic 
rocks and on the hanging wall and footwall contact of an ultramafic intrusive rock. The veins are dominantly 
hosted within biotite-amphibole altered basalt. Due to their transposed nature, zones of high vein density, 
deformation, alteration and gold mineralisation can be defined over hundreds of metres of strike length, 
trending broadly sub-parallel or at low angle to stratigraphy which is itself broadly folded about south-
plunging D2 folds in the Russet Lake area. 

Fork Deposit 
The Fork Deposit is located about 300m southwest of the McVeigh Zone of the Madsen Deposit. The deposit 
is comprised of two main lenses of mineralisation of the same style as that of the Madsen and Wedge 
Deposits along strike and on the same structural trend. Gold is predominantly associated with deformed 
quartz veins hosted within an envelope of highly strained and hydrothermally altered rock controlled by D1 
shear zones that developed oblique to the host volcanic stratigraphy. Less commonly, gold is found in 
replacement-style disseminations within altered basalt along and proximal to contacts with interflow iron 
formation or ultramafic sills. Geochemically, altered rocks at the Fork Deposit are sodium-depleted as at 
Madsen and Wedge. The Fork Deposit has been drill tested over a 600m strike length and to a vertical 
extent of 375m depth. The mineralised zones are typically 1m – 5m thick. 

Wedge Deposit 
The Wedge Deposit comprises three zones with Resources defined to date (DV, CK, MJ) and two additional 
mineralised and altered prospects (86 Prospect and OL Prospect) that have not been as well explored. 
Alteration and structural style of mineralisation at the Wedge Deposit are consistent with that of the Madsen 
Deposit with the exception that discrete quartz veins are more common at Wedge in comparison to more 
dominant pervasive silicification at Madsen. 

The DV Zone is characterised by gold-bearing quartz veins hosted by basalt. Drilling results to date indicate 
a north-dipping quartz vein system that is at least 60m by 90m in strike length with 1-5m average thickness. 

Mineralisation at the CK Zone is located southwest of the DV Zone and shares the same deposit style and 
host rocks. Limited drilling indicates that the zone has a similar geometry and character to the other zones 
at Wedge. Extents of the zone as it is currently defined suggests a strike length of approximately 50m and 
thickness of 5m – 10m. Limited data suggests that the zone may extend down to approximately 400m 
vertical depth, though this has been poorly tested to date. 

The MJ Zone is located in the footwall to the CK Zone and is hosted in ultramafic rocks similar to the Madsen 
Deposit 8 Zone and the Fork Deposit footwall lens. Current drilling has delineated these shear zones over 
500m of strike length and to 320m depth with the structure remaining open along strike and down-dip. 

Prospects 
The 86 Prospect was explored historically and recent mapping of these outcrops suggests that 86 Prospect 
may represent the southern extension of the Fork Deposit as the host rocks are continuous and the style of 
mineralisation is similar. Recent drilling by Pure Gold in 2017 returned multiple intercepts exceeding 5 g/t Au 
(up to 22.9 g/t Au over 1.1m). Drill testing to date has been limited. 

The OL Prospect was subject of limited work in the 1940’s and recent work by Pure Gold has identified 
high grade gold mineralisation in quartz veins exposed in heavily vegetated outcrop. Limited drilling to date 
has not defined a mineral zone, but has intersected strong alteration and gold. 

18 additional prospects with geochemical and geological support have been identified by Pure Gold across 
the Madsen Project and are expected to be the subject of further exploration in the future (Figure 3.3). Each 
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of these prospects has geoscientific characteristics and gold mineralisation consistent with Madsen-style 
mineralisation but remain at an early stage of exploration with no Resources defined.  

 

Figure 3.3 – Historical mines, deposits and exploration targets. 

Mineralisation 
Gold mineralisation at Madsen is best identified visually by fine (sub-millimetre) grains of free gold. Generally, 
all high-grade intervals contain visible gold but there are numerous examples of high-grade assays returned 
from samples in which no visible gold was initially identified on the core surface but has been later explained 
by gold identified within the interior (cut surface) of the core samples. Sulphides (primarily pyrite and pyrrhotite 
with minor arsenopyrite and chalcopyrite) are relatively common throughout the Madsen Deposit, though 
they do not appear to have any direct correlation with gold. It is believed that present sulphide abundance 
reflects primary sulphide abundance or alteration in the host rock and does not serve as a marker for gold 
mineralisation suggesting it was not introduced by the mineralising fluids. Apart from the presence of free 
gold, pervasive silicification (locally accompanied by discrete quartz veining) and diopside veining are the 
best indicators of gold. 

Controls on mineralisation at Madsen are consistent with a typical orogenic gold system. Many deposit-
scale features such as control by lithological and structural contacts and a spatial association with felsic 
dykes are typical in these systems. Recent work and new data collected by Pure Gold has confirmed that, 
apart from its early timing of emplacement prior to the dominant regional deformation and metamorphism, 
Madsen shares many characteristics with typical orogenic gold deposits, including the Red Lake Mine. 

The main components of the Madsen Gold Project mineralisation model include: 

l      significant gold deposition occurred prior to the main, belt-scale deformation event (D2) within largely 
planar structures that have been nearly completely recrystallised by overprinting deformation and 
metamorphism; and 

l      geometrically, gold deposits were folded by small-scale, localised folds, structurally dismembered by 
transposition and gold was remobilised into secondary (metamorphic) mineral phases. Effective 
exploration drill targeting requires anticipation of these shapes and expectation of a heterogeneous 
gold system. 
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At a small-scale (10s of metres), characteristics of mineralised rock were heavily influenced by host rock. 
These controls include both rheological (quartz porphyry dykes) and chemical controls (Balmer mafic versus 
ultramafic and Balmer mafic versus felsic Confederation rock). 

4.     Madsen Gold Project Mineral Resource 
The current Mineral Resource estimate for the Madsen Gold Project comprises the Madsen Deposit. 

The Mineral Resource estimate for the Madsen Gold Project is reported in Table 4.1 at a 4.0 g/t Au cut-off 
with an effective date of 5 February 2019. 

Table 4.1 – Mineral Resource Statement for Madsen Gold Project (4.0 g/t Au Cut-off) 
                                                                                        Indicated                                             Inferred 

                                                                                          Grade                                                    Grade                      

Deposit                                                        Tonnes         (g/t Au)                 Oz          Tonnes         (g/t Au)                 Oz 

Madsen                                                   6,429,000             8.99     1,857,000        889,000             8.42        241,000 
Fork                                                            203,000             6.62          43,000        331,000             5.78          61,000 
Russet South                                             241,000             7.23          56,000        352,000             7.54          85,000 
Wedge                                                       322,000           10.28        107,000        307,000             7.99          79,000 
                                                                     –––––––––––   –––––––––––    –––––––––––   –––––––––––   –––––––––––   ––––––––––– 
Total                                                        7,196,000               8.9     2,063,000     1,880,000               7.7        467,000 
                                                                     –––––––––––   –––––––––––    –––––––––––   –––––––––––   –––––––––––   –––––––––––                                                                  –––––––––––   –––––––––––   –––––––––––   –––––––––––   –––––––––––   ––––––––––– 

Notes 

(1)       Mineral Resources are reported at a cut-off grade of 4.0 g/t Au based on US$1,275 per troy ounce gold and gold metallurgical 
recoveries of 95 per cent. 

(2)       Mineral Resources are not Mineral Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability. There is no certainty that all or 
any part of the Mineral Resources estimated will be converted into Mineral Reserves. The estimate of Mineral Resources may 
be materially affected by environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, sociopolitical, marketing, or other relevant issues. 

(3)       The CIM Standards were followed for the classification of Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resources. The quantity and grade of 
reported Inferred Mineral Resources in this estimation are uncertain in nature and there has been insufficient exploration to define 
these inferred mineral resources as an Indicated Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in upgrading 
them to an Indicated Mineral Resource category. 

(4)       All figures in Table 4.1 have been rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimates. 

(5)       Effective 5 February 2019. 

5.     Madsen Gold Project Mineral Reserve 
The Madsen Gold Project Mineral Reserve estimate is detailed in Table 5.1. The Mineral Reserve estimate 
was prepared by JDS pursuant to the Technical Report, with an effective date of 11 February 2019. All 
Mineral Reserves in Table 5.1 are Probable Mineral Reserves. 

Table 5.1 – Mineral Reserve Statement for Madsen Gold Project 
                                                                                                                                                                    Contained  

                                                                                                                      Diluted Tonnes           Grade             Gold 

Classification                                                                                                                    (Kt)         (g/t Au)             (Koz) 

Probable                                                                                                                      3,512             8.97            1,013 
                                                                                                                                          –––––––––––   –––––––––––   ––––––––––– 
Total                                                                                                                             3,512             8.97            1,013 
                                                                                                                                          –––––––––––   –––––––––––   –––––––––––                                                                                                                                  –––––––––––   –––––––––––   ––––––––––– 

Notes 

(1)       All Mineral Reserves have been estimated in accordance with the CIM Standards, as required under NI 43-101. 

(2)       Mineral Reserves were estimated using a US $1,275/oz gold price and gold cut-off grade of 4.75 g/t Au for all mining zones 
with the exception of the McVeigh Zone which used a cut-off grade of 4.0 g/t Au. Other costs and factors used for gold cut-off 
grade determination were mining, process and other costs of $226/t, transport and treatment charges of $6/ oz Au, CAD:USD 
exchange rate of 0.78 and a gold metallurgical recovery of 95 per cent. 

(3)       Tonnages are rounded to the nearest 1,000t, gold grades are rounded to two decimal places. Tonnage and grade measurements 
are in metric units; contained gold is reported as thousands of troy ounces. 

(4)       Rounding as required by reporting guidelines may result in summation differences. 

(5)       Effective 11 February 2019. 
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Table 5.2 – Mineral Reserve Statement for Madsen Gold Project by zone 
                                                                                                             Diluted                           Contained  

                                                                                                             Tonnes            Grade              Gold 

Zone                                                                       Classification                (Kt)          (g/t Au)              (Koz) 

Austin                                                                            Probable             1,847              7.85               466 
8 Zone                                                                          Probable                421            16.87               228 
South Austin                                                                 Probable                791              8.60               219 
McVeigh                                                                        Probable                386              6.70                 83 
A3                                                                                 Probable                  68               7.61                 17 
                                                                                                        –––––––––––       –––––––––––       ––––––––––– 
Total                                                                              Probable             3,512              8.97            1,013 
                                                                                                        –––––––––––       –––––––––––       –––––––––––                                                                                                         –––––––––––       –––––––––––       ––––––––––– 

Notes 

(1)       All Mineral Reserves have been estimated in accordance with the CIM Standards, as required under NI 43-101. 

(2)       Mineral Reserves were estimated using a US $1,275/oz gold price and gold cut-off grade of 4.75 g/t Au for all mining zones 
with the exception of the McVeigh Zone which used a cut-off grade of 4.0 g/t Au. Other costs and factors used for gold cut-off 
grade determination were mining, process and other costs of $226/t, transport and treatment charges of $6/ oz Au, CAD:USD 
exchange rate of 0.78 and a gold metallurgical recovery of 95 per cent. 

(3)       Tonnages are rounded to the nearest 1,000t, gold grades are rounded to two decimal places. Tonnage and grade measurements 
are in metric units; contained gold is reported as thousands of troy ounces. 

(4)       Rounding as required by reporting guidelines may result in summation differences. 

(5)       Effective 11 February 2019. 

6.     Madsen Gold Project metallurgy 
The most recent metallurgical program, completed in 2018 in support of the Technical Report, was carried 
out with the primary objective of confirming the flowsheet and design criteria using a combination of new 
testwork, historical data and the existing plant design. Drill core and underground samples from the McVeigh, 
South Austin (including the A3 Domain), Austin and 8 Zones were sent to Basemet in Kamloops, British 
Columbia for test work that included sample preparation, interval assaying, mineralogy, gravity concentration, 
cyanide leach and cyanide destruction. Process optimisation test work was also conducted to further the 
understanding and optimisation of the processing characteristics in support of the Technical Report and 
evaluate the existing equipment in the plant. 

The test program was done in four phases: 

(i)      variability scoping composites; 

(ii)     year composites; 

(iii)     tailings generation; and 

(iv)    variability composites. 

The first phase was scoping variability tests on 12 composites from the Madsen Deposit to evaluate the 
metallurgical response using the existing plant flowsheet and historical data. The second phase included 
test work on the three year composites that represented the years -1 to 1, 2 to 3 and 4 to 7 of the mine 
schedule at a target head grade of 8 g/t. The third phase was laboratory testing to determine the 
geotechnical characteristics of the tailings for both tailings management and mine backfill design. The test 
program included index testing to enable geotechnical classification of the materials followed by slurry 
settling, air drying, consolidation and permeability testing to determine the tailings characteristics. Pilot scale 
testing has shown that cyclone classification of the tailings can be used to remove most of the slime fraction. 
The final phase tested the optimised flowsheet using 30 variability composites representing the 
Madsen Deposit. 

The mineralogy indicated that the sulphur content is mainly associated with pyrrhotite and pyrite and trace 
amounts of arsenopyrite. The comminution test work included crushing work index (CWi), SAG mill 
comminution (SMC), bond ball mill work index (BWi) and abrasion index (Ai). The results indicate the material 
is soft to moderately hard with a BWi ranging from 9.5 to 17.1 kWh/t with an average of approximately 
14.5 kWh/t and an average Ai of 0.266g. A correlation between gold extraction and head grade was not 
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observed. The variability composite results averaged 96.6 per cent. gold extraction and gravity gold recovery 
of 45.7 per cent. 

Based on the results from Basemet (2018), gold doré can be produced with a primary grind size of 
80 per cent. passing 75μm followed by gravity concentration, two hour pre-oxidation, 250 g/t lead nitrate, 
a 24 hour cyanide leach at a cyanide concentration of 500ppm and a pH of 10.5, six-hour carbon-in-pulp 
(CIP) adsorption, desorption and refining process. The blended average of the samples tested, based on 
the mine plan, using this method is estimated to achieve a recovery of 96 per cent. Au. 

7.     Technical Report 
The Technical Report outlined a high-grade, underground mining operation at the Madsen Deposit with a 
production rate of 800tpd at modest initial capital cost and strong financial performance based upon a 
US$1,275/troy oz gold. 

In support of the Technical Report, Pure Gold completed development of a 50m underground exploration 
drift for delineation drilling in advance of test mining and extraction of a bulk sample. 

In May 2018, the Company initiated a bulk sample programme designed to partially test two proposed 
stopes from the McVeigh Zone through the re-opening of the McVeigh Portal. Test mining was completed 
in excellent ground conditions with approximately 242m of new lateral drive development completed near 
the base of the two proposed stopes at a depth of approximately 160m below surface, and the completion 
of 24m of vertical development in two raises. 

Reconciliation between mined material and the Mineral Resource from the two proposed stopes was strong, 
with actual tonnes equal to the predicted total at a 4.0 g/t Au cut-off, and actual grade exceeding predicted 
by 15 per cent. When compared to initial, diluted stope designs for the two stoping areas, test mining 
achieved a 20 per cent. higher grade and 11 per cent. more ounces than predicted. Overall, test mining 
returned 56 per cent. more gold than predicted from the Resource due to the mining of parallel structures 
in a third stoping area, discovered by close spaced drilling conducted from underground. 

Highlights of the 2019 Technical Report include: 

l      base case parameters assume a gold price of US$1,275/oz and an exchange rate (C$ to US$) of 0.75; 

l      Probable Mineral Reserves of 3.512Kt at 8.97 g/t Au, containing 1,013Koz gold; 

l      modest initial capital requirement of C$95 million, including a nine per cent. contingency; 

l      mine life of 12.3 years with a 13-month pre-production period from a formal production decision; 

l      peak annual production of approximately 125Koz of gold with average annual gold production in years 
three through seven of approximately 102Koz; 

l      LOM direct operating cash cost (which includes mining cost, mine-level G&A, milling and refining cost) 
estimated at US$607 per oz of payable gold; 

l      LOM AISC estimated at US$787 per oz of payable gold; 

l      pre-tax NPV at 5 per cent. and pre-tax IRR of C$353 million and 43 per cent. respectively with a 
3.0-year payback of initial capital; and 

l      after-tax NPV at 5 per cent. and after tax IRR of C$247 million and 36 per cent. respectively with a 
3.4-year payback of initial capital. 

The 2019 Technical Report supports a high-grade underground mining operation with engineered stopes 
containing 1Moz of gold in probable Mineral Reserves. The Project benefits from significant mining, milling 
and tailings infrastructure already in place, resulting in a project with modest capital intensity. Mining will be 
conducted from new ramp development utilising a combination of cut and fill and longhole methods. A new 
hoist house and double drum production hoist will use the existing shaft infrastructure to hoist ore and waste 
from the mine, commencing in year four of operations. 

The proposed Project implementation schedule is over a period of 13 months from a formal production 
decision, with underground mine development commencing approximately nine months before the first gold 
pour. The Project requires initial capital of C$95 million (including contingency) to support the construction 
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of an underground mine and associated infrastructure, including the expansion of existing milling capacity 
to 800tpd. 

The base case parameters in the 2019 Technical Report are summarised in Table 7.1. 

Table 7.1 – Base case operation highlight and Project performance 
Assumptions     
Gold price                                                                                                                               US$1,275/oz 
Exchange rate (C$ to US$)                                                                                                                   0.75 
Production profile       
Total tonnes milled                                                                                                                              3.5Mt 
Diluted head grade                                                                                                                    8.97 g/t Au 
Total gold ozs mined                                                                                                                       1.0 Moz 
Mine life                                                                                                                                      12.3 years 
Daily mill commercial throughput                                                                                                      800tpd 
Gold recovery                                                                                                                           96 per cent. 
Total gold oz recovered                                                                                                                   970Koz 
Average annual gold production                                                                                                        80Koz 
Peak annual gold production                                                                                                           125Koz 
Average annual gold production years 3 – 7                                                                                    102Koz 
Capital requirements  
Pre-production capital cost                                                                                                      C$95 million 
Sustaining capital cost (LOM)                                                                                                 C$232 million 
Operating costs         
Unit operating costs (per tonne processed) 

l      Mining costs                                                                                                                           C$169/t 
l      Processing costs                                                                                                                      C$32/t 
l      G&A                                                                                                                                         C$22/t 
l      Average cash cost years 3-7*                                                                                       US$482/oz Au 
l      LOM average cash cost*                                                                                              US$607/oz Au 
l      LOM AISC*                                                                                                                   US$787/oz Au 
Project economics     
Royalties                                                                                                                                             None 
Corporate income tax                                                                                                               25 per cent.  
Ontario mining tax                                                                                                                    10 per cent. 
Pre-tax      

NPV (5 per cent. discount rate)                                                                                               C$353 million 
IRR                                                                                                                                           43 per cent. 
Payback period (years)                                                                                                                           3.0 
Cumulative cash flows                                                                                                            C$537 million 
Post-tax    

NPV (5 per cent. discount rate)                                                                                               C$247 million 
IRR                                                                                                                                           36 per cent. 
Payback period (years)                                                                                                                           3.4 
Cumulative cash flows                                                                                                            C$383 million 

*       Cash cost includes mining cost, mine-level G&A, milling and refining cost. This is a non-GAAP performance measure. 

8.     Strategy 
The Company’s core strategy is to create long term value for its Shareholders by developing the existing 
mine at the Madsen Gold Project and transitioning to gold production. 

Advancing the Project 
The Board intends to follow the recommended development path set out in the Technical Report. Having 
obtained the Project Financing Package, and entered into the Project Agreement with Wabauskang First 
Nation and Lac Seul First Nation, the Company has commenced planned development activities at the 
Project, with a goal of first gold pour by the end of 2020. 
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The development scenario for the Project envisaged in the Technical Report assumes a mine life of 
12.3 years, requiring a total LOM capital expenditure of approximately C$327 million. 

The first 15-month phase of development identified in the Technical Report envisages an initial capital cost 
of C$95 million on engineering, construction and commissioning activities (including an C$8 million 
contingency).  

In order to operate the mill and commence production, operational enhancements and regulatory changes 
require a number of the Company’s permits to be updated, along with the mine closure plan and Closure 
Bond. These are summarised in the paragraph ‘Permitting and licence requirements’ of this Part 8 

(Information on Pure Gold Mining Inc.).  

Mine reopening 
For reopening of the mine, as set out in the Technical Report, the Company intends to establish an upgraded 
tailings management facility, a mine rock management facility, overburden and soil stockpiles, and an 
improved road haulage network, as well as a refurbishment of the existing processing plant. Cyanide 
detoxification (destruction) and a water treatment facility will be added. 

The Project focuses on developing five different zones in the Madsen Project: (i) Austin; (ii) South Austin; 
(iii) A3; (iv) McVeigh; and (v) 8 Zone. The recent metallurgical test programme completed, summarised in 
paragraph 7 of this Part 8 (Information on Pure Gold Mining Inc.), has demonstrated that gravity 
concentration followed by pre-oxidation, cyanide leach, carbon adsorption/desorption and electrowinning 
can yield an average overall gold extraction of 96.6 per cent. Results from this test program were used to 
develop the corresponding process design criteria, mechanical equipment list, flowsheets and operating 
costs. 

The process plant will include: 

l      one stage of crushing; 

l      two stages of grinding with hydro-cyclone size classification; 

l      gravity concentration and intensive leach; 

l      cyanide leaching and carbon adsorption using CIP; 

l      cyanide destruction, dewatering for hydraulic fill and storage of slurry tailings; 

l      carbon acid wash, elution and regeneration; and 

l      electrowinning and refining. 

The primary crushing plant will have a throughput of 800tpd with an average LOM head grade of 8.97 g/t Au. 
The circuit will operate at an availability of 50 per cent., resulting in an hourly throughput of 66.7tph. The 
milling, gravity, leach and CIP circuits will operate 24 hours per day, 365 days per year at an availability of 
95 per cent., resulting in an hourly throughput of 35.1tph. The carbon plant is expected to transfer one 
tonne of loaded carbon daily to the elution circuit to recover the gold to doré bars. 

The primary crushing circuit will reduce the material down to a product size of 80 per cent. passing (P80) 
103mm and two stage of grinding will target a final P80 grind size of 75μm. Two batch gravity concentrators 
will be installed in the ball mill circuit to recover any gravity recoverable gold. Ground slurry will then be 
leached with cyanide and the gold-cyanide complexes will be adsorbed onto the pores of activated carbon 
in a CIP circuit. The loaded carbon will then be washed with hydrochloric acid and stripped under pressure 
using a hot one per cent. sodium hydroxide solution. The resulting pregnant gold solution will be subjected 
to electrowinning and the recovered gold sludge will be refined in an induction furnace to produce gold doré 
bars. Leached slurry from the CIP circuit will be treated with the SO2/Air cyanide destruction process, and 
the final tailings will be processed for hydraulic fill or pumped to the tailings facility. 

In order to manage the water that is utilised as a result of mine operation, Pure Gold will implement several 
management measures to safe guard water quality downstream of the TMF, including: recirculation and 
reuse of tailings system water; cyanide destruction technology; a water treatment plant to clean water to 
be released from the TMF; pump back, if required, of any seepage from the TMF, facilitating the Red Lake 
Municipality to eliminate Madsen community sewage inputs to the TMF; and progressive closure of the 
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tailings pond to reduce water flows and the remobilisation of arsenic and to dry out the upper portions of 
the TMF that could contribute to seepage. 

9.     Permitting and licence requirements  
The Company has started development of the Project but, in order to operate the mill and commence 
production, operational enhancements and regulatory changes require the Company’s existing ECAs for 
Industrial Sewage Works and Air and Noise to be updated.  

The Company has completed and submitted baseline studies in support of the ECA amendment for 
Industrial Sewage Works and anticipates a full submission of the permit application in Q4 2019 with a new 
permit expected to be issued in Q4 2019 or Q1 2020. Baseline studies have been completed and a new 
permit application for the ECA, Air and Noise was submitted in 2018 and is expected to be received in Q4 
2019. The existing mine closure plan is also required to be amended in advance of production. A new notice 
of project status and project definition has been filed in support of the mine closure plan application. 
Regulatory meetings to screen the application have been scheduled and the closure plan amendment will 
be submitted in Q4 2019 followed by screening and public consultation. 

The existing mine closure plan is also required to be amended in advance of production. A new notice of 
project status and project definition has been filed in support of the mine closure plan application. Regulatory 
meetings to screen the application have been scheduled and the closure plan amendment will be submitted 
in Q4 2019 followed by screening and public consultation. The Company will also be required to update 
the Project’s Closure Bond before it reopens the Madsen Mine. The revised Closure Bond has been 
estimated by JDS to be C$16 million. 

Further, new regulatory requirements that have come into force since the Madsen Mine last operated may 
require the Company to obtain a number of new, ancillary permits before mining is allowed to re-commence, 
namely: (i) ECA for approval to construct and operate a domestic sewage treatment system; 
(ii) construction/relocation work permit for transmission line and/or water works; (iii) plans and specifications 
approval for dam and berm work, including those associated with tailings facilities; (iv) forestry clearing 
licence; (v) aggregate extraction permit for dam construction; (vi) leave to construct a transmission line; 
(vii) notice of construction before any activities take place; and (viii) approval for construction and operational 
activities under SARA. It has not yet been confirmed if these permits will be required and no application has 
yet been made for them; however application will be made for them as required. 

10.   Royalties and surface rights 
There are no royalties payable on claims hosting known Mineral Resources or Mineral Reserves at the Project 
with the exception of a two per cent. NSR on Resources from the Russet South Deposit that is capped at 
C$2 million in total. Certain claims acquired as part of the acquisition of the Derlak Gold Property and the 
Newman-Madsen Property are subject to royalties ranging from 0.5 per cent. to three per cent., a portion 
of which the Company has the option to repurchase. 

Other than the royalties described in Table 10.1, the Madsen Gold Project is not subject to any other royalties, 
back-in rights, payments or other agreements or encumbrances. None of the royalties described apply to 
tenure covering the current Mineral Resource statement. 
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Table 10.1 – Summary of royalty agreements affecting Madsen tenure 
Number of  

Claim No. Claims Royalty Holder Royalty 

44  

44  

38  

20  

8  

8  

11  

Surface rights 
Table 10.2 summarises the Company’s surface rights over the Madsen Gold Project. Where Pure Gold does 
not hold surface rights, they are predominantly held by the Canadian Crown, as administered by the Province 
of Ontario. Timber rights are reserved to the Crown and water rights are held for the public use. A First 
Nations-owned timber company has obtained a timber harvest licence covering the northwestern portion 
of the property and has been granted access by Pure Gold. A single trapping tenure is held over the entire 
Madsen Gold Project, and the Company maintains good relations with the tenure holder. A local outfitter 
has a bear management area licence over the Project which requires consent of the landowner for access. 
Several registered easements for highway and utility lines cross the Project area. Surface rights required for 
development of the Project, as contemplated in the Technical Report, are owned by the Company. 

18728, 18729, 19367, 19368, 19687, 19688, 
19720, 20169–20171, 20585–20588, 
20585A–20588A, 21273, 21274,  
21275–21278, 21280, 21281, 21316–21318, 
21316A, 21378, 12726–12728, 12820–12824, 
19181, 19182, 19235–19237, 19328

Canhorn Mining 
Corporation

1% NSR to a 
maximum of C$1m

13060–13062, 13069, 13241–13244, 13255, 
13554, 13659, 13660, 13068, 13082–13084, 
13254, 13475–13477, 407, 408, 456–461, 
1444–1452, 1476

Sandstorm Gold Ltd 0.5% NSR

13060–13062, 13069, 13241–13244, 13255, 
13554, 13659, 13660, 13068, 13082–13084, 
13254, 13475–13477

Franco-Nevada 
Corporation

1.5% on first 
1M oz-equiv; 2% on 

production beyond first 
1M oz-equiv

407, 408, 456, 457, 458–461 My-Ritt Red Lake 
Gold Mines Ltd

3% NSR

K 1445–1452 Camp McMann Red 
Lake Gold Mine Ltd.

3% NSR

12746–12756 Fechi Inc. 3% NSR, 1% 
purchasable for 

C$1M 

18728, 18729, 19367, 19368, 19687, 19688, 
19720, 20169–20171, 20585–20588, 
20585A–20588A, 21273, 21274,  
21275–21278, 21280, 21281, 21316–21318, 
21316A, 21378, 12726–12728, 12820–12824, 
19181, 19182, 19235–19237, 19328

Franco-Nevada 
Corporation

1% NSR to a 
maximum of C$1m
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Table 10.2 – Summary of surface rights affecting Madsen tenure 
Number of  

Claim No. Claims Royalty 

229  

10  

4229, 4231, 4902 3  

13062, 38093 2  

47990, 47991, 47992, 47993, 47994, 47995, 47996 7  

36016, 36017, 36018, 36019, 38091, 38092, 38094 7  

11.   Non core assets (Van Horne Project) 
On 12 March 2018, the Company signed an option agreement with KG Exploration, a subsidiary of Kinross, 
whereby KG Exploration has the option to acquire up to a 70 per cent. interest in the Company’s Van Horne 
Project. To earn its 70 per cent. interest, KG Exploration must spend a total of C$4 million on the Van Horne 
Project over a four-year period, with a committed minimum of C$750,000 in year one and pay to Pure Gold 
C$100,000. Pure Gold has agreed to operate in year one. A Phase 1, 1,100m drill program has been 
developed with a budget of approximately C$550,000 which will be completed in fiscal 2019. 

Minimal expenditure is expected at any of the Company’s other mineral property interests. 

The Company has not incurred any significant costs exploring other properties in its portfolio during the 
nine-month period ended 31 December 2018 and the financial years ended 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 
and 31 March 2016, as the Company’s focus is on the Madsen Gold Project. 

12.   Competition 
The Directors believe that the primary competitors of the Company are companies currently producing gold 
that have the ability to expand operations, and other companies developing greenfield gold projects. 

In 2018, global gold demand was approximately 4,345t. As such, the commencement of production from 
the Madsen Gold Project is not expected to have a material impact on the broader gold market.

Licence of 
occupation, surface 

and mining rights

Lease, mining 
rights only

Patent, mining 
rights only

1445–1452, 407–408, 456–461, 11502–11509, 12521–12529, 
12601–12605, 12638–12648, 12658–12669, 12673–12684, 
12704–12706, 12726–12728, 12730, 12746–12756, 12758–12760, 
12764–12766, 12820–12824, 12836–12838, 12858–12866, 
12875–12883, 12921–12922, 12953–12955, 12963–12965, 13024, 
13060–13061, 13068–13069, 13082–13084, 13241–13244, 
13254–13255, 13475–13477, 13554, 13659, 13660, 16672–16673, 
18728–18729, 18778, 19181–19182, 19223–19226, 19235–19238, 
19247–19254, 19278–19281, 19306–19313, 19367–19368, 
19428–19430, 19684–19688, 19719–19720, 19788, 20169–20171, 
20585–20588, 21273–21278, 21280–21281, 21316–21318, 21378, 
11509A, 12527A, 12642A–12644A, 12881A–12882A, 
20585A–20587A, 21316A, 2890

Patent, surface and 
mining rights

50992, 50993, 51018, 51019, 51020, 51021, 51287, 51288, 51289, 
51290

Lease, surface and 
mining rights

Crown retained 
surface rights
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13.   Employees 
For the period of the historical financial information, the Company has employed, on average, the following 
numbers of people: 

31 December 31 March 31 March 31 March 

Category of Activity 2018  2018  2017  2016 

Office and management                                                            4                    4                    4                    2 
Technical and operational                                                          6                    5                    6                    1 

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Total                                                                                        10                    9                  10                    3 

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Oxygen Capital Employees*                                                      8                    8                    7                    8 

*       The Company has entered into the Oxygen Capital Services Agreement with Oxygen Capital, a private entity owned by Mark 
O’Dea, Sean Tetzlaff and Donald McInnes, to provide services to the Company including staffing, office rental and other 
administrative functions on a cost recovery basis. The Company benefits from expanded access to technical and administrative 
personnel as a result of the Oxygen Capital Services Agreement. Several key personnel of the Company are employed by Oxygen 
Capital and provide services through the arrangement, including key technical staff. The Oxygen Capital Service Agreement is 
further described at paragraph 17.1 of Part 16 (Additional Information) of this document. 

As at the Last Practicable Date, the number of employees of the Company in (i) office and management; 
and (ii) technical and operational roles was 4 and 12 respectively. 

14.   Option Plan 
On 28 June 2019, the Company adopted the Option Plan, replacing its prior employee incentive scheme. 

The purpose of the Option Plan is to give to Eligible Persons, as additional compensation, the opportunity 
to participate in the success of the Company by granting to such individuals Options, exercisable over 
periods of up to 10 years as determined by the Board, to buy Common Shares. The exercise price for each 
Option cannot be less than the closing price per Common Share on the last day on which the Common 
Shares were traded, prior to the day on which the Company announces the grant of the Option, less any 
applicable discount permitted by the TSX Policies and approved by the Board. 

The Company has outstanding 15,153,333 Options pursuant to the Option Plan. 

15.   Tax 
Further details relating to taxation are set out in Part 15 (Taxation) of this document. 

16.   Offering and Non-Brokered Private Placement 

Offering  
On 21 June 2019, the Company announced the Offering. The Company entered into an underwriting 
agreement with Sprott, as lead underwriter, to raise gross proceeds of C$32.5 million (before expenses) by 
way of issuing 59,100,000 Offering Units, at a price of C$0.55 per Offering Unit. 

Each Offering Unit comprised one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant 
that was transferable and would entitle the holder to acquire one Common Share for three years from 
completion of the Offering at a price of C$0.85. Sprott and the syndicate of underwriters were further granted 
an option exercisable, in whole or in party, at any time up to three days prior to the closing of the Offering, 
to purchase such number of Offering Units as equal to 15 per cent. of the Offering Units issued. 

Non-Brokered Private Placement 
On 15 July 2019, the Company announced the Non-Brokered Private Placement, pursuant to which the 
Company would issue a further 23,700,000 Offering Units to raise gross proceeds of $13.0 million, on a 
non-brokered basis. 11,850,000 of the Offering Units were subscribed for by AngloGold, with the remaining 
11,850,000 Offering Units subscribed for by Sprott Lending LP, of which a subscription fee of 6 per cent. 
was paid by the Company.  
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Completion 
On 18 July 2019, the Company announced the closing of the Offering and the Non-Brokered Private 
Placement, pursuant to which the Company issued a total of (i) 62,714,000 Offering Units at a price of 
C$0.55 per Offer Unit, raising gross proceeds (before expenses) of $34.5 million, pursuant to the Offering; 
(ii) 23,700,000 Offering Units at a price of C$0.55 per Offer Unit, raising gross proceeds (before expenses) 
of C$13.0 million, pursuant to the Non-Brokered Private Placement.  

The 62,714,000 Offering Shares and 23,700,000 Non-Brokered Private Placement Shares were admitted 
to trading on the TSX-V on 18 July 2019.  

17.   Project Financing Package 
On 6 August 2019, the Company secured the Project Financing Package, entering into the Credit Facility 
and Gold Stream with Sprott Lending.  

Credit Facility 
The principal terms of the Credit Facility are: 

l      term of seven years; 

l      US$65 million in principal structured in multiple tranches: 

          l      US$10 million will be advanced at closing; and 

          l      subsequent tranches available to the Company on satisfaction of customary conditions; 

l      interest rate of 3-month LIBOR plus 5.50 per cent. to 6.75 per cent. per annum;  

l      100 per cent. of interest costs capitalised to principal until March 2021; 

l      principal payments are sculpted to cash flow and payable in quarterly installments from 
September 2022; 

          l      65 per cent. of the total amount advanced will be repaid prior to the maturity date; 

l      2.0 per cent. arrangement fee payable pro-rata on drawdown of each tranche; 

l      fixed US$10 per ounce production-linked payment on the first 500,000 ounces produced; 

          l      payments are to be financially settled on a monthly basis and can be terminated at any time by 
payment of an early termination fee; 

l      on the completion of construction, where the Project has successfully completed an agreed completion 
test, a fee of 2.25 per cent. of the principal outstanding will be payable in cash or shares at Sprott 
Lending’s option;  

l      penalty-free repayment of outstanding principal and interest after August 2022; and 

l      no hedging, cash sweeps, cash collateralization, or offtake agreement. 

Gold Stream 
The principal terms of the Gold Stream are: 

l      US$25 million as prepayment for 5.0 per cent. of the gold production until 50,000 ounces of gold has 
been delivered; 

          l      Gold Stream reduces to 2.5 per cent. of gold production thereafter; and 

          l      fully advanced on closing; 

l      ongoing payments of 30 per cent. of the spot gold price;  

l      full buyback option, where Pure Gold may elect to terminate the entire Gold Stream: 

          l      on 30 June 2021 by paying US$35 million; and 

          l      on 30 June 2022 by paying US$38 million. 
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Decision to mine 
The US$90 million in proceeds from the Project Financing Package fully fund the initial capital costs to 
develop a mine at Madsen based on the recommendations in the Technical Report. 

Combined with the Offering and Non-Brokered Private Placement, the Project Financing Package provides 
flexibility to continue exploration and advance the Project. The Gold Stream provides immediate cash to the 
Company allowing development activities to commence while the Company finalises its permit amendments, 
and can be repurchased once the Project is in production and generating cash flow. 

With the Project Financing Package secured, the Board approved a “decision to construct” for the Project 
on 7 August 2019. With approximately C$90 million on hand to the Company following completion of the 
Project Financing Package, the Project is fully funded and construction will commence with first production 
targeted for late 2020. Initial plans for detailed engineering and procurement are being formalised, and a 
hiring strategy has been initiated to facilitate the short Project implementation schedule. 

18.   Working capital 
In the opinion of the Company, the working capital available to the Company is sufficient for its present 
requirements, that is, for at least the next 12 months from the date of this document. 

19.   Environmental and social 
Pure Gold inherited a mining site with a history of almost a century of exploration, mining and minerals 
processing as well as an unfunded closure program submitted by the previous operator. The closure plan 
was subsequently updated and additional required funding was submitted by Pure Gold. Pure Gold has 
also undertaken, at its own expense, a site cleanup that has seen significant amounts of waste removed 
from the site, off-site tire and metal recycling, derelict building removal, printed circuit board storage site 
decommissioning and rehabilitation, road upgrading and re-vegetation of critical areas. Tailings from historical 
operations are present at the Madsen Gold Project. Reopening of the mine will require an update of the 
closure plan and additional funding of that plan. The clean-up actions and reopening of the mine will facilitate 
eventual mine closure by allowing Pure Gold to fund further progressive reclamation of the Project. 

Consultation 
Pure Gold has committed to engagement and consultation with First Nation communities, provincial and 
federal government, the public, and all interested stakeholders throughout all stages of Project planning, 
regulatory review, and construction. The intent is to provide all interested parties with opportunities to learn 
about the Project, identify issues, and provide input with the goal of positively enhancing Project planning 
and development. 

Pure Gold recognises the importance of full and open discussion of the issues and options associated with 
the development of the Project and the related concerns those individuals or communities may have in 
relation to Pure Gold activities. In light of this, Pure Gold will maintain open and honest communications 
with First Nations, local communities and individual stakeholders throughout all stages of the Project. Pure 
Gold intends to ensure that its operational practices, both now and into the future, reflect the values, 
expectations, and needs of the community in which it is operating, based upon continued mutual respect. 
Pure Gold has captured these commitments in a consultation plan. 

First Nations considerations 
The Project is located within the boundaries of Treaty 3 (1873 and adhesions) signed by the Crown with 
First Nations. Treaty 3 has particular significance because it was the first of nine similar treaties and also 
because of the historical litigation that ensued regarding the respective roles of Canada and the provinces 
in relation to the rights of indigenous people. 

ENDM will undertake and fulfil the Crown’s duty to consult the First Nations. Currently, the primary role of 
Pure Gold with First Nations is to ensure that appropriate information sharing occurs. Pure Gold maintains 
contact and dialogue with the Treaty 3 First Nations of Wabauskang First Nation, Lac Seul First Nation, 
Wabaseemoong First Nation, Grassy Narrows First Nation and Naotkamegwanning First Nation. Project 
information is also shared with the Métis Nation of Ontario. The intent is to provide all interested parties with 
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opportunities to learn about the Project, identify issues, and provide input with the goal of positively 
enhancing Project planning and development. 

ENDM has advised Pure Gold that Wabauskang First Nation and Lac Seul First Nation represent the 
comprehensive list of First Nation communities to be engaged and consulted at this stage of the Project’s 
development. In accordance with its obligations, the Company has provided advance copies of permitting 
submissions and data files to the Wabauskang First Nation and Lac Seul First Nation to assist in their review 
of potential land use conflicts with known cultural, archaeological and sacred sites. 

As part of its engagement and consultation, Pure Gold and Wabauskang First Nation and Lac Seul First 
Nation entered into the Project Agreement for the development of the Project on 28 July 2019 with an 
effective date of 30 June 2019.  

Under the terms of the Project Agreement, Pure Gold acknowledges and respects the rights, history and 
interests that both the Wabauskang First Nation and the Lac Seul First Nation have in the region surrounding 
Madsen. In turn both First Nations acknowledge and support Pure Gold’s rights and interests in the 
development and future operation of Madsen. The Project Agreement provides for communication, 
cooperation, and collaboration between the First Nations and Pure Gold, and establishes a framework for 
support for current and future operations of the Madsen Red Lake Mine and defines the long-term benefits 
for the First Nations. 

The principal terms of the Project Agreement are: 

l      confirms the First Nations collaboration with Pure Gold in support of the operational permitting process 
for the Project and all subsequent regulatory authorisations; 

l      establishes a foundation for employment opportunities, direct contracting opportunities, and Pure 
Gold’s commitment and support for education and training initiatives; 

l      confirms Pure Gold’s commitment to sustainable development, to protecting the environment, and 
direct support for environmental monitoring;  

l      provides for the issuance of the Project Agreement Shares, being the 500,000 Common Shares to 
each First Nation; and 

l      establishes future financial contributions by Pure Gold commensurate with production. 

20.   Insurance 
During the construction phase of the Madsen Gold Project, Company’s operations will be subject to 
numerous development, construction and operating risks normally associated with mining exploration, 
development, construction and production activities. The Directors believe that the Company’s existing 
insurance coverage is reasonable to cover all general material risks associated with the Company’s current 
operations (and that of the operators of assets in which it has an interest); however additional insurance will 
be put in place as development activities increase. 

21.   Dividend policy 
The Company has yet to develop its dividend policy and the funding requirements and expected time for 
the construction and commissioning of the Madsen Gold Project may restrict the Company in relation to 
when it will be in a position to pay dividends. Any decision to declare and pay dividends will be made at the 
discretion of the Board and will depend on, among other things, the Company’s results of operations, 
financial condition and solvency and distributable reserves tests imposed by law and such other factors 
that the Board may consider relevant.
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PART 9 

DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

1.     Directors 

The following table lists the names, positions and ages of the Directors and the date they were appointed: 

Name Age Position Appointed 

Darin Labrenz 54 President, CEO & Director 15 February 2011 
Graeme Currie 60 Chairman & Independent Director 4 March 2014 
Mark O’Dea 51 Independent Director 4 March 2014 
Robert Pease 62 Independent Director 25 June 2014 
Troy Fierro 56 Independent Director 12 May 2014 
Lenard Boggio 65 Independent Director 4 March 2014 

Darin Labrenz P.Geo (President, CEO & Director) 
Mr Labrenz is a registered professional geologist with over 25 years of experience in the mineral exploration 
industry. Most recently, Mr Labrenz was Vice President Business Development for Terrane Metals Corp., a 
BC based development company that was acquired by Thompson Creek Metals in 2010. Prior to Terrane, 
Mr Labrenz was employed by the Placer Dome group, where he was responsible for the design and 
supervision of exploration programs, management of geological activities at both underground and open 
pit mining operations, as well as technical support and geological management of several feasibility studies 
and economic evaluations. Mr Labrenz has significant experience in the Red Lake Camp, including former 
Chief Geologist at the Campbell Mine. 

Graeme Currie (Chairman & Independent Director) 
Mr Currie most recently served as Director, Investment Banking at Canaccord Genuity Limited where he 
concentrated specifically on the junior mining sector. He retired from Canaccord in August 2012. Prior to 
his role in Investment Banking he was with Canaccord as a Senior Mining Analyst who focused, for over 
22 years, on the junior mining sector. Mr Currie has over three decades of industry experience directed 
specifically on junior exploration and development companies worldwide, and has extensive knowledge of 
the capital markets as it relates to the mineral exploration and mining industry. 

Mark O’Dea Ph.D., P.Geo (Independent Director) 
Dr O’Dea is a mining industry entrepreneur. A seasoned geologist and deal maker, Dr O’Dea has built and 
financed international mining companies from Canada to Africa, taking them from exploration and discovery 
to development and operations. His companies are built on a common foundation: high-quality, long-life 
projects with lasting economic opportunities, community benefits and environmental protection. Most 
recently, Dr O’Dea co-founded and served as executive chairman of True Gold Mining. After building the 
Karma Heap Leach Gold Mine in Burkina Faso, West Africa, True Gold was sold to Endeavour Mining in 
2016. As co-founder and CEO of Fronteer Gold, Dr O’Dea grew the company from start-up to its 2011 sale 
to Newmont Mining Corp., a deal that included the spin-out of Liberty Gold. 

He also co-founded and served as Chairman of True North Nickel and CEO of Aurora Energy, sold to RNC 
Minerals and Paladin Energy in 2014 and 2011, respectively. Founder of Oxygen Capital Corp., Dr O’Dea 
is currently chairman of Liberty Gold, director of Pure Gold Mining, Discovery Metals, and Sun Metals. His 
many honours include EY’s Entrepreneur of the YearTM for 2014 in the Pacific mining and metals category, 
the Globe and Mail’s Top 40 Under 40, and the Association for Mineral Exploration British Columbia’s Murray 
Pezim Award for perseverance and success in financing mineral exploration. 

Robert Pease (Independent Director) 
Mr Pease has been involved with mineral exploration and mine development projects worldwide for the past 
30 years. In 2006, Mr Pease formed Terrane Metals Corp. with the intent to develop the Mt Milligan Gold-
Copper project northwest of Prince George. Terrane advanced the project through exploration, development, 
and mine permitting. Construction commenced in the spring 2010, and ultimately Terrane Metals was 
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acquired by Thompson Creek Mining in late 2010 for C$700 million. He is also a former Director and 
Strategic Advisor to Richfield Ventures Corp., a junior gold mining company who discovered Blackwater 
gold project in British Columbia. Richfield was acquired in 2011 by New Gold Inc. for C$500 million. Prior 
to becoming President and CEO of Terrane, Mr Pease was employed by the Placer Dome group for the 
majority of his professional career. 

Troy Fierro (Independent Director) 
Mr Fierro is a successful mining engineer with over 30 years of industry experience. He has previously held 
executive positions with Fronteer Gold Inc., Metallica Resources Inc., and Coeur d’Alene Mines, where he 
has overseen the development, construction or management of mines in Nevada, Mexico, Argentina, Chile, 
and Alaska. At Fronteer, Mr Fierro acted as COO, and at Metallica, he was Vice President Operations where 
he played the lead role in the construction of the Cerro San Pedro Mine in Mexico. Mr Fierro was also a 
director of Grayd Resources as well as Timberline Resources. Mr Fierro graduated with a Bachelor of 
Science – Mine Engineering from South Dakota School of Mines where he served on the Advisory Board. 

Lenard Boggio (Independent Director) 
Mr Boggio was a Partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (and previously Coopers & Lybrand LLP) from 
1988 until his retirement from PwC in May 2012. During that time, he was Leader of the B.C. Mining Group 
of PwC, a senior member of PwC’s Global Mining Industry Practice and an audit practitioner for publicly 
listed Canadian, U.S. and U.K. mineral resource and energy clients. The scope of his clients’ activities 
included exploration, development and production stage operations in the Americas, Africa, Europe and 
Asia. Mr Boggio holds a B.A. and B.Comm. from the University of Windsor, Ontario, is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia, and a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors. 

2.     Senior Managers 
The Company’s current Senior Managers, in addition to the Directors listed above, are as follows: 

Name Age Position Appointed 

Sean Tetzlaff 50 Chief Financial Officer & 12 May 2014;  
Company Secretary 7 June 2016 

Phil Smerchanski 44 Vice President, Exploration 17 May 2016 
Ken Donner 61 Vice President, Operations 23 September 2016 
Christopher Lee 51 Chief Geoscientist 17 May 2016 

Sean Tetzlaff (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) 
Mr Tetzlaff is an experienced financial professional with over 20 years of experience in the mining industry. 
Recently he served as Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of Blue Gold Mining, which merged 
with Riverstone Resources in 2012 to become True Gold Mining. He also served as CFO, VP Finance and 
Corporate Secretary of Fronteer Gold from 2005 to 2011. During this time, he had oversight of financial, 
legal, and contractual matters for all of Fronteer Gold operations and international subsidiaries. He was 
responsible for the successful execution of numerous equity investments, asset divestitures, and merger 
and acquisitions transactions including the sale of Fronteer to Newmont for C$2.3 billion in 2011. Mr Tetzlaff 
also served as CFO of Aurora Energy Resources from 2006 to 2008, helping the company grow from initial 
public offering through to the advancement of one of the world’s largest undeveloped uranium deposits. 
Mr Tetzlaff has a tax background, having worked with KPMG LLP from 2000 to 2004. 

Phil Smerchanski (Vice President, Exploration) 
Mr Smerchanski is a registered professional geologist and has more than fifteen years of exploration 
experience with Falconbridge, Inco, and Anglo American, and as a senior consultant to mid-tier and major 
mining companies. Mr Smerchanski has developed base and precious metals expertise through field 
experience on ore systems across North America, and the Southern Hemisphere. In Red Lake, he has 
recently consulted to Goldcorp as a technical advisor on their high grade generative exploration team, 
including targeting at the new HG Young discovery. He is committed to resource discovery and evaluation 
through the integration of multidisciplinary geoscience datasets and experts. 
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Ken Donner (Vice President, Operations) 
Mr Donner is a registered professional engineer with over 30 years of experience in the development, 
construction and operation of mines. He has worked across Canada, in far eastern Russia, Greenland, 
New Zealand and the United States. Much of Mr Donner’s career has focused on high grade deposits 
leading to an extensive knowledge in the management and operation of such underground mines. Most 
recently, he was Construction Manager with AMEC on Newmont’s Leeville 3 Vent Shaft project, which was 
delivered on time and under budget. Previous experience includes Homestake’s Snip mine, Bema’s Julietta 
mine, De Beers’ Snap Lake mine and Oceana Gold’s Frasers mine. Mr Donner holds a Masters Certificate 
in Project Management from University of Victoria, an MBA specialising in Technology/Engineering 
Management from Bellevue City University and a Geological Engineering degree from University of Windsor. 

Christopher Lee (Chief Geoscientist) 
Mr Lee is a registered professional geologist with over 25 years of experience in mineral exploration and 
resource evaluation. He specialises in structural analysis of ore deposits for application to grade control, 
resource estimation and generation of predictive exploration models. Mr Lee spent seven years with SRK 
providing specialist structural geology guidance for projects located globally, across a variety of commodities 
and at all stages from exploration through to development and production. He has significant experience in 
the Red Lake district, including the Goldcorp Challenge where he placed as a semi-finalist. Most recently, 
Mr Lee was Chief Geoscientist at True Gold Mining and Fronteer Gold where he was the Qualified Person 
responsible for resource modelling, estimation and growth of over 14Moz of gold in mining assets located 
in Burkina Faso, Turkey and Nevada. 

3.     Corporate governance 

Board of Directors 
The Board currently comprises six Directors, five of which are non-executive Directors and considered by 
the Board to be independent. The Company considers each of Graeme Currie, Mark O’Dea, Robert Pease, 
Troy Fierro and Lenard Boggio to be independent. 

Any Director appointed to the Board by the Directors will be subject to election by the Shareholders at the 
first AGM after his/her appointment. Under the Articles, all Directors retire from office immediately before 
the next AGM, following that Director’s last election or appointment. Any Director who retires in accordance 
with the Articles is eligible for re-election. 

The composition of the Board will be reviewed regularly to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix 
of expertise and experience. The Articles provides that the number of Directors that may be appointed 
cannot be fewer than three or greater than a number of Directors as set by the shareholders at the AGM. A 
majority of Directors present and entitled to vote at a board meeting will constitute a quorum. 

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company, and has developed policies to 
ensure that an appropriate level of corporate governance is in place. The Company’s corporate governance 
system is reviewed regularly by the Board to ensure that it fulfils the needs of Shareholders. 

The Common Shares are currently quoted on the TSX-V and the Company is therefore required to comply 
with the TSX Policies. The Company’s approach in applying the TSX Policies is to ensure that the Company’s 
corporate governance policies and principles are established, implemented, and monitored in such a way 
so as not to compromise or distract the Board and management from their key goals and to enable the 
organisation to conduct its business in an efficient and effective manner. 

In order to comply with the TSX Policies and generally accepted corporate governance objectives, the 
Company has put in place the following policies, some of which are summarised below and all of which 
may be found on the Company’s website: 

l      Audit Committee charter; 

l      Corporate Governance Committee charter; 

l      Compensation Committee charter; 

l      Healthy, Safety & Environment Committee charter; 
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l      Whistle blowing policy; 

l      Code of business conduct and ethics; 

l      Timely disclosure, confidentiality and insider trading policy; and 

l      Anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy. 

Committees 
The Company’s Board committees are constituted as follows: 

Committee Chair              Appointed 

Corporate Governance Committee Lenard Boggio           Mark O’Dea  
Robert Pease 

Audit Committee Lenard Boggio       Graeme Currie  
Troy Fierro 

Compensation Committee Graeme Currie           Mark O’Dea  
Troy Fierro 

Health, Safety & Environment Committee Robert Pease        Darin Labrenz  
Troy Fierro 

The deliberations of the various committees do not reduce the individual and collective responsibilities of 
the Directors with regard to their fiduciary duties and responsibilities, and they must continue to exercise 
due care and judgement in accordance with their statutory obligations. 

Corporate Governance Committee 
The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for advising the Board of the appropriate corporate 
governance procedures that should be followed by the Company and the Board and monitoring whether 
they comply with such procedures. 

The Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of a majority of independent Directors. 

It must meet not less than semi-annually, however, during the nine-month period ended 31 December 2018, 
the Board dealt directly with matters that would otherwise have been reviewed by the Corporate Governance 
Committee. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is principally responsible for (i) recommending to the Board the external auditor to be 
nominated for election by the Shareholders at each AGM and negotiating the compensation of such external 
auditor; (ii) overseeing the work of the external auditor; (iii) reviewing the Company’s annual and interim 
financial statements, management discussion and analysis and press releases regarding earnings before 
they are reviewed and approved by the Board and publicly disseminated by the Company; and (iv) reviewing 
the Company’s financial reporting procedures and internal controls to ensure adequate procedures are in 
place for the Company’s public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from its financial 
statements. 

The Audit Committee is comprised of a majority of independent Directors. 

The Audit Committee must meet at least quarterly with the appropriate members of management and at 
least annually with the auditors. The purpose of these meetings shall be to review and if necessary have 
input into external audit plans, update the external audit plans and review and approve the annual financial 
report. Furthermore, the Audit Committee shall meet in private sessions as and when required to assess 
management’s effectiveness. 

Compensation Committee 
The Compensation Committee is responsible for the review of all compensation (including stock options) 
paid by the Company to the Directors, Senior Managers and employees of the Company, to report to the 
Board on the results of those reviews and to make recommendations to the Board for adjustments to 
such compensation. 
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The policy used by the Compensation Committee in determining compensation is that the compensation 
should (i) reflect the Company’s current state of development; (ii) reflect the Company’s performance; 
(iii) reflect individual performance; (iv) in respect of the executives, align their interests with those of the 
shareholders; and (v) assist the Company in retaining key individuals. The main elements of the executive 
compensation consists of base remuneration and Options which rewards executives for delivering value to 
Shareholders through measurable increases in the value of the Common Shares or asset base. 

The Compensation Committee is comprised of a majority of independent Directors. 

The members of the Compensation Committee have a range of skills and experience which the Company 
believes provides the expertise necessary to make decisions on the Company’s executive compensation 
policies and practices. In addition, the Compensation Committee has retained input from independent 
outside consultants as necessary. It must meet not less than two times a year. 

Health, Safety & Compensation Committee 
The Health, Safety & Compensation Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities relating to monitoring sustainable development practices, and the development and 
implementation of any environmental, health and safety policies of the Company. 

The Health, Safety & Environment Committee is made up of a majority of independent Directors and Darin 
Labrenz. It must meet not less than once a year. 

Remuneration review 
The Company periodically commissions a review by an independent executive compensation adviser of its 
executive team’s remuneration. The review benchmarks the Company’s remuneration practices against a 
group of peer companies of similar size and with similar operations to the Company. The most recent review 
was completed in December 2018. 

Timely disclosure, confidentiality and insider trading policy 
In order to comply with MAR, the DTR and the TSX Policies, the Company has adopted a timely disclosure, 
confidentiality and insider trading policy in relation to the Common Shares and other securities in the 
Company. 

The policy is to ensure that the Company provides Shareholders and the market with timely, direct and 
equal access to information issued by the Company and promotes investor confidence in the integrity of 
the Company and its securities. 

The policy applies to PDMRs and their associates and employees of the Company. Under the timely 
disclosure, confidentiality and insider trading policy, PDMRs and their associates and employees are 
prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities if they have in their possession information that they 
know, or ought reasonably to know, is inside information. 

The timely disclosure, confidentiality and insider trading policy also provides prescribed closed periods during 
which PDMRs and their associates and employees are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities. 
PDMRs and their associates and employees must obtain written clearance from an approving officer at least 
two Business Days prior to any dealings in the Company’s securities. 

Anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy 
The Company has developed and adopted its anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy to be consistent with 
the UK Bribery Act 2010. The policy specifically addresses facilitation payments or gifts and hospitality, 
dealings with public officials, political donations, lobbying and advocacy and charitable donations, and 
includes provisions dealing with notification, as well as provisions regarding disciplinary action in the event 
that any part of the anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy has been breached. New and existing staff are 
required under the policy to be trained and the Company’s approach to anti-bribery and anti-corruption 
must be communicated to its business partners.

57



PART 10 

CANADA LEGAL AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

Canada is a federal state with one federal, 10 provincial and three territorial governments. The 10 Canadian 
provincial governments have authority to make laws concerning natural resources. Mining activities are 
generally governed by the laws of the province or territory in which a mine is physically located, although 
federal, regional and municipal laws may also be relevant, particularly with respect to matters such as 
environmental regulation. In addition, the federal government has overlapping jurisdiction in a number 
of areas. 

The following provides an overview of some of the various aspects of the mining regime in the Province of 
Ontario where the Company’s principal project, the Madsen Gold Project, is located. The Mining Act (Ontario) 
(“Mining Act”) lays out the statutory guidelines for mining in Ontario. 

1.     Mining exploration 
In Ontario, mineral rights can be acquired through the free-entry system. The free-entry system allows mineral 
rights to be obtained by registering claims on a person’s own initiative and later acquiring Crown leases if 
so desired. On 10 April 2018, Ontario converted Ontario’s manual system of ground and paper staking and 
maintaining unpatented mining claims to an online system. All active, unpatented claims were converted 
from their legally defined location by claim posts on the ground or by township survey to a cell-based 
provincial grid. As of 10 April 2018, a holder of a prospecting licence can now register a mining claim by 
accessing online the Ontario Mining Lands Administration System and registering a cell claim electronically 
by identifying the cells on the provincial grid that are to be included in the claim. A mining claim grants its 
owner the exclusive right to explore for minerals on a designated piece of land. After a claim has been 
registered, the claim holder is required to perform assessment work on the lands (exploration work) in 
accordance with the regulations or may, in certain circumstances make payments in place of the assessment 
work. Subsequently, exploration work may be carried out on the mining claim which will generally require 
certain work permits. 

In Ontario, no person can carry out an activity on a mining claim, mining lease or license of occupation for 
mining purposes unless the person has submitted an exploration plan in accordance with the Mining Act 
(“Exploration Plan”). If the Exploration Plan includes an activity that constitutes early exploration, including 
prospecting and mineral exploration, as set out in the regulations to the Mining Act, the person cannot carry 
out that activity unless they have obtained an exploration permit. The person will have to apply to the Director 
of Exploration for a mining permit, which if received, sets out certain terms and conditions in respect of the 
work to be conducted on the mining claim. 

In order to undertake certain prescribed exploration activities, an Exploration Plan must be submitted, and 
any surface rights owners must be notified. Aboriginal communities potentially affected by the Exploration 
Plan activities will be notified by the ENDM and have an opportunity to provide feedback before the proposed 
activities can be carried out. 

All land affected by exploration activity must be rehabilitated after the activity has finished. Certain exploration 
activities (advanced exploration) require a closure plan to be filed with ENDM. The closure plan outlines how 
the affected land will be rehabilitated and the costs associated with doing so. A closure plan must be 
developed and acknowledged by the ministry before advanced exploration can begin 

A mining claim can be converted into a lease. A lease grants its owner title and ownership to the land, 
permits the extracting and sale of extracted resources and removes the requirement to perform yearly 
assessment work. To maintain a lease, rent must be paid annually. A lease expires every 21 years unless it 
is renewed. The operation of a mine also requires the filing of a closure plan with ENDM. 

In order to ensure that the rehabilitation work outlined in a closure plan is successfully performed, a financial 
guarantee equal to the estimated cost of the rehabilitation work must be held by ENDM. This financial 
guarantee is known as financial assurance. Financial assurance must be included with the submission of a 
closure plan. 
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2.     Environmental law and regulations 
The mining sector in Canada is subject to a complex array of environmental laws and regulations across 
three levels of government: (i) federal; (ii) provincial/territorial; (iii) and municipal. The development or 
expansion of a mining project generally triggers requirements for federal and Ontario environmental impact 
assessments prior to commencing exploration and beginning operations. 

2.1   Federal regulation 
        In February 2018, the federal government introduced Bill C-68 and C-69 outlining its proposed changes 

to the environmental assessment process and fish habitat protection. 

        If passed, Bill C-69 will overhaul the federal environmental assessment regime, repealing the Canadian 
Environmental Assessment Act, 2012 (“CEAA”) and replacing it with the Impact Assessment Act. The 
Impact Assessment Act is intended to provide for a process for assessing the environmental, health, 
social and economic effects of designated projects with a view to preventing certain adverse effects 
and fostering sustainability. If passed, Bill C-68 will amend the Fisheries Act to include a new category 
of designated project unless the proponent has a permit issued under the Fisheries Act. Bill C-68 
would also amend the Fisheries Act to prohibit any work, undertaking or activity that results in death 
of fish, or the harmful alteration, disruption or destruction of fish habitat. 

        The following provides a summary of the current CEAA and Fisheries Act: 

        Federal Environmental Impact Assessment 

        The federal CEAA is intended to identify and mitigate against significant adverse environmental effects 
prior to project approvals and provide for meaningful opportunities for public participation. Under the 
CEAA, the review process is carried out by the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, the National 
Energy Board and the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency (“CEA Agency”). Projects subject 
to environmental assessment are those which propose physical activities that are designated in 
Regulations Designating Physical Activities and include activities that are “incidental” to the 
designated activities. 

        Designated projects under the authority of the CEA Agency are required to undergo an initial screening 
to determine if they may cause significant environmental effects. “Environmental Effects” is defined 
to include changes that may be caused to components of the environment with federal jurisdiction, 
such as aquatic species, migratory birds, interprovincial or international effects, change on federal 
lands and those that may impact indigenous peoples. 

        Once the initial screening is completed and a designated project is determined by the CEA Agency to 
have a potential to cause significant environmental effects, it will be subject to a comprehensive 
environmental assessment. The Minister of Environment and Climate Change Canada is granted the 
power to divert a project from a standard assessment to a review panel 

        Fisheries Act 

        Under the federal Fisheries Act, it is an offence for anyone to carry on a work, undertaking or activity 
that results in serious harm to fish that are part of a commercial, recreational or Aboriginal fishery, or 
to fish that support such a fishery. Serious harm to fish includes harm to fish and permanent alteration 
or destruction of fish habitat. Because of the manner in which commercial, recreational or Aboriginal 
fishery is defined this prohibition applies to most coastal and internal waters in Canada. 

2.2   Provincial regulation 

        Ontario Environmental Assessment Process 

        Mining projects in Ontario are subject to provincial environmental protection legislation. In Ontario, 
mining projects are not automatically required to submit an Environmental Assessment (“EA”) under 
the Environmental Assessment Act (Ontario) (“EA Act”). Although mines are not subject to the provincial 
EA requirements, some projects may complete one either due to a designating regulation or through 
voluntary agreement. Generally, mines will require an ECA issued under the Water Resources Act 
(Ontario) and the Environmental Protection Act (Ontario). This is an approval required by the Ministry 
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of the Environment and Conservation and Parks for all activities that release contaminants into the 
environment or if a mine stores, transports or disposes of waste. The ECA will cover impacts to air, 
noise/vibration, odour, waste disposal sites or waste management systems and sewage. There is also 
a requirement for a “Permit to Take Water” when a project intends to take more than 50,000 litres of 
water a day from lakes, streams, rivers, ponds and groundwater. Permits may also be required under 
the Endangered Species Act (Ontario), which classifies and assesses species and provides legal 
protection and habitat protection to species classified as threatened or endangered. Under the Mining 
Act, a project requires the filing of an approved closure plan (“Closure Plan”) prior to beginning any 
mine development or operation activities. The Closure Plan requires consultation, with indigenous 
people as part of the approval process. The Closure Plan is supported by financial assurance, which 
is equivalent to the estimated cost of the rehabilitation work. Approvals may also be required from the 
Ministry of Natural Resources under the Lakes and Rivers Improvement Act (Ontario) for the 
construction or modification of dams; water crossings, river channels, enclosures and buried pipelines. 

3.     Indigenous rights 
Indigenous rights (legally known as aboriginal and treaty rights) are constitutionally protected in Canada. As 
a result, the provincial and federal governments have specific legal obligations to Indigenous peoples that 
may supersede the requirements of other legislation. These obligations are frequently triggered in connection 
with regulatory approval processes for resource development projects, including mining. In making decisions 
related to mining activities, the applicable government will generally have a “duty to consult” potentially 
impacted indigenous groups. Consultation obligations are often delegated in part to project proponents as 
part of the regulatory process. In many cases, project proponents will also enter into commercial agreements 
with local Indigenous groups to facilitate the consultation process and support the construction of a project. 

Most of Ontario is covered by historic treaty agreements between the Crown and indigenous groups that 
largely govern these relationships. The Madsen Gold Project is located in an area that is subject to a treaty 
agreement known as Treaty 3. Indigenous rights may also exist outside of the treaty context in Ontario, 
most notably with respect to the Métis Nation of Ontario. 
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PART 11 

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

The following documents, which have been previously published and filed with the FCA and which are 
available for inspection on the Company’s website at http://puregoldmining.ca/investors/financial-reports 
contain information which is relevant to this document: the audited financial reports of the Company for the 
nine-month period ended 31 December 2018 and the financial years ended 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 
and 31 March 2016, together with the independent auditor’s report thereon and the unaudited financial 
statements for the Company as at and for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2019. 

The table below sets out the sections of the above documents, which contain information incorporated by 
reference into, and forming part of this document. Only information in the parts of the above documents 
identified in the list below is incorporated into and forms part of this document. Information in other parts of 
the above documents is either covered elsewhere in this document or is not relevant to an investor’s 
assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Company. 

Document Pages 

30 September 2019 
1 – 28 

 

31 December 2018 
1 – 31 

 

 

31 March 2018 
1 – 30 

 

 

31 March 2017 
1 – 30 

 

 

31 March 2016 
1 – 33  

 

 

To the extent that any information incorporated by reference itself incorporates any information by reference, 
either expressly or impliedly, such information will not form part of this document for the purposes of the 
Prospectus Regulation Rules, except where such information is stated within this document as specifically 
being incorporated by reference or where this document is specifically defined as including such information. 

Any statement which is deemed to be incorporated by reference into this document shall be deemed to be 
modified or superseded for the purpose of this document to the extent that a statement contained in this 
document (or in a later document which is incorporated by reference into this document) modifies or 
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Unaudited interim financial statements of the Company for the nine months ended 
30 September 2019 including income statement, balance sheet, the statement of recognised 
income and expense, the reconciliation of equity, the cash flow statement and the analysis of 
movement in net debt.

Consolidated audited financial statements of the Company including consolidated income 
statement, consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of recognised income 
and expense, the reconciliation of equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, the analysis 
of movement in net debt and the notes to the financial statements and the independent 
auditors report thereon by PwC.

Consolidated audited financial statements of the Company including consolidated income 
statement, consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of recognised income 
and expense, the reconciliation of equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, the analysis 
of movement in net debt and the notes to the financial statements and the independent 
auditors report thereon by PwC.

Consolidated audited financial statements of the Company including consolidated income 
statement, consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of recognised income 
and expense, the reconciliation of equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, the analysis 
of movement in net debt and the notes to the financial statements and the independent 
auditors report thereon by PwC. 

Consolidated audited financial statements of the Company including consolidated income 
statement, consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of recognised income 
and expense, the reconciliation of equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, the analysis 
of movement in net debt and the notes to the financial statements and the independent 
auditors report thereon by PwC.

 

61



supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so 
modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of 
this document. 

Except as set forth above, no other portion of these documents is incorporated by reference into this 
document and those portions which are not specifically incorporated by reference in this document are 
either not relevant for prospective investors or the relevant information is included elsewhere in 
this document. 

PwC of 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7 has issued an 
unqualified audit opinion in respect of the nine-month period ended 31 December 2018, and the financial 
years ended 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016. 
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PART 12 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

 The following discussion and analysis is intended to assist in the understanding and assessment of the 
trends and significant changes in the Company’s results of operations and financial condition during Historical 
Financial Information Period. Historical results may not be indicative of future financial performance. Forward-
looking statements contained in this review that reflect the current view of management involves risks and 
uncertainties and are subject to a variety of factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those contemplated by such statements. Factors that may cause such a difference include, but are not 
limited to, those discussed in paragraph 7 of Part 3 (Presentation of Financial and Other Information) and 
Part 2 (Risk Factors) of this document. In this document the financial statements presented are those of the 
Company. This discussion is based on the financial statements of the Company and should be read in 
conjunction with its financial statements and the accompanying notes as referred to in Part 11 (Historical 

Financial Information) of this document, and with the information relating to the business of the Company 
included elsewhere in this document. Unless otherwise indicated, all of the financial data and discussions 
thereof are based upon financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. Investors should read the 
whole of this document and not rely just on summarised information. 

1.     Overview 
The principal activity of the Company during the Historical Financial Information Period was advancing the 
Madsen Gold Project, including completion of the Technical Report. The Madsen Gold Project is the 
Company’s only material property. The Company’s principal assets are the Madsen Gold Project and related 
equipment and historical infrastructure and C$7.4 million cash. 

In the Historical Financial Period the Company did not record any revenue (aside from interest income from 
cash held) because it was primarily in the exploration and study phase of operations. 

2.     Summary of key financial risks 
The Company’s historical and expected activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including availability 
of capital, market, commodity, credit, liquidity, foreign exchange and interest rate risks. Further information 
can be found in Part 2 (Risk Factors) of this document. These risks are managed by the Board and the 
Company’s committees. 

3.     Significant factors affecting results of operations 
The Directors consider that the following factors are those, which are most likely to influence the financial 
position of the Company and results of operations: 

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies 
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty 
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. The Company has identified the following 
critical accounting policies under which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions are made and 
where actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may 
materially affect financial results or the financial position reported in future periods. 

Exploration and evaluation assets 
The Company’s policy is to expense, as incurred, exploration and evaluation expenditures until the mineral 
property reaches the development stage. Costs related to property acquisitions are capitalised until the 
viability of the mineral interest is determined. When it has been established that a mineral deposit is 
commercially viable and technically feasible, the costs subsequently incurred to develop a mine on the 
property prior to the start of mining operations are capitalised and will be amortised against production 
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when ready for use as intended by management, or derecognised if the property is sold, allowed to lapse 
or abandoned. 

Upon disposal or abandonment, any consideration received is credited against the carrying amount of the 
exploration and evaluation assets, with any excess consideration greater than the carrying amount included 
as a gain in profit or loss. The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
expenditure requires judgement to determine whether future economic benefits are likely, from either future 
exploitation or sale, or where the activities have not reached a state which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence of Resources and Reserves. The vast majority of the Company’s exploration and evaluation 
expenditure as at 31 December 2018 was incurred on the exploration of the Madsen Gold Project, including 
the mining of a bulk sample and completing the Technical Report. Should the Directors determine that the 
Madsen Project is technically feasible upon study of the results of the Technical Report and a decision is 
made to proceed with the development and construction at Madsen, development costs going forward will 
be capitalised. 

Impairment of non-current assets 
At each reporting date, property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets are evaluated 
for impairment by management whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value is impaired and may not be recoverable. For property, plant and equipment, if any such impairment 
indicators exist, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment, 
if any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Fair value 
less costs of disposal is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an 
arm’s length transaction. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value. If the recoverable amount of the asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss 
for that period. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

For exploration and evaluation assets, the Company follows the guidance in IFRS 6 – Exploration for and 
Evaluation of Mineral Resources to determine whether exploration and evaluation assets are impaired. This 
determination requires significant judgment. Impairment indicators relevant for exploration and evaluation 
properties include whether the rights to explore the area of interest have expired during the period or will 
expire in the near future, and the rights are not expected to be renewed, substantive expenditure of further 
exploration and evaluation is not planned or budgeted, the activities have not led to a discovery of 
commercial Reserves and the Company has decided not to continue such activities in the area of interest 
or deteriorating local conditions such that it may become unsafe to continue operations. If an impairment 
indicator is identified, management will perform an impairment test. If the recoverable amount of the 
exploration and evaluation assets is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss will be recorded in 
the consolidated financial statements. 

Past impairments are also considered at each reporting period and where there is an indication that an 
impairment loss may have decreased, the recoverable amount is calculated as outlined above to determine 
the extent of the recovery. If the recoverable amount of the asset is more than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is reversed in 
profit or loss for that period. The increased carrying amount due to reversal will not be more than what the 
depreciated historical cost would have been if the impairment had not been recognised. Additionally, the 
review of impairment indicators takes into account factors such as political, social and legal and 
environmental regulations. These factors may change due to changing economic conditions or the accuracy 
of certain assumptions and, hence, affect the recoverable amount. The Company uses its best efforts to 
fully understand all of the aforementioned to make an informed decision based upon historical and current 
facts surrounding its projects. 

Share-based payments 
The Company grants Options to Directors, Senior Managers, officers, employees and consultants. Share-
based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortised over 
the vesting periods. Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of the goods 
or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the 
goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are 
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received. The offset to the recorded cost is to equity reserve. Options and other equity instruments issued 
as purchase consideration in non-monetary transactions are recorded at fair value determined by 
management using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The use of the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model requires management to make assumptions that are used in the calculation at the time of the option 
award. There is a risk that circumstances giving rise to these assumptions may change over time and no 
longer be valid or accurate. Consideration received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share 
capital and the related equity reserve amount is transferred to share capital. Where awards are forfeited 
because non-market based vesting conditions are not satisfied, the expense previously recognised is 
proportionately reversed in the period the forfeiture occurs. 

Recovery of deferred tax assets 
The Company uses the statement of financial position method of accounting for income taxes. Under this 
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted 
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected 
to be recovered or settled. Deferred income tax assets also result from unused loss carry forwards, resource 
related pools and other deductions. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits 
and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is not probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Flow-Through Shares 
The Company will from time to time, issue Flow-Through Shares to finance a significant portion of its 
Canadian exploration program. Flow-Through Share programs of the Canadian federal government and 
some provincial governments, including Ontario, where the Madsen Gold Project is located, provide 
incentives to investors by transferring the tax deductibility of qualifying resource expenditures, incurred by 
the Company, to investors and may offer investment tax credits to investors as well. Such Flow-Through 
Shares will form part of the issued share capital admitted to the standard segment of the Official List and to 
trading on the Main Market for listed securities in the same manner as other Common Shares. 

On issuance, the Company bifurcates the Flow-Through Share into: (i) a Flow-Through Share premium, 
equal to the estimated premium, if any, investors pay for the flow-through feature, which is recognised as a 
liability, and (ii) share capital. Upon filing of the required forms with the Government of Canada to renounce 
the tax deductibility of qualifying resource expenditures to investors, the Company derecognises the liability 
to the extent the qualifying resource expenditures have been made as of that date and recognises a deferred 
tax recovery for the amount of the tax reduction renounced to the shareholders that relates to the qualifying 
expenditures made. 

Proceeds received from the issuance of Flow-Through Shares are restricted to be used only for Canadian 
resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period. The portion of the proceeds received 
but not yet expended at the end of the Company’s period is disclosed separately as flow-through 
expenditure commitments. The Company is also subject to Part XII.6 tax on Flow-Through Share proceeds 
renounced but not incurred, in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada). When 
applicable, this tax is accrued as an expense until paid. 

Periodically, the taxation authorities may audit the Company’s determination of the eligibility of its resource 
expenditures for Flow-Through Shares. Investors of Flow-Through Shares are usually indemnified by the 
Company so that if taxation authorities disagree with the Company’s interpretation of eligible resource 
expenditures, any resulting tax liability to a Flow-Through Share investor is paid by the Company. 

Rehabilitation and decommissioning 
When the Company acquired the Madsen Gold Project, Pure Gold inherited a mining legacy site with a 
history of almost a century of exploration and mining, and a closure program that was designed by previous 
operators for the historic operation. In 2014 this closure plan was updated. As a consequence, the Company 
provided additional funding to the Closure Bond, which the Company considers currently adequate for 
closure of the current mine in temporary suspension. 
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The Company will, however, be required to update the Project’s Closure Bond before it reopens the Madsen 
Mine. The revised Closure Bond has been estimated by JDS to be C$16 million (which includes the current 
provision of C$2.4 million). 

Commodity prices 
Following the development of the Madsen Gold Project, the Company will seek to generate its income from 
gold sales. As a result, future income and the viability of the development of the Madsen Gold Project is 
directly related to market prices. Declining commodity prices can impact operations by requiring a 
reassessment of the feasibility of the Madsen Gold Project. Even if Madsen is determined to be economically 
viable, the need to conduct a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may interrupt operations until 
the reassessment can be completed. 

The Company may choose in the future to enter into a hedging program to reduce the risk of a decline in 
commodity prices, however, such programs will have a cost and may negatively affect performance in the 
event the commodity prices were to increase. 

Production volumes 
Failure of the Company to meet planned future production schedules could materially affect the Company’s 
ability to meet its ongoing financial obligations. Mining operations are complex and Reserve and Resource 
calculations are estimates. There can be no guarantee that the production levels predicted in the Technical 
Report will be achieved in all material respects. 

Operating costs 
The Company prepares budgets and estimates of operating costs for its operations and its main costs 
relate to material costs, workforce and contractor costs, and energy costs. The development of mineral 
projects can be subject to substantial expenditures and the fluctuation of costs over time, and development 
projects may be prone to material cost overruns. The Company’s actual costs may vary from estimates for 
a variety of reasons, including: short-term operating factors; revisions to development plans; risks and 
hazards associated with mining; natural phenomena, such as inclement weather conditions, water availability 
and unexpected labour issues, labour shortages, strikes or community blockades. The Company’s ability 
to develop the Madsen Gold Project and its long-term profitability will, to a significant extent, be dependent 
on its ability to maintain cost effective operations. 

Capital costs 
The determination of capital costs in the Technical Report for the Madsen Gold Project is a complicated 
process. The mining industry has numerous examples where actual costs of developing a project exceed 
those estimated in a feasibility study. Actual costs may vary from estimates for a variety of reasons including 
contractor availability, escalating costs of materials and labour cost increases, availability of parts and 
machinery or operators, delays in the delivery of large lead time items and the ability to obtain or renew 
permits and licences and unforeseen natural events and political factors and other factors. Failure to enter 
into agreements with contractors or suppliers in a timely manner, and shortage of capital may also delay 
the completion of construction or commencement of production or require the expenditure of additional 
funds. 

It is important that the Company’s development programme is developed on time and that costs are well 
managed and controlled. 

Depreciation of assets 
The value of a mine, plant and infrastructure will be amortised over its useful production life. Depreciation 
will increase once an expansion programme is delivered and the associated costs are incurred. Variables 
such as over- or under-expenditure on development and expansion costs, revisions to ore Reserves (should 
the Company declare a Reserve in the future), revaluation of replacements costs and estimates or useful life 
will influence the depreciation charge in the income statement. 
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Exchange rates 
At present, the Company’s expenses are primarily incurred in CAD; however, future sales of production will 
be received in USD. Fluctuations in the value of USD in relation to the CAD may affect the overall future 
financial performance of the Company or may impact the Company’s ability to meet its capital cost estimates 
as some capital items for the development of Madsen, may be sourced in United States funds. 

Liquidity and financing 
Disruptions in the capital and credit markets s a result of uncertainty, geopolitical events, changing or 
increased regulation of financial institutions, reduced alternatives or failures of significant financial institutions 
could adversely affect the Company’s access to the liquidity needed for its business in the longer term. 
Failure to obtain such additional funding could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of the 
exploration and development of Madsen. 

Outside of the Working Capital Period, the Company may incur substantial debt from time to time to finance 
working capital, capital expenditures, investments or acquisitions or for other purposes. If the Company 
does so, the risks related to the Company’s indebtedness could intensify, including: (i) increased difficulty in 
satisfying existing debt obligations; (ii) limitations on the ability to obtain additional financing, or imposed 
requirements to make non-strategic divestitures; (iii) imposed restrictions on the Company’s cash flows, for 
debt repayment; (iv) increased vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; (v) interest 
rate risk exposure as borrowings may be at variable rates of interest; (vi) decreased flexibility in planning for 
and reacting to changes in the industry in which it competes; (vii) reduced competitiveness as compared to 
less leveraged competitors; and (viii) increased cost of borrowing. 

The Company’s ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance its future debt obligations, depends on 
the Company’s financial condition and operating performance which are subject to prevailing economic and 
competitive conditions and to various external and other risks as indicated above. 

4.     Results of operations 
The following financial data and analysis is derived from the Company’s audited financial statements for the 
Historical Financial Information Period, being the nine-month period ended 31 December 2018 and the 
financial years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, respectively: 

Nine-month Year Year  

Period Ended Ended Ended  

31 December 31 March 31 March  

2018 2018 2017 

C$ C$ C$ 

Total revenue                                                                                                  –                    –                    – 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures                                         19,360,713   26,343,021   22,897,880 
Net loss for the year attributable to Shareholders                            21,901,184   26,161,068   24,532,025 
Total comprehensive loss for the year                                             21,901,184   26,161,068   24,982,799 
Basic and diluted loss per Common Share                                               (0.09)             (0.13)            (0.15) 

Analysis of financial nine-month period ended 31 December 2018 vs. financial year ended 
31 March 2018 
Net losses totalled C$21.9 million for the nine months ended 31 December 2018, compared to 
C$26.2 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. The most significant contributors to the loss for 
the nine months ended 31 December 2018 and financial year ended 31 March 2018 were: (i) exploration 
and evaluation expenditures; (ii) wages, consulting and Directors’ fees; (iii) office and rent expenses; (iv) 
investor relations and communication expenditures; (v) professional fees; and (vi) non-cash share-based 
compensation expense. Explanations for material variances are described below: 

The Company’s exploration and development activities at Madsen during the nine-month period ended 
31 December 2018 included continued surface exploration drilling, the commencement and completion of 
the bulk sample program, and continued work on the Technical Report. During the financial year ended 
31 March 2018, the Company was conducting a large-scale surface and underground drilling program, 
conducting engineering studies associated with the 2017 PEA, and commenced the Technical Report. 
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Wages, consulting and Director’s fees were C$1.2 million for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 
compared to C$1.4 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. The amount for the nine-month 
period ended 31 December 2018 reflects employee bonuses paid in December 2018 totalling C$0.3 million 
and otherwise reflects a nine-month operating period compared to the prior financial year. 

Office and rent costs were C$0.5 million for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 compared to 
C$0.6 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018, consistent with a nine-month period of activity as 
compared to the financial year ended 31 March 2018. 

Investor relations and communication expenditures were C$0.3 million for the nine months ended 
31 December 2018 compared to C$0.6 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. The financial 
year ended 31 March 2018 amount reflects the costs of conferences and marketing activities which typically 
occur in January and February of each year that are not otherwise reflected in the nine months ended 
31 December 2018 balance. 

Professional fees were C$0.6 million for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 compared to 
C$0.2 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. Professional fees have increased as the Company 
engaged financial advisors to evaluate its various strategic alternatives and identify and engage potential 
project finance partners. Additionally, the Company embarked on an enterprise resource planning software 
implementation in preparation for potential mining operations at Madsen. 

Share-based compensation expense was lower at C$0.8 million for the nine months ended 31 December 
2018 compared to C$1.5 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018, reflecting a fewer number of 
days of vesting of Options. In additions there were fewer Options granted in the nine months ended 
31 December 2018 compared to the financial year ended 31 March 2018. 

Share-based compensation expense relates to grants from current and previous periods in which Options 
were granted to Directors, employees, and consultants. During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, 
the Company granted 250,000 Options with a weighted average exercise price of C$0.65 compared to 
5.5 million Options with a weighted average exercise price of C$0.49 during the financial year ended 31 
March 2018. Options granted to employees and consultants were subject to vesting restrictions over a 
three-year period with the corresponding share-based compensation expense being recognised over this 
period, while Director grants vest immediately on grant with the corresponding expenses recognised at the 
time of grant. 

Generally, share-based compensation expense should be expected to vary from period to period depending 
on several factors, including whether Options are granted in a period and whether Options have fully vested 
or are cancelled in a period. In determining the fair market value of share-based compensation granted to 
Directors and employees, management makes significant assumptions and estimates. These estimates 
have an effect on the share-based compensation expense recognised and the equity reserves balance on 
our statements of financial position. Management has made estimates of the life of the Options; the expected 
volatility and the expected dividend yields that could materially affect the fair market value of this type of 
security. The estimates were chosen after reviewing the historical life of the Options and analysing share 
price history from that of a peer group to determine volatility. 

Analysis of financial year ended 31 March 2018 vs. financial year ended 31 March 2017 
Net losses totalled C$26.2 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018, compared to C$24.5 million 
for the same period in the prior financial. The most significant contributors to the loss for financial years 
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 were: (i) exploration and evaluation expenditures; (ii) wages, consulting 
and Directors’ fees; (iii) office and rent expenses; (iv) investor relations and communication expenditures; 
(v) professional fees; and (vi) non-cash share-based compensation expense. Explanations for material 
variances are described below: 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures increased to C$26.3 million for the financial year ended 31 March 
2018 compared to C$22.9 million for the same period in the prior financial year. 

Financial year ended 31 March 2018 saw increased exploration and evaluation expenditures due to the 
additional cost of deep surface drilling, underground drilling, the historical core re-logging program, the 
re-establishment of services to the Madsen Portal and ramp, the completion of underground development 
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in preparation for the bulk sample and the completion of two Resource estimates, a PEA and the 
commencement of the Technical Report. In financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Company’s exploration 
activities were primarily focussed on surface drilling. 

Wages, consulting and Director’s fees increased to C$1.4 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 
compared to C$1.1 million incurred for financial year ended 31 March 2017, primarily due to a review of 
Director compensation. 

Office and rent costs increased by 32 per cent. to C$0.6 million for financial year ended 31 March 2018 
compared to C$0.5 million in year ended 31 March 2017, primarily as a result of an increase in the 
Company’s head office rent due to additional space required to accommodate additional staff and 
consultants. 

Investor relations and communication expenditures increased slightly to C$0.6 million for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2018 compared to C$0.5 million for financial year ended 31 March 2017. The Company 
continued to market the Company to support its financing initiatives. 

Professional fees decreased slightly to C$0.2 million during the financial year ended 31 March 2018 
compared to C$0.3 million in the same period in the prior financial year. 

Share-based compensation expense increased to C$1.5 million for financial year ended 31 March 2018 
compared to C$0.9 million for the same period in the prior year, reflecting the higher fair market value of 
Options issued in recent periods. In addition, the forfeiture of 1,035,002 unvested Options during financial 
year ended 31 March 2017 resulted in a reversal of share-based compensation expense. There were minimal 
forfeitures of Options in the current financial year. 

Share-based compensation expense relates to grants from current and previous periods in which Options 
were granted to Directors, employees, and consultants. During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, 
the Company granted 5.5 million Options with a weighted average exercise price of C$0.49 compared to 
5.5 million Options with a weighted average exercise price of C$0.48 in financial year ended 31 March 2017. 
Options granted to employees and consultants were subject to vesting restrictions over a three year period 
with the corresponding share-based compensation expense being recognised over this period, while 
Director grants vest immediately on grant with the corresponding expenses recognised at the time of grant. 

Generally, share-based compensation expense should be expected to vary from period to period depending 
on several factors, including whether Options are granted in a period and whether Options have fully vested 
or are cancelled in a period. In determining the fair market value of share-based compensation granted to 
Directors and employees, management makes significant assumptions and estimates. These estimates 
have an effect on the share-based compensation expense recognised and the equity reserves balance on 
our statements of financial position. Management has made estimates of the life of the Options, the expected 
volatility and the expected dividend yields that could materially affect the fair market value of this type of 
security. The estimates were chosen after reviewing the historical life of the options and analysing share 
price history from that of a peer group to determine volatility. 

5.     Financial position 
The following financial data are derived from our annual financial statements for the nine-month period ended 
31 December 2018 and the financial years ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017: 

Nine-month Year Year 

Period Ended Ended Ended 

31 December 31 March 31 March  

2018 2018 2017 

C$ C$ C$ 

Total assets                                                                                    20,871,965   24,661,551   35,311,795 
Current liabilities                                                                               1,019,408     3,317,770     5,103,527 
Non-current liabilities                                                                        2,438,919     2,372,958     2,529,001 
Cash dividends declared                                                                                –                    –                    – 
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Total assets decreased by C$3.8 million as at 31 December 2018 in comparison to 31 March 2018 due to 
the outflow of cash primarily due to cash operating expenditures totalling C$23.2 million, partially offset by 
net proceeds received from the 2018 Fundraising of C$19.8 million. 

Total assets decreased by C$10.6 million as at 31 March 2018 in comparison to 31 March 2017 due to the 
outflow of cash due to cash operating expenditures totalling C$27.7 million, partially offset by net proceeds 
received from the 1 November 2017 Fundraising of C$17.8 million. 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had not completed the Technical Report to determine whether any 
of the Company exploration properties contain resources that are economically recoverable. As at 
31 December 2018, all direct costs associated with the acquisition costs of the Company’s mineral property 
interests are capitalised as incurred. All exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred are expensed in 
the Company’s statement of loss and comprehensive loss. If a property proceeds to development, through 
a positive feasibility study and Board approval to proceed with development, these costs become part of 
pre-production and development costs of the mine. If a property is abandoned or continued exploration is 
not deemed appropriate in the foreseeable future, the related acquisition costs are written-off. 

Current liabilities decreased to C$1 million at 31 December 2018 in comparison to C$3.3 million at 31 March 
2018. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities decreased as a result of the timing of activities and accounts 
payable payments. In addition, the remaining portion of the two Flow-Through Share premium liabilities 
recognised at 31 March 2018 in relation to the November 2017 Fundraising were reversed and recognised 
as a deferred tax recovery in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the nine months 
ended 31 December 2018. 

There was no significant change to non-current liabilities between 31 December 2018, 31 March 2018 and 
31 March 2017 as this liability for all three periods related to the long-term closure liability at Madsen. 

6.     30 September 2019 financial review 

Three and nine months ended 30 September 2019 vs. the three and nine months ended 
30 September 2018 
Net losses for the three and nine months ended 30 September 2019 totalled C$8.8 million and 
C$15.7 million, respectively, compared to C$8.1 million and C$23.0 million for the same periods in the prior 
year. The most significant contributors to the loss for the three and nine months ended 30 September 2019 
and 2018, were (i) exploration and evaluation expenditures, (ii) professional fees (ii) wages, consulting and 
Directors’ fees, (iii) Share based compensation (iv) investor relations and communication expenditures 
(v) office and rent expenses, (vi) professional fees; (viii) listing and filing fees; and (ix) net other expenses. 
Explanations for material variances period over period are described below.  

Exploration and evaluation expenditures fell to C$3.6 million for the three months ended 30 September 
2019, compared to C$7.2 million for the same period in the prior year, and decreased to C$7.2 million for 
the nine months ended 30 September 2019 compared to C$22.1 million for the same period in 2018.  

The Company’s exploration and development activities at Madsen during the three and nine month periods 
ended 30 September 2019, included development activities up to the date of the board decision to construct 
including completion of the Technical Report in February 2019, as well as the commencement of exploration 
drilling directed at the Wedge, Fork and Russet South Deposits in May 2019, but overall, activities were 
less than the same period in the prior year. During the three and nine months ended 30 September 2018, 
the Company was conducting a surface and underground drilling programme, conducting engineering 
studies associated with the Technical Report, and was completing an underground bulk sample program. 
Post decision to construct, Pure Gold capitalises all Project development costs while it continues to expense 
all exploration costs conducted on targets outside the footprint of Mineral Reserves outlined in the 
Technical Report.  

Professional fees for the three and nine months ended 30 September 2019 were C$1.1 million and 
C$2.1 million compared to C$0.1 million and C$0.2 million for the same periods in the prior year. Professional 
fees increased in the current year as the Company engaged legal and financial advisors to assist with the 
Company’s London Stock Exchange listing, and also engaged financial advisors to evaluate strategic 
alternatives for the Company including evaluating assets available for sale in Red Lake, Ontario. Professional 

70



fees in 2019 to date also include approximately C$1.3 million in advisory fees related to the financing of the 
Company by way of the Gold Stream. 

Listing and filing fees for the three and nine months ended 30 September 2019 were C$32,604 and 
C$0.6 million compared to C$21,490 and C$48,279 for the same periods in the prior year. The increase 
was primarily due to the Company’s admission to trading on the London Stock Exchange in May 2019. 

Share-based compensation expense decreased to C$0.1 million and C$0.4 million for the three and nine 
months ended 30 September 2019, compared to C$0.3 million and C$0.9 million for the same periods in 
the prior year, reflecting the fewer number of vesting Options. Share-based compensation expense relates 
to grants from current and previous periods in which Options were granted to Directors, employees and 
consultants. During the nine months ended 30 September 2019, the Company granted 0.2 million Options 
with an exercise price of C$0.54 to an employee. During the three and nine months ended 30 September 
2018, the Company granted 0.2 million Options with an exercise price of C$0.65 to a consultant, and 
0.1 million Options with an exercise price of C$0.65 to an employee. Options granted to employees and 
consultants were subject to vesting restrictions over a three-year period with the corresponding Share-based 
compensation expense being recognised over this period. 

Generally, Share-based compensation expense should be expected to vary from period to period depending 
on several factors, including whether Options are granted in a period and whether Options have fully vested 
or are cancelled in a period. In determining the fair market value of Share-based compensation granted to 
directors and employees, management makes significant assumptions and estimates. These estimates 
have an effect on the share-based compensation expense recognised and the equity reserves balance on 
our statements of financial position. Management has made estimates of the life of the Options, the expected 
volatility and the expected dividend yields that could materially affect the fair market value of this type of 
security. The estimates were chosen after reviewing the historical life of the Options and analysing Share 
price history from that of a peer group to determine volatility. 

Office and rent expenses for the three and nine months ended 30 September 2019 were C$0.1 million and 
C$0.4 million compared to C$0.2 million and C$0.5 million for the same periods in the prior year. The 
decrease was primarily due to the re-classification of the fixed portion of the Company’s head office lease 
payments under IFRS 16. 

Net other expenses for the three and nine months ended 30 September 2019 were C$3.2 million and 
C$3.1 million compared to C$0.1 million and C$0.2 million for the same periods in the prior year. The 
Company recognised a C$3.3 million expense attributed to the change in fair value of various derivative 
liabilities relating to the Credit Facility and Gold Stream.  

The net loss for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 was reduced due to a C$1.9 million deferred 
income tax recovery from the partial reversal of the two flow-through share premium liabilities recognised in 
relation to the November 2017 financing as the expenditures were renounced in February 2018. 

Financial position 
The following financial data is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company 
in respect of the ninth-month period ended 31 December 2018 and the unaudited financial statements for 
the Company as at and for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2019. 

As at As at  

30 September 31 December  

2019 2018 

C$ C$ 

Total assets                                                                                                      107.7 million      20.9 million 
Current liabilities                                                                                                 3.5 million          1.0 million 
Non-current liabilities                                                                                        49.6 million          2.4 million 
Cash dividends declared                                                                                                  –                        – 

Total assets increased by C$86.8 million as at 30 September 2019 in comparison to 31 December 2018 
primarily due to the cash received from completion of the Offering and Non-Brokered Private Placement of 
C$47.5 million and March 2019 Fundraising of C$5.2 million, completion of the Credit Facility and Gold 
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Stream which raised C$33.1 million by way of the Gold Stream and C$13.0 million through initial advance 
on the Credit Facility, including the production payment agreement advance of C$5.3 million, offset by cash 
operating expenditures totalling C$11.9 million, and cash used for investing activities, consisting primarily 
of capitalised development costs and equipment purchases of C$2.3 million.  

Current liabilities increased by C$2.5 million to C$3.5 million at 30 September 2019 compared to 
C$1.0  million at 31 December 2018. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased due to the 
Company’s initiation of engineering and construction activities at Madsen. The Company has also recognised 
a flow-through share premium liability of C$0.9 million in regard to the March 2019 flow through share 
offering. Additionally, upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Company recognised a current lease liability of 
C$0.1 million in regard to its head office lease.  

Non-current liabilities increased by C$47.2 million between 31 December 2018 and 30 September 2019, 
primarily due to the recognition of the various liabilities associated with the Project Financing Package, 
including financial statement impact of loans and borrowings of C$10 million and derivative liabilities of 
C$36.5 million. In addition, upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Company recognised the long-term portion of 
the Company’s lease liability relating to its head office lease, equal to C$0.5 million.  
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PART 13 

CREST AND DEPOSITARY INTERESTS 

1.     The Company has established arrangements to enable investors to settle interests in the Common 
Shares through the CREST system. CREST is a paperless settlement system allowing securities to be 
transferred from one person’s CREST account to another without the need to use share certificates or 
written instruments of transfer. Securities issued by non-UK companies, such as the Company, cannot 
be held or transferred electronically in the CREST system. However, Depositary Interests allow such 
securities to be dematerialised and settled electronically through CREST. Where investors choose to 
settle interests in the Common Shares through the CREST system, and pursuant to depositary 
arrangements established by the Company, the Custodian will hold the Common Shares and issue 
dematerialised Depositary Interests representing the underlying Common Shares, which will be held 
on trust for the holders of the Depositary Interests. The Depositary Interests will be independent 
securities constituted under English law which may be held and transferred through the CREST system. 
Investors should note that it is the Depositary Interests which will be admitted to and settled through 
CREST and not the Common Shares. 

2.     The Constitution is consistent with CREST membership in respect of Depositary Interests and the 
holding and transfer of Depositary Interests in uncertified form. Under the Corporations Act, companies 
are not prohibited from issuing shares in book-entry form, but shareholders have the right to require 
the companies to issue physical certificates. The Board has passed a resolution authorising the 
issuance of shares in book-entry form. 

3.     The Company and the Depositary entered into a depositary agreement on 8 May 2019, the principal 
terms of which are summarised below. 

4.     The Depositary Interests have been created pursuant to and issued on the terms of a deed poll that 
was executed on 8 May 2019 by the Depositary in favour of the holders of the Depositary Interests 
from time to time. Holders of Depositary Interests should note that they will have no rights against 
Euroclear UK & Ireland (the operators of CREST) or its subsidiaries in respect of the underlying Common 
Shares or the Depositary Interests representing them. 

5.     If a holder of Common Shares so requests, its Common Shares will be transferred to an account of 
the Depositary or its nominated custodian and the Depositary will issue Depositary Interests to 
participating CREST members. Each Depositary Interest will be treated as one Common Share for the 
purposes of determining, for example, eligibility for any dividends. The Depositary will pass on to holders 
of Depositary Interests any stock or cash benefits received by it as holder of Common Shares on trust 
for such Depositary Interest holder. Depositary Interest holders, through the Depositary, will also be 
able to receive notices of meetings of holders of Common Shares and other notices issued by the 
Company to its Shareholders. 

6.     The Depositary Interests have the same security code (ISIN) as the underlying Common Shares and 
will not require a separate admission to the Main Market. The Depositary Interests can then be traded 
and settled within the CREST system in the same way as any other CREST securities. Application will 
be made for the Depositary Interests to be admitted to CREST with effect from Admission. 

7.     If a holder wishes to cancel its Depositary Interest, it will either directly or through its broker instruct 
the applicable CREST participant to initiate a CREST withdrawal (where such withdrawal is sent to the 
Depositary) for the name that appears on the Register. The Depositary Interest will then be cancelled 
by the Depositary and the related Common Shares will be credited to the account on the Register by 
the Registrar. The Registrar will then send the holder a new Common Share certificate. 

8.     The information included within this section relating to the obtaining and cancellation of Depositary 
Interests by a holder is intended to be a summary only and is not to be construed as legal, business 
or tax advice. Each investor should consult his or her own lawyer, financial adviser, broker or tax adviser 
for legal, financial or tax advice in relation to Depositary Interests.  
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Deed Poll 
The Deed Poll executed by the Depositary prior to Admission contains the following provisions: 

9.     The Depositary will hold (itself or through the Custodian), as bare trustee, the underlying Common 
Shares and all and any rights and other securities, property and cash attributable to the underlying 
Common Shares pertaining to the Depositary Interests for the benefit of the holders of the relevant 
Depositary Interests as tenants in common. The Depositary will re-allocate securities or Depositary 
Interests distributions allocated to the Depositary or Custodian pro rata to the Common Shares held 
for the respective accounts of the holders of Depositary Interests, but will not be required to account 
for fractional entitlements arising from such re-allocation. 

10.   Holders of Depositary Interests agree to give such warranties and certifications to the Depositary as 
the Depositary may reasonably require. In particular, holders of Depositary Interests warrant, inter alia, 
that the securities in the Company transferred or issued to the Depositary or Custodian on behalf of 
the Depositary for the account of the Depositary Interest holder are free and clear of all liens, charges, 
encumbrances or third party interests and that such transfers or issues are not in contravention of the 
Company’s constitutional documents or any contractual obligation, or applicable law or regulation 
binding or affecting such holder, and holders of Depositary Interests agree to indemnify the Depositary 
against any liability incurred as a result of any breach of such warranty. 

11.   The Depositary and any Custodian shall pass on to the Depositary Interest holders and, so far as they 
are reasonably able, exercise on behalf of the Depositary Interest holders all rights and entitlements 
received or to which they are entitled in respect of the underlying Common Shares which are capable 
of being passed on or exercised. Rights and entitlements to cash distributions, to information, to make 
choices and elections and to call for, attend and vote at meetings shall, subject to the Deed Poll, be 
passed on in the form in which they are received, together with amendments and additional 
documentation necessary to effect such passing-on, or, as the case may be, exercised in accordance 
with the Deed Poll. If arrangements are made which allow a holder to take up rights in the Company’s 
securities requiring further payment, the holder must put the Depositary in cleared funds before the 
relevant payment date or other date notified by the Depositary if it wishes the Depositary to exercise 
such rights. 

12.   The Depositary will be entitled to cancel Depositary Interests and treat the holders thereof as having 
requested a withdrawal of the underlying securities in certain circumstances, including where a 
Depositary Interest holder fails to furnish to the Depositary with such certificates or representations as 
to material matters of fact, including his identity, as the Depositary deems appropriate. 

13.   The Depositary warrants that it is an authorised person under FSMA and is duly authorised to carry 
out custodian and other activities under the Deed Poll. It also undertakes to maintain that status and 
authorisation. 

14.   The Deed Poll contains provisions excluding and limiting the Depositary’s liability. For example, the 
Depositary shall not be liable to any Depositary Interest holder or any other person for liabilities in 
connection with the performance or non-performance of obligations under the Deed Poll or otherwise 
except as may result from its negligence or wilful default or fraud or that of any person for whom it is 
vicariously liable, provided that the Depositary shall not be liable for the negligence, wilful default or 
fraud of any Custodian or agent which is not a member of its group unless it has failed to exercise 
reasonable care in the appointment and continued use and supervision of such Custodian or agent. 
Except in the case of personal injury or death, any liability incurred by the Depositary to a holder under 
the Deed Poll is limited to the lesser of: 

        (a)     the value of the Common Shares that would have been properly attributable to the Depositary 
Interests to which the liability relates; and 

        (b)     that proportion of £5 million which corresponds to the portion which the amount the Depositary 
would otherwise be liable to pay to the holder bears to the aggregate of the amounts the 
Depositary would otherwise be liable to pay to all such holders in respect of the same act, 
omission or event which gave rise to such liability or, if there are no such amounts, £5 million. 

15.   The Depositary is entitled to charge holders of Depositary Interests fees and expenses for the provision 
of its services under the Deed Poll. 
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16.   Each holder of Depositary Interests is liable to indemnify the Depositary and any Custodian (and their 
agents, officers and employees), and hold each of them harmless, from and against all liabilities arising 
from or incurred in connection with, or arising from any act related to, the Deed Poll so far as they 
relate to the property held for the account of that holder, other than those caused by or resulting from 
the wilful default, negligence or fraud of: (i) the Depositary; or (ii) the Custodian or any agent if such 
Custodian or agent is a member of the Depositary’s group or if, not being a member of the same 
group, the Depositary shall have failed to exercise reasonable care in the appointment and continued 
use of such Custodian or agent. 

17.   The Depositary is entitled to make deductions from the deposited property or any income or capital 
arising therefrom, or to sell such deposited property and make deductions from the sale proceeds 
thereof, in order to discharge the indemnification obligations of Depositary Interest holders. 

18.   The Depositary may terminate the Deed Poll by giving not less than 90 days’ notice. During such notice 
period, Depositary Interest holders may cancel their Depositary Interests and withdraw their deposited 
property and, if any Depositary Interests remain outstanding after termination, the Depositary shall, as 
soon as reasonably practicable and amongst other things: (i) deliver the deposited property in respect 
of the Depositary Interests to the relevant Depositary Interest holder; or at the Depositary’s discretion; 
(ii) sell all or part of such deposited property. It shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, deliver the net 
proceeds of any such sale, after deducting any sums due to the Depositary, together with any other 
cash held by it under the Deed Poll, pro rata to the Depositary Interest holders in respect of their 
Depositary Interests. 

19.   The Depositary or the Company may require from any holder: (i) information as to the capacity in which 
Depositary Interests are owned or held by such holders and the identity of any other person with any 
interest of any kind in such Depositary Interests or the underlying Common Shares and the nature and 
amounts of such interests; (ii) evidence or declaration of nationality or residence of the legal or beneficial 
owner(s) of Depositary Interests and such information as is required to transfer the relevant Depositary 
Interests or Common Shares to the holder; and (iii) such information as is necessary or desirable for 
the purposes of the Deed Poll or CREST system, and holders are bound to provide such information 
requested. The holders of Depositary Interests consent to the disclosure of such information by the 
Depositary, Custodian or Company to the extent necessary or desirable to comply with their respective 
legal or regulatory obligations. 

20.   Furthermore, to the extent that the Company’s constitutional documents, applicable laws or regulations, 
the Ground Rules for the Management of the FTSE UK Index Series (if applicable), or any court or legal 
or regulatory authority may require or the Company deems it necessary or desirable in connection 
therewith (including in response to requests for information), the disclosure to the Company of, or 
limitations in relation to, beneficial or other ownership of, or interests of any kind whatsoever in the 
Company’s securities, the Depositary Interest holders are to comply with such provisions and with the 
Company’s instructions with respect thereto, and consent to the disclosure of such information for 
such purposes. 

21.   It should also be noted that holders of Depositary Interests may not have the opportunity to exercise 
all of the rights and entitlements available to holders of Common Shares, including, for example, the 
ability to vote on a show of hands. In relation to voting, it will be important for holders of Depositary 
Interests to give prompt instructions to the Registrar or its nominated Custodian, in accordance with 
any voting arrangements made available to them, to vote the underlying Common Shares on their 
behalf or, to the extent possible, to take advantage of any arrangements enabling holders of Depositary 
Interests to vote such Common Shares as a proxy of the Registrar or its nominated Custodian. 

Depositary Agreement 
The Depositary Agreement entered into between the Company and the Depositary prior to Admission 
contains the following provisions: 

22.   Under the Depositary Agreement, the Company appoints the Depositary to constitute and issue from 
time to time, upon the terms of the Deed Poll, a series of Depositary Interests representing Common 
Shares and to provide certain other services (including depositary services, custody services and 
dividend services) in connection with such Depositary Interests. 
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23.   The Depositary agrees that it will comply with the terms of the Deed Poll and that it will perform its 
obligations with reasonable skill and care. The Depositary assumes certain specific obligations, 
including, for example, to arrange for the Depositary Interests to be admitted to CREST as participating 
securities and provide copies of, and access to, the register of Depositary Interests. 

24.   The Company acknowledges that it shall be its responsibility and undertakes to advise the Depositary 
promptly of any securities laws or other applicable laws, rules or regulations in Canada with which the 
Depositary must comply in providing the services. 

25.   The Company agrees to provide such assistance, information and documentation to the Depositary 
as is reasonably required by the Depositary for the purposes of performing its duties, responsibilities 
and obligations under the Depositary Agreement. 

26.   The Depositary is to indemnify the Company and its officers and employees from and against any loss 
(excluding indirect, consequential or special loss) which any of them may incur in any way as a result 
of or in connection with the fraud, negligence or wilful default of the Depositary (or its officers, 
employees, agents or sub-contractors). 

27.   Subject to earlier termination, the appointment of the Depositary shall continue for a fixed period of 
one year and thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms of the Depositary Agreement. 
Should the Depositary Agreement be terminated for any reason, other than arising from the Depositary’s 
fraud, negligence, wilful default or material breach of a term of the Depositary Agreement, the Company 
shall within 30 days of termination pay to the Depositary the Depositary’s reasonable costs and 
expenses of transferring the Depositary Interest register to its new registrar. Either party may terminate 
the Depositary Agreement by giving not less than 3 months’ notice in writing. Either party may terminate 
the Depositary Agreement with immediate effect by notice in writing if the other party: (i) shall be in 
persistent or material breach of any material term (of the Depositary Agreement) and such breach is 
not remedied within 21 days of a request for such remedy; (ii) goes into insolvency or liquidation or 
administration or a receiver is appointed over any part of its undertaking or assets, subject to certain 
provisos; or (iii) shall cease to have the appropriate authorisations which permit it lawfully to perform 
its obligations under the Depositary Agreement. 

28.   The Depositary will be entitled to employ agents for the purposes of carrying out certain of its 
obligations under the Depositary Agreement which the Depositary reasonably considers to be of a 
specialist nature. 

29.   The Company is to pay to the Depositary an annual fee for the services. The Company shall pay a 
fixed fee for the deposit, cancellation and transfer of the Depositary Interests and the compilation of 
the initial Depositary Interests register. The Company shall in addition reimburse the Depositary within 
30 days of the Depositary’s invoice for all network charges, CREST charges, money transmission and 
banking charges and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred by it in connection with the provision of 
the services under the Depositary Agreement. 

30.   The Company will indemnify the Depositary from and against all loss suffered by the Depositary as a 
result of or in connection with the performance of its obligations under the Depositary Agreement. 

31.   The aggregate liability of the Depositary to the Company over any 12-month period under the 
Depositary Agreement will not exceed twice the amount of the Fees (as defined in the Depositary 
Agreement) payable in any 12-month period in respect of a single claim or in the aggregate. 
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PART 14 

CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS 

The table below sets out the unaudited cash and cash equivalents, indebtedness and capitalisation of the 
Company as at 30 September 2019. The unaudited cash and cash equivalents, indebtedness and 
capitalisation figures have been derived from the Company’s unaudited internal accounts.  

C$ 000 

Total Current Debt 

Guaranteed Nil 
Secured Nil 
Unguaranteed/Unsecured Nil 
Total Non-Current Debt 

Guaranteed 46,503 
Secured Nil 
Unguaranteed/Unsecured Nil 
Shareholder Equity C$ 000 

–––––––––––– 
Share Capital 156,748 
Legal Reserve Nil 
Other Reserves 14,717  
Accumulated Deficit (116,847) 

–––––––––––– 
Total 54,618 

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

The following table shows the Company’s net indebtedness as at 30 September 2019: 

A        Cash 85,653 
B        Cash equivalent 23 
C        Trading securities Nil 

–––––––––––– 
D        Liquidity (A) + (B) + (C) 85,676 

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
E        Current financial receivable 532 
F         Current bank debt Nil 
G        Current portion of non current debt Nil 
H        Other current financial debt Nil 
I          Current Financial Debt (F) + (G) + (H) Nil 

–––––––––––– 
J         Net Current Financial Indebtedness (I) – (E) – (D) (86,208) 
K        Non current bank loans 10,013 
L         Bonds issued Nil 
M       Other non current loans 36,490 
N        Non current Financial Indebtedness (K) + (L) + (M) 46,503 

–––––––––––– 
O        Net Financial Indebtedness (J) + (N) (39,705) 

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

There has been no significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Company since 
30 September 2019, being the end of the last financial period of the Company for which financial information 
has been published, to the date of this document. Such financial information, being the Historical Financial 
Information, is incorporated by reference as noted in Part 11 (Historical Financial Information) of this 
document. 

AIII 3.2 
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PART 15 

TAXATION 

 The information set out below describes the principal UK and Canadian tax consequences of the acquisition, 

holding and disposal of the Common Shares and is included for general information only. It is not intended 

to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice to any prospective investors. This Part of the 

document does not take into account the individual circumstances of any prospective investors and should 

not be relied upon by any prospective investor or any other person. Each prospective investor should obtain, 

and only rely upon, their own professional tax advice regarding the tax consequences of acquiring, holding 

and disposing of the Common Shares under the laws of their country and/or state of citizenship, domicile 

or residence. Should any withholding taxes be payable on amounts payable by the Company, the Company 

assumes responsibility for withholding of such taxes at the source. This summary is based on tax legislation 

in force as at the Last Practical Date, without prejudice to any amendments introduced at a later date and 

implemented with retroactive effect. 

Tax residency 
Pure Gold is incorporated in Canada and considered to be a Canadian tax resident. Companies incorporated 
in Canada are generally residents of Canada for income tax purposes, as are companies that are not 
incorporated in Canada but with their central management and control in Canada. An individual is generally 
considered to be a tax resident of Canada if he or she is domiciled in Canada or physically present in Canada 
for a period or periods exceeding in aggregate more than 183 days in any calendar year. A Canadian tax 
resident is subject to income tax in Canada on its worldwide income, subject to certain exemptions. 

Other Shareholders may be subject to the payment of corporate or other tax in jurisdictions outside of 
Canada either where they have their registered office and/or where they are managed and controlled and/or 
carry out their operations (subject to the tax laws in the relevant jurisdictions). The tax residency status of 
other companies has not been examined in this document. This section has been limited to outlining the 
tax rules and rates applicable in the two principle jurisdictions where the Company may have business 
interests and/or where its Shareholders may be tax resident for the purposes of preliminarily assessing 
taxable income derived from shares held in the Company. However, each Shareholder should obtain 
independent professional advice as to the tax implications of its shareholding. 

UK taxation 
The following statements are intended only as a general guide to current UK tax legislation and to the current 
practice of HMRC and may not apply to certain shareholders in the Company, such as dealers in securities, 
insurance companies and collective investment schemes. They relate (except where stated otherwise) to 
persons who are resident, and in the case of individuals, domiciled in (and only in) the UK for UK tax 
purposes, who are beneficial owners of Common Shares (and any dividends paid on them) and who hold 
their Common Shares as an investment (and not as employment-related securities and other than via an 
individual savings account). They are based on current UK legislation and what is understood to be the 
current practice of HMRC as at the Last Practical Date, both of which may change, possibly with retroactive 
effect. The tax position of certain categories of shareholders who are subject to special rules (such as 
persons acquiring their Common Shares in connection with employment, dealers in securities, insurance 
companies and collective investment schemes or those who hold 10 per cent. or more of the Common 
Shares or those who are non-UK domiciled individuals) is not considered. 

Any person who is in any doubt as to his or her tax position, or who is subject to taxation in any jurisdiction 
other than that of the UK, should consult his or her own professional advisers immediately. 

Taxation of dividends – Individual Shareholders 
UK resident individual Shareholders will be liable to income tax in respect of dividends or other income 
distributions of the Company. A UK resident individual Shareholder will generally benefit from an allowance 
in the form of an exemption from tax for the first £2,000 of dividend income received in the 2018/19 tax 
year (“Dividend Allowance”). Any dividends above the Dividend Allowance will be taxable at 7.5 per cent. 
(to the extent it falls within an individual’s basic rate band), 32.5 per cent. (to the extent it falls within an 
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individual’s higher rate band) or 38.1 per cent. (to the extent it falls within an individual’s additional rate band) 
for the 2018-19 tax year. 

Taxation of dividends – Corporate Shareholders 
Dividends paid to a UK resident corporate Shareholder will be taxable income of the UK corporate 
Shareholder unless the dividends fall within an exempt class and certain other conditions are met. It is likely 
that most dividends paid to UK resident corporate Shareholders would fall within one or more of the classes 
of dividend qualifying for exemption from corporation tax. However, it should be noted that the exemptions 
are not comprehensive and are also subject to anti-avoidance rules. 

To the extent that dividends are not exempt, UK resident corporate Shareholders may be able to obtain 
credit for any withholding tax and any underlying tax paid by the Company, subject to certain conditions. 
The UK has complex double tax relief where UK resident companies receive dividends from non-UK resident 
companies and therefore UK resident corporate Shareholders should seek further advice on these issues. 

Taxation of dividends – Trustees 
The annual dividend allowance available to individuals will not be available to UK resident trustees of a 
discretionary trust. Generally, dividends received by UK resident trustees of a discretionary trust are liable 
to income tax at a rate of 38.1 per cent. (save the first £1,000 of trust income which may attract a lower 
rate of 7.5 per cent.). The £1,000 dividend allowance for trustees must divided by the total number of trusts 
which the settlor has settled. However, if the settlor has set up five or more trusts, the standard rate band 
for each trust is £200. 

Taxation of dividends – UK pension funds and charities 
UK pension funds and charities are generally exempt from tax on dividends which they receive. 

Other Shareholders who are not resident in the UK for tax purposes should consult their own advisers 
concerning their tax liabilities on dividends received. 

Chargeable gains 
Shareholders who are resident in the UK for tax purposes and who dispose of their Common Shares at a 
gain will ordinarily be liable to UK taxation on chargeable gains, subject to any available exemptions or reliefs. 
The gain will be calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds and any allowable costs and 
expenses, including the original acquisition cost of the Common Shares. 

Shareholders who are not resident in the UK for tax purposes but who carry on business in the UK through 
a branch, agency or permanent establishment with which their investment in the Company is connected 
may give rise to a chargeable gain or an allowable loss for the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains. 

If an individual Shareholder ceases to be resident in the UK and subsequently disposes of Common Shares, 
in certain circumstances any gain on that disposal may be liable to UK capital gains tax upon that 
Shareholder becoming once again resident in the UK. 

For UK resident individual Shareholders, capital gains tax at the rate of 10 per cent. (for basic rate taxpayers) 
or 20 per cent. (for higher or additional rate tax payers) will be payable on any gain. UK resident individual 
Shareholders may benefit from certain reliefs and allowances (including a personal annual exemption 
allowance, which for 2018-19 tax year exempts the first £11,850 of gains from tax) depending on their 
circumstances. 

For UK resident corporate Shareholders any chargeable gain will be within the charge to corporation tax. 
UK corporate Shareholders can benefit from indexation allowance up to 31 December 2017 (which, in 
general terms, increases the chargeable gains tax base cost of an asset in accordance with the rise in the 
retail prices index up to 31 December 2017), but indexation allowance for corporate shareholders no longer 
applies post 31 December 2017. Accordingly, any new (post 31 December 2017) UK tax resident corporate 
shareholder holding any rolled over tax base cost pre 31 December 2017 may claim indexation allowance 
on a subsequent disposal on the shares in Pure Gold, but such indexation allowance will only be up to 
31 December 2017. 
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Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax (“SDRT”) 
The statements below are intended as a general guide to the current position under UK tax law. They do 
not apply to certain intermediaries who may be eligible for relief from stamp duty or SDRT, or to persons 
connected with depositary arrangements or clearance services (or, in either case, their nominees or agents), 
who may be liable to stamp duty or SDRT at a higher rate. 

Treatment of the transfer of Common Shares into CREST and the trading of Depositary 
Interests within CREST 
Admission of the Common Shares to the standard segment of the Official List should not give rise to a 
liability to stamp duty or SDRT on the basis that the Admission does not involve a change in title or beneficial 
ownership in the Common Shares for consideration. 

Where there is a transfer of Common Shares into CREST (where Depositary Interests are issued) there 
should be no SDRT or stamp duty provided that there is no change in beneficial ownership of the Common 
Shares. 

Where there is a transfer of Common Shares into CREST (where Depositary Interests are issued) and there 
is a change in beneficial ownership of the Common Shares, no charge to SDRT should arise on the basis 
that: 

l      the central management and control of the Company currently takes place, and will continue to take 
place outside the UK; 

l      the register of members of the Company is, and will be, maintained outside the UK; and 

l      the underlying Common Shares are, and will continue to be, listed on a recognised stock exchange 
(such as the TSX-V). 

Assuming that no document of transfer is executed for such a transfer there should be no stamp duty either. 

Where Depositary Interests are traded (wholly within CREST), no charge to SDRT should arise on the basis 
that: 

l      the central management and control of the Company currently takes place and will continue to take 
place outside the UK; 

l      the register of members of the Company is, and will be, maintained outside the UK; and 

l      the underlying Common Shares are, and will continue to be, listed on a recognised stock exchange 
(such as the TSX-V). 

Since any transfer of the Depositary Interests will be wholly within CREST, and no documents of transfer 
will be executed, no charge to stamp duty should arise on the transfer of Depositary Interests (wholly within 
CREST). 

Treatment of the transfer of Common Shares out of CREST and trading of the underlying 
Common Shares 
Where there is a transfer of Common Shares out of CREST (which may involve a collapse of the Depositary 
Interests) and there is a change in beneficial ownership of the Common Shares, no charge to SDRT should 
arise, provided that: 

l      the register of members of the Company continues to be maintained outside the UK; and 

l      the Common Shares are not paired with shares in UK-incorporated companies. 

Provided that the register of members of the Company continues to be maintained outside the UK, and the 
Common Shares are not paired with shares in UK incorporated companies, there should be no SDRT on 
any agreement to transfer the Common Shares themselves. 

However, any document transferring title to the Common Shares will be technically within the scope of UK 
stamp duty (at the rate of 0.5 per cent., rounded to the nearest £5) if it is executed in the UK or relates 
(wheresoever executed) to any matter or thing done or to be done in the UK. Where stamp duty arises, this 
is generally payable by the purchaser. 
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Stamp duty is not a directly enforceable tax. As such, any stamp duty which may arise should not generally 
be required to be paid in respect of transfers of Common Shares, unless the document of transfer is required 
to be relied upon as evidence in a UK court or for other official purpose in the UK. However, where the 
stamp duty is paid late, interest and penalties may arise. 

Inheritance Tax 
If any individual Shareholder is regarded as domiciled in the UK for inheritance tax purposes, inheritance tax 
may be payable in respect of the Common Shares on the death of the Shareholder or on certain gifts of the 
Common Shares during their lifetime, subject to any allowances, exemptions or reliefs. 

Non-UK domiciled individual Shareholders may be regarded as deemed domiciled for inheritance tax 
purposes following a long period of residence in the UK. Further advice should be sought in these 
circumstances. 

Individual Shareholders who are in any doubt about the impact of this change on their tax position should 
obtain detailed tax advice from their own professional advisers. 

UK inheritance tax is a complex area and individuals should obtain their own advice in respect of this. 

Canadian taxation 
The following is a summary, as of the date of this document, of the principal Canadian federal income tax 
considerations under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (“Canadian Tax Act”) that generally apply to an investor 
who acquires Common Shares, who, for the purposes of the Canadian Tax Act and at all relevant times, 
deals at arm’s length, and is not affiliated with the Company and who acquires and holds the Common 
Shares, as capital property (“Holder”). Generally, Common Shares will be considered to be capital property 
to a Holder provided that the Holder does not use Common Shares in the course of carrying on a business 
of trading or dealing in securities and such Holder has not acquired them or been deemed to have acquired 
them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. 

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Canada-United Kingdom Tax Convention 
(“Treaty”), the Canadian Tax Act and its regulations and the current published administrative policies and 
assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”). This summary takes into account all specific 
proposals to amend the Canadian Tax Act and its regulations publicly announced by or on behalf of the 
Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (“Tax Proposals”) and assumes that the Tax Proposals 
will be enacted in the form proposed, although no assurance can be given that the Tax Proposals will be 
enacted in their current form or at all. This summary does not otherwise take into account any changes in 
law or in the administrative policies or assessing practices of the CRA, whether by legislative, governmental 
or judicial decision or action, nor does it take into account or consider any provincial, territorial or foreign 
income tax considerations, which considerations may differ significantly from the Canadian federal income 
tax considerations discussed in this summary. 

This summary only applies to Holders who (i) for the purposes of the Canadian Tax Act, have not and will 
not be resident in Canada at any time, (ii) do not use or hold the common shares in carrying on a business 
in Canada, and (iii) are resident in the UK for income tax purposes, including for purposes of the Treaty. 
Special rules, which are not discussed in this summary, may apply to a UK Holder that is an insurer that 
carries on business in Canada and elsewhere. 

This summary is of a general nature only, is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax 
considerations and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice to any 
particular Holder. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to their particular 
circumstances. 

Currency 
For purposes of the Canadian Tax Act, all amounts relating to the acquisition, holding or disposition of 
Common Shares must be expressed in CAD. Amounts denominated in any other currency must be 
converted into Canadian dollars using the rate of exchange quoted by the Bank of Canada on the day the 
amount first arose, or such other rate of exchange as is acceptable to the CRA. 
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Dividends 
Dividends paid or credited or deemed to be paid or credited to a Holder by the Company are subject to 
Canadian withholding tax at the rate of 25 per cent. on the gross amount of the dividend unless such rate 
is reduced by the terms of the Treaty. The rate of withholding tax on dividends paid or credited to a Holder 
who is resident in the UK for purposes of the Treaty and is the beneficial owner of the dividend is generally 
limited to 15 per cent. of the gross amount of the dividend (or 5 per cent. in the case of such a Holder that 
is a company beneficially owning at least 10 per cent. of the Company’s voting shares). Holders should 
consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of the Treaty to dividends based on their particular 
circumstances. 

Dispositions of Common Shares 
A Holder generally will not be subject to tax under the Canadian Tax Act in respect of a capital gain realised 
on the disposition or deemed disposition of Common Shares, nor will capital losses arising therefrom be 
recognised under the Canadian Tax Act, unless Common Shares constitute “taxable Canadian property” to 
the Holder for purposes of the Canadian Tax Act, and the gain is not exempt from tax pursuant to the terms 
of the Treaty. 

Provided Common Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange”, as defined in the Canadian Tax 
Act (which currently includes the TSX-V and the LSE), at the time of disposition, the Common Shares 
generally will not constitute taxable Canadian property of a Holder at that time, unless at any time during 
the 60 month period immediately preceding the disposition the following two conditions are met concurrently: 

(i)      the Holder, persons with whom the Holder did not deal at arm’s length, and partnerships in which the 
Holder or such non-arm’s length person holds a membership interest (either directly or indirectly through 
one or more partnerships), or the Holder together with all such persons, owned 25 per cent. or more 
of the issued shares of any class or series of the Company’s shares; and 

(ii)     more than 50 per cent. of the fair market value of the Common Shares was derived directly or indirectly 
from one or any combination of real or immovable property situated in Canada, “Canadian resource 
properties” (as defined in the Canadian Tax Act), “timber resource properties” (as defined in the 
Canadian Tax Act) or an option, an interest or right in such property, whether or not such property 
exists. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Common Share may otherwise be deemed to be taxable Canadian 
property to a Holder for purposes of the Canadian Tax Act in particular circumstances. 

The Treaty generally relives residents of the United Kingdom from liability from Canadian tax on capital gains 
realised on the disposition of shares quoted on an approved stock exchange (which includes the TSX-V 
and the LSE) or if immediately before the disposition of the shares the person owned alone, or together 
with any person related to or connected with the person, less than 10 per cent. of each class of the share 
capital of the company, unless: 

(i)      the person was a resident of Canada at any time during the fiscal year in which the shares were 
disposed of; or 

(ii)     the person had been a resident of Canada at any time during the six years immediately preceding the 
date of disposition. 

Holders whose Common Shares are taxable Canadian property should consult their own tax advisors.
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PART 16 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

1.     Responsibility statement 
The Company and each of the Directors, whose names appear on page 33 of this document, accept 
responsibility for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge of the Company 
and the Directors the information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts and does not 
omit anything likely to affect its import. 

2.     The Company 
 

 On 14 November 2005, Capo Resources Limited was registered and incorporated in British Columbia, 
Canada, under the Corporations Act. On 15 May 2008, Capo Resources acquired the entire share capital 
of 0785531 B.C. Ltd by way of a reverse takeover, which constituted a completed qualifying transaction 
requirement under TSX-V Policy 2.4. 0785531 B. C. was amalgamated with a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Capo Resources, and the amalgamated entity was registered under the name Laurentian Exploration Ltd. 
On 22 January 2009, Capo Resources amalgamated with Laurentian Exploration, under the name Laurentian 
Goldfields Ltd. On 24 June 2014, Laurentian Goldfields re-registered under the name Pure Gold Mining Inc., 
with business number 818789943. The registered office of the Company is c/o McMillan LLP, Suite 1500 
Royal Centre, 1055 West Georgie Street, PO Box 11117 Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E 4N7, 
and the head office and principal place of business of the Company is at 1900 – 1055 West Hastings Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6E2E9. The Company’s telephone number is +1 604 646 8000. The 
liability of each Shareholder is limited by the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares held by him. 

 

 3.     Share capital of the Company 
3.1   As at the Last Practicable Date, the Company has an issued share capital of 358,466,692 Common 

Shares. 
 

3.2   The issued share capital of the Company immediately after Admission is expected to be 358,466,692 
Common Shares. 

3.3   In accordance with Rule 14.2.2 of the Listing Rules, on Admission at least 25 per cent. of Common 
Shares will be held in public hands (as defined in the Listing Rules).  

3.4   The Common Shares will be registered, and may be held in either certificated or uncertificated form 
(by way of Depository Interests on the London Stock Exchange). 

3.5   The Common Shares are freely transferable and there are no restrictions on transfer. 

3.6   During the period covered by the Historical Financial Information, there have been the following changes 
to the Company’s issued share capital: 

        (a)     On 8 June 2016, Pure Gold announced that it had closed the 2016 Fundraising. Pursuant to the 
2016 Fundraising, Pure Gold issued a total of 8,334,000 Flow-Through Shares at a price of 
C$0.75 per Flow-Through Share, raising gross proceeds of C$6.23 million. This included the full 
exercise of an underwriters’ option of 1,667,000 Flow-Through Shares. The proceeds raised from 
the 2016 Fundraising were used by the Company to finance qualified Canadian exploration 
expenditures at the Madsen Gold Project. The Flow-Through Shares were subject to a hold period 
in Canada that expired on 9 October 2016. 

        (b)     In September 2016, Pure Gold announced that it had raised a total of C$19 million from the 
exercise of Warrants from the 2016 Fundraising. 

        (c)     On 22 February 2017, Pure Gold announced that it had closed the February 2017 Fundraising. 
Pursuant to the February 2017 Fundraising, Pure Gold issued a total of 17,600,000 Flow-Through 
Shares at a price of C$0.75 per Flow-Through Share for aggregate gross proceeds of 
C$13.2  million. This included the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option of 1,600,000 
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Flow-Through Shares at a price of C$0.75 per Flow-Through Share. Proceeds were spent on 
further exploration of the Madsen Gold Project. 

        (d)     On 1 November 2017, Pure Gold announced the closing of the November 2017 Fundraising. 
Pursuant to the November 2017 Fundraising, the Company issued a total of 8,690,000 Super 
Flow-Through Shares at a price of C$0.725 per Super Flow-Through Share, 8,061,125 
Flow-Through Shares at a price of C$0.64 per Flow-Through Share and 14,862,167 Common 
Shares at a price of C$0.52 per Common Share, raising gross proceeds of C$19.2 million. This 
included the partial exercise of the underwriters’ option of 248,125 Flow-Through Shares and 
1,400,167 Common Shares. Proceeds were used to further explore the Madsen Gold Project 
and for general working capital purposes. 

        (e)     On 24 May 2018, Pure Gold announced the closing of the 2018 Fundraising, raising gross 
proceeds of C$20.94 million, consisting of: 

                (i)      the sale of 16,130,000 2018 Units at a price of C$0.62 per 2018 Unit; and 

                (ii)     the issuing of 4,000,000 Flow-Through Shares at a price of C$0.75 per 2018 Flow-Through 
Share, raising gross proceeds of C$13 million; and 

                (iii)     the issuing of 12,800,000 2018 Units to AngloGold, at a price of C$0.62 per 2018 Unit, on 
a non-brokered private placement basis. This resulted in AngloGold owning 14.9 per cent. 
of the Corporation’s issued and outstanding Common Shares, on a non-diluted basis and 
16.46 per cent. on a partially diluted basis, raising gross proceeds of C$7.94 million. 

                Proceeds from the 2018 Fundraising were used to further explore and develop the Madsen Gold 
Project and for general working capital purposes. Proceeds from the sale of the 2018 Flow-
Through Shares were used for exploration financing that qualified as “Canadian Exploration 

Expenses” as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada). 

        (f)      On 29 March 2019, Pure Gold announced the closing of the March 2019 Fundraising, consisting 
of the sale of 6,716,500 Flow-Through Shares at a price of C$0.67 per Flow-Through Share, 
raising gross proceeds of C$4.5 million. The March 2019 Fundraising included the full exercise 
of the underwriters’ option of 1,007,475 Flow-Through Shares at a price of C $0.67 per 
Flow-Through Share. The aggregate 7,723,975 2019 Flow- Through Shares raised gross 
proceeds of C$5.18 million.  

4.     Canadian takeover provisions 
4.1   The Corporations Act and Canadian securities legislation govern takeover bids for Canadian companies 

incorporated in the Province of British Columbia. A “Takeover Bid” is defined as an offer to acquire 
outstanding voting or equity securities of a class, made to any holder in the local jurisdiction of the 
securities, if such securities, together with the securities held by the offeror and any person acting 
jointly or in concert with the offeror, would constitute 20 per cent. or more of the outstanding securities 
of the class, in aggregate, at the date of the offer. 

4.2   A Takeover Bid must be made to all holders of securities of the class subject to the bid who are in the 
local jurisdiction (with limited exceptions) and must allow those holders at least 105 days to deposit 
securities pursuant to the bid, subject to a reduction of the minimum deposit period to a minimum of 
35 days with the consent of the target’s board of directors or where certain competing takeover bids 
or alternative change in control transactions are outstanding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Canadian Securities Administrators have adopted a policy permitting them to issue a cease trade order 
in the event the takeover offer is not made to all Canadian security holders. 

4.3   The availability of a Takeover Bid to shareholders residing outside Canada will be dependent on whether 
such takeover bid may be made to such non-Canadian shareholders pursuant to applicable legislation 
of the jurisdiction in which the non-Canadian shareholders reside and the actions of the offeror. 

4.4   A Takeover Bid circular is required to be delivered to the security holders by the offeror detailing the 
terms of the bid. The directors of the reporting issuer (in this case, the Company) are required to deliver 
a directors’ circular within 15 days of the date of the Takeover Bid. The directors’ circular contains the 
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directors’ recommendation to accept or reject the bid, including reasons therefor or a statement that 
the board of directors is unable to comment and providing reasons in support of that position. 

5.     Squeeze-out rights 
5.1   Under the applicable Canadian corporate legislation, where an offeror has successfully acquired 

90 per cent. of the shares of a company (other than shares already held at the date of the offer by the 
acquiring person), the offeror may, within five months after making the offer, send written notice to any 
shareholder who did not accept the offer, that the acquiring person wants to acquire the shares of that 
shareholder that were involved in the offer. 

5.2   If a notice is sent to a shareholder, the acquiring person is bound to acquire all of the shares of that 
shareholder that were involved in the offer for the same price and on the same terms contained in the 
acquisition offer unless the court orders otherwise on an application made by the offeree within two 
months after the date of the notice, in which case the court may set the price and terms of payment 
and make such other consequential orders and give such directions as it deems appropriate. 

5.3   There is no reciprocal mechanism in Canada whereby any shareholder who did not accept the original 
offer from the offeror might require such offeror to compulsorily acquire their shares on the terms of 
the original offer. 

6.     Substantial holdings 
6.1   National Instrument 55-104, “Insider Reporting Requirements and Exemptions”, requires a person to 

make a public notice of its holdings where that person has beneficial ownership of, or control or 
direction over (whether direct or indirect), securities of a reporting issuer (such as the Company) carrying 
more than 10 per cent. of the voting rights attached to all the issuer’s outstanding voting securities, 
including securities (issued and unissued) that the person or company is the beneficial owner of, which 
are convertible into voting securities within 60 days following that date. Insider reports are filed 
electronically using the System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (“SEDI”) established by the 
Canadian Securities Administrators. Further information about SEDI can be found at the SEDI website 
(www.sedi.ca). Furthermore, a reporting issuer (such as the Company) is required by Form 51-102F5 
of National Instrument 51-102, “Continuous Disclosure Obligations”, to disclose in its information 
circulars whether, to the knowledge of its directors or executive officers, any person or company 
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying 10 per cent. or 
more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of such reporting issuer. 

6.2   Under Rule 5 of the DTR (Vote Holder and Issuer Notification Rules) (“DTR5”), a person must notify 
the Company and the FCA of the percentage of the Company’s voting rights he or she holds as a 
shareholder (or holds or is deemed to hold through his or her direct or indirect holding of financial 
instruments) if, as a result of an acquisition or disposal of Common Shares or financial instruments, or 
as a result of any event changing the breakdown of voting rights of the Company (for example, a buy-
back of Common Shares by the Company), the percentage of those voting rights in which he is 
interested reaches, exceeds or falls below 5 per cent., 10 per cent., 15 per cent., 20 per cent., 25 per 
cent., 30 per cent., 50 per cent. and 75 per cent. 

6.3   The form in which such notification must be made is provided by the FCA on its website at: 

        https://www.fca.org.uk/markets/ukla/regulatory-disclosures/submit-investor-notification 

6.4   Such notification must be made no later than four trading days after the date upon which the person 
making the notification: (a) learns of the acquisition or disposal or of the possibility of exercising voting 
rights, or on which, having regards to the circumstances, should have learned of it, regardless of the 
date on which the acquisition, disposal or possibility of exercising voting rights takes effect; or (b) is 
informed about the event changing the breakdown of voting rights of the Company. 

6.5   Any person who is in breach of their obligations under DTR5 is liable to a fine and/or public censure 
by the FCA and the FCA may apply to court to have such person’s voting rights suspended. 
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7.     TSX-V disclosure requirements 
In addition to the numerous ongoing reporting requirements, commonly referred to as continuous disclosure 
obligations, for reporting issuers pursuant to applicable corporate and securities legislation in Canada, the 
TSX-V imposes certain disclosure and notification requirements on listed companies. The TSX’s timely 
disclosure policy requires listed companies to immediately disclose any material information, with limited 
exceptions for confidentiality. 

 

 8.     Articles and Notice of Articles 
The following is a non-exhaustive summary of the provisions of the Company’s Articles and Notice of Articles. 
The Company also remains subject to any corporate law, securities law and stock exchange requirements 
that may be applicable to the Company. This summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to 
and is qualified in its entirety by the Articles. Please see paragraph 26 of this Part 16 (Additional Information) 
for details of how to obtain a full copy of the Articles. 

8.1   Objects 

        The Articles contain no restrictions on the principal objects or type of business that may be carried out 
by the Company. 

8.2   Authorised capital structure 

        The Company is authorised to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value, having 
attached thereto the rights, privileges, restrictions hereinafter set forth. 

        The authorised share structure of the Company consists of shares of the class and series, if any, 
described in the Notice of Articles. 

8.3   Rights attaching to the Common Shares 

        Pursuant to the Articles, each holder of Common Shares shall be entitled to: 

        (a)     receive notice of and attend all meetings of Shareholders, except meetings at which only holders 
of other classes or series of shares are entitled to attend, and at all such meetings shall be entitled 
to one vote in respect of each Common Share held by such holder; 

        (b)     receive on a pro rata basis such dividends on such Common Shares, if any, as and when declared 
by the Board; and 

        (c)     in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, is entitled to receive on a 
pro rata basis the net assets of the Company after payment of debts and other liabilities, subject 
to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any other series or class of shares 
ranking senior in priority to or on a pro rata basis with the holders of Common Shares. 

8.4   Directors’ authority to issue Common Shares 

        The Notice of Articles and Articles permit the Directors to issue an unlimited number of Common 
Shares. 

8.5   Transfer of Common Shares 

        A transfer of Common Shares must not be registered unless the Company or its transfer agent or 
registrar for the Common Shares has received: 

        (a)     if a share certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, 
that share certificate and a duly signed written instrument of transfer made by the shareholder; or 

        (b)     if a non-transferable written acknowledgement of the shareholder’s right to obtain a share 
certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, a written 
instrument of transfer that directs that the transfer of the shares be registered, made by the 
shareholder; or 

        (c)     in the case of the share that is uncertificated, a duly signed written instrument of transfer that 
directs that the transfer of the share be registered, made by the shareholder; or 

        (d)     such other evidence, if any, as the Company or the transfer agent may require. 

AI 21.2
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8.6   Changes in share capital 

        Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company may: 

        (a)     by Board resolution or by ordinary resolution: 

                (i)      create one or more classes or series of shares or if none of the shares of a class or series 
of shares are allotted or issued, eliminate a class or series of shares; or 

                (ii)     increase, reduce or eliminate the maximum number of shares that the Company is 
authorised to issue of any class or series of shares or establish a maximum number of shares 
that the Company is authorised to issue out of any class or series of shares for which no 
maximum is established; or 

                (iii)     subdivide or consolidate all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares; or 

                (iv)    if the Company is authorised to issue shares of a class of shares with par value, decrease 
that par value or if none of the shares of that class of shares are allotted or issued, increase 
the par value of those shares; or 

                (v)     change all or any of its unissued shares with par value into shares without par value or any 
of its unissued shares without par value into shares with par value or change all or any of its 
fully paid issued shares with par value into shares without par value; or 

                (vi)    alter the identifying name of any of its shares; and 

        (b)     by special resolution of Shareholders, otherwise alter its shares or authorised share structure and, 
if applicable, alter its Notice of Articles and Articles accordingly. 

8.7   Variation of rights 

        Subject to Corporations Act, the Company may: 

        (a)     by Board resolution or by ordinary resolution, in each case as determined by the Board: 

                (i)      create special rights or restrictions for, and attach those special rights or restrictions to, the 
shares of any class or series of shares; or 

                (ii)     vary or delete any special rights or restrictions attached to the shares of any class or series 
of shares if none of those shares have been issued; and 

        (b)     by special resolution of the Shareholders of the class or series affected, do any of the acts in 
paragraph 8.7(a), if any of the shares of the class or series of shares have been issued, and alter 
its Notice of Articles and Articles accordingly. 

8.8   General meetings 

        The Company must hold an AGM of Shareholders at least once in each calendar year, and not more 
than 15 months after the last AGM, unless the AGM has been deferred or waived in accordance with 
the Corporations Act at such time and place as determined by the Board. In addition, the Board will 
convene a meeting of Shareholders upon the written requisition of Shareholders entitled to exercise 
five per cent. or more of the issued shares that carry the right to vote at the meeting. 

        The accidental omission to send notice of any meeting of Shareholders to, or the non-receipt of any 
notice by, any of the persons entitled to notice does not invalidate any proceedings at the meeting. 
Any person entitled to notice of a meeting of Shareholders may in writing or otherwise, waive that 
entitlement or may agree to reduce the period of that notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting of 
Shareholders is a waiver of entitlement to notice of the meeting unless that person attends the meeting 
for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting 
is not lawfully called. 

8.9   Notice of general meetings 

        The Company must send notice of the date, time and location of any meeting of Shareholders to each 
Shareholder entitled to attend the meeting, to each Director, and to the auditor of the Company, at 
least 21 days before the meeting. 
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8.10 Remuneration and appointment of Directors 

        The Board are entitled to the remuneration for acting as Directors, if any, as the Board may from time 
to time determine. If the Board so decides, the remuneration of the Directors, if any, will be determined 
by the Shareholders. That remuneration may be in addition to any salary or other remuneration paid 
to any officer or employee of the Company as such, who is also a Director. 

        Pursuant to the Articles, the Shareholders entitled to vote at the AGM of Shareholders for the election 
of Directors must elect, or in a unanimous resolution of Shareholders, appoint, a Board consisting of 
the number of Directors for the time being set under the Articles. No election, appointment or 
designation of an individual as Director is valid unless: (a) the individual consents to be a Director in 
the manner provided for in the Corporations Act; or (b) the individual is elected or appointed at a 
meeting at which the individual is present and the individual does not refuse, at the meeting, to be a 
Director; or (c) with respect to first Directors, the designation is otherwise valid under the 
Corporations Act. 

8.11 Disqualification and retirement of Directors 

        A Director ceases to be a Director when: (a) the term of office of the Director expires; or (b) the Director 
dies; or (c) the Director resigns as a Director by notice in writing provided to the Company or a lawyer 
for the Company; or (d) the Director is removed from office as provided for below. 

        Shareholders may remove any Director from office before the expiration of his or her term by special 
resolution. 

        The Board may remove any Director before the expiration of his or her term of office if the Director is 
convicted of an indictable offence, or if the Director ceases to be qualified to act as a Director of a 
company and does not promptly resign. 

8.12 Powers and duties of Directors 

        Subject to the Articles and the Corporations Act, the Board must manage or supervise management 
of the business and affairs of the Company and have the authority to exercise all such powers of the 
Company as are not, by the Articles or the Corporations Act, reserved for the Shareholders. 

        The Board may from time to time, by power of attorney or other instrument, appoint any person to be 
the attorney of the Company for such purposes, and with such powers, authorities and discretions 
and for such period, and with such remuneration and subject to such conditions as the Board may 
think fit. Any such attorney may be authorised by the Board to sub-delegate all or any of the powers, 
authorities and discretions for the time being vested in him or her. 

8.13 Proceedings of the Board 

        The Articles provide that the Board may meet to conduct business and they may regulate their 
meetings as they think fit. Meetings of the Board held at regular intervals may be held at the place, at 
the time and on the notice, if any, as the Board may from time to time determine. Questions arising at 
any Board meeting are to be decided by a majority of votes and, in the case of an equality of votes, 
the chair of the meeting does not have a second or casting vote. 

        The chair at a meeting of Board can be: (i) the chair of the Board, if any; (ii) in the absence of the chair 
of the Board or if designated by the chair, the president, a Director or other officer; or (iii) any other 
Director or officer chosen by the Board if: (a) neither the chair of the Board nor the president is present 
at the meeting within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting; (b) neither the chair of the 
Board nor the president is willing to chair the meeting; or (c) the chair of the Board and the president 
have advised the secretary, if any, or any other Director, that they will not be present at the meeting. 

        A Director may participate in a Board meeting in person, by telephone or by another communications 
medium, provided all other Directors who wish to participate in that meeting have consented to the 
other communications medium. 

        The Board may set the quorum necessary to transact business of the Board, and, if not so set, the 
quorum is deemed to be a majority of Board. 
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        A resolution of the Board may be passed without a meeting if each of the Directors entitled to vote on 
the resolution consents to it in writing. 

8.14 Interests of Directors and officers 

        The Articles provide that a Director or senior officer who holds a disclosable interest (as the term is 
used in the Corporations Act) in a contract or a transaction into which the Company has entered or 
proposes to enter is liable to account to the Company for any profit that accrues to the Director or 
senior officer under or as a result of the contract or transaction only if and to the extent provided in the 
Corporations Act. 

        A Director who holds a disclosable interest in a contract or transaction into which the Company has 
entered or proposes to enter is not entitled to vote on any Directors’ resolution to approve that contract 
or transaction, unless all the Directors have a disclosable interest in that contract or transaction, in 
which case any or all of those Directors may vote on such resolution. 

        A Director or senior officer who holds any office or possesses any property, right or interest that could 
result, directly or indirectly, in the creation of a duty or interest that materially conflicts with that 
individual’s duty or interest as a Director or senior officer, must disclose the nature and extent of the 
conflict as required by the Corporations Act. 

8.15 Indemnity 

        The Articles provide that the Company shall indemnify, to the greatest extent permitted under the 
Corporations Act, its Directors and officers, former Directors and officers, alternate Directors, and their 
respective heirs and personal or other legal representatives, against all eligible penalties to which such 
person is or may be liable, and the Company must, after the final disposition of an eligible proceeding, 
pay the expenses actually and reasonably incurred by such person in respect of that proceeding. 

8.16 Borrowing powers 

        The Company, if authorised by the Board, may: 

        (a)     borrow money in the manner and amount, on the security, from the sources and on the terms 
and conditions that the Board considers appropriate; 

        (b)     issue bonds, debentures and other debt obligations either outright or as security for any liability 
or obligation of the Company or any other person and at such discounts or premiums and on 
such other terms as the Board considers appropriate; 

        (c)     guarantee the repayment of money by any other person or the performance of any obligation of 
any other person; and 

        (d)     mortgage, charge, whether by way of specific or floating charge, grant a security interest in, or 
give other security on, the whole or any part of the present and future assets and undertaking of 
the Company. 

8.17 Dividends 

        Subject to the Corporations Act, the Board may from time to time declare and authorise payment of 
such dividends as they consider appropriate. 

        The Board may set a date as the record date for the purpose of determining Shareholders entitled to 
receive payment of a dividend. The record date must not precede the date on which the dividend is 
to be paid by more than two months. If no record date is set, the record date is 5 p.m. on the date on 
which the Board passes the resolution declaring the dividend. 

        All dividends on shares of any class or series of shares must be declared and paid according to the 
number of shares held. 

        No dividends bear interest against the Company. 

        Any dividend or other distribution payable in money in respect of shares may be paid by cheque, made 
payable to the order of the person to whom it is sent and mailed to the registered address or the 
Shareholder. 
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8.18 Pre-emptive rights 

        There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company that require new Common Shares to be issued 
on a pre-emptive basis to existing Shareholders. 

 

 9.     Information on the Directors and Senior Managers 
9.1   The Directors and Senior Managers, their functions within the Company and brief biographies are set 

out in Part 9 (Directors, Senior Managers and Corporate Governance) of this document. 

9.2   Details of the names of companies and partnerships (excluding directorships in the Company) of which 
the Directors and Senior Managers are or have been members of the administrative, management or 
supervisory bodies or partners at any time in the five years preceding the date of this document are 
set out below: 

         Name                        Current Partnerships/Directorships              Past Partnerships/Directorships 

        Directors 

        Darin Labrenz             –                                                                  – 

        Graeme Currie            Balmoral Resources Inc.                              – 

        Mark O’Dea                Discovery Metals Corp.                               NexGen Energy Ltd  
                                          Liberty Gold Corp.                                       True Gold Mining Inc.  
                                          Oxygen Capital Corp.                                  True North Nickel Inc. 
                                          Sun Metals Corp. 

        Robert Pease              Endurance Gold Corp.                                Equinox Gold Corp.  
                                          FPX Nickel Corp.                                         Luna Gold Corp.  
                                          Libero Copper Corp.                                   Red Eagle Mining Corp. 
                                          Liberty Gold Corp.                                       Sabina Gold & Silver Corp. 

        Troy Fierro                   –                                                                  Orla Mining Ltd 
                                                                                                              Gold Canyon Resources Inc. 

        Lenard Boggio            British Columbia Hydro and Power              Alderon Iron Ore Corp.  
                                          Authority                                                      Armor Minerals Inc.  
                                          Equinox Gold Corp.                                     Augusta Resources Corp.  
                                          Genome BC                                                Great Western Minerals Group Ltd 
                                          LFB Investments Ltd                                   Lithium Americas Corp.  
                                          Sprott Resource Holdings Inc.                     Polaris Materials Corp. 
                                          Titan Mining Corp. 

        Senior Managers 

        Sean Tetzlaff               Liberty Gold Corp.                                       True North Nickel Inc. 
                                          Oxygen Capital Corp.  
                                          Sun Metals Corp.                                          

        Phil Smerchanski        –                                                                  T3 Exploration Ltd  
                                                                                                              True North Nickel Inc. 

        Ken Donner                –                                                                  – 

        Christopher Lee          Touchstone Geoscience Inc.                        0838331 BC Ltd  
                                                                                                              True Gold Mining Inc. 

9.3   Lenard Boggio was a director of Great Western Minerals Group Ltd (“GWMG”) from January 2013 
until his resignation, together with all of the then current directors of GWMG, on 3 July 2015. On 
30 April 2015, GWMG was granted protection from its creditors under the Companies’ Creditors 
Arrangements Act R.S.C.1985, upon receiving an initial order from the Ontario Court of Justice 
Commercial List. On 2 December 2015, GWMG filed an assignment in bankruptcy under the 
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act R.S.C.1985, subsequent to which the assets of the company were 
distributed among its creditors. 

AI 14.1
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9.4   Robert Pease was a director of Red Eagle Mining Corp. (“Red Eagle”) from June 2011 until 
8 November 2018. In August 2018, Red Eagle obtained a firm commitment from its largest shareholder, 
Annibale SAC (“Annibale”), to refinance the Santa Rosa mine in Columbia, Red Eagle’s sole project. 
In October 2018, Annibale reneged on its commitment and, as a result, Red Eagle’s secured lenders 
appointed FTI Consulting Canada, Inc. as receiver over the assets of Red Eagle and REMDC Holding 
Limited. It is expected that legal action will commence against Annibale for defaulting on its financing 
commitment. 

9.5   Save as set out above, none of the Directors or Senior Managers: 

        (a)     have any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences for at least the previous five years; or 

        (b)     have been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation while acting in the capacity 
of a member of the administrative, management or supervisory body or of a senior manager of 
any company for at least the previous five years; or 

        (c)     have been subject to any official public incriminations and/or sanctions by any statutory or 
regulatory authority (including designated professional bodies) for at least the previous five 
years; or 

        (d)     have ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a company, or from acting as 
a member of the administrative, management or supervisor bodies of a company, or from acting 
the management or conduct of the affairs of any company for at least the previous five years. 

9.6   There are no family relationships between any of the Directors or Senior Managers. 

9.7   Save as set out below, there are no potential or actual conflicts of interest between any duties owed 
by the Directors or the Senior Managers to the Company and their private interests and/or other duties, 
save for their interest as holders of securities of the Company: 

        (a)     each of Mark O’Dea and Sean Tetzlaff are directors and shareholders of Oxygen Capital, which 
provides technical and administrative services to the Company in accordance with the Oxygen 
Capital Services Agreement, including providing some staffing who are seconded to the 
Company, office facilities and other administrative functions. During the nine months ended 
31  December 2018, a total of C$1,508,921 (financial year ended 31 March 2018 was 
C$1,574,696) was paid or accrued to Oxygen as a reimbursement of costs incurred by Oxygen 
on behalf of the Company. Each of Sean Tetzlaff, Phil Smerchanski and Christopher Lee receive 
remuneration directly from Oxygen Capital; they do not receive any additional compensation from 
Oxygen Capital. Further details of the Oxygen Capital Services Agreement are set out at 
paragraph 17.1 of this Part 16 (Additional Information); and 

        (b)     each of Mark O’Dea and Sean Tetzlaff are directors and shareholders of each of Liberty Gold 
Corp. (TSX: LGD) (“Liberty Gold”) and Sun Metals Corp. (TSX-V: SUNM.V) (“Sun Metals”). 
Liberty Gold and Sun Metals are both explorative junior natural resources companies, with Liberty 
Gold’s main business activity being the exploration and development of gold projects in Utah and 
Idaho, and Sun Metal’s main business activity being the exploration and development of a 
polymetallic asset at the Stardust Project in British Columbia, Canada. Being directors and 
shareholders of each of Liberty Gold and Sun Metals means that there is a risk of Dr O’Dea and 
Mr Tetzlaff use their respective knowledge of the Company to divert opportunities away from the 
Company to the detriment of the Company and the Shareholders. 
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10.   Directors’ and Senior Managers’ interests 
 

10.1 The number of Common Shares held by the Directors and Senior Managers (all of which are held 
beneficially unless otherwise stated) is as follows: 

Number of Percentage 

Common of Share 

Name Shares  Capital 

Directors 

Darin Labrenz                                                                                                        1,500,000              0.42 
Graeme Currie(1)                                                                                                                                                                        2,300,000              0.64 
Mark O’Dea(2)                                                                                                                                                                               5,379,800              1.50 
Robert Pease                                                                                                            451,818              0.13 
Troy Fierro                                                                                                                 900,000              0.25 
Lenard Boggio(3)                                                                                                                                                                             600,000              0.17 

Senior Managers 

Sean Tetzlaff(4)                                                                                                        1,637,125              0.46 
Phil Smerchanski                                                                                                                  –                    – 
Ken Donner(5)                                                                                                                                                                              125,000              0.03 
Christopher Lee                                                                                                        100,000              0.03 

Notes 

(1)       Includes 150,000 Common Shares held by Mr Currie’s spouse. 

(2)       Includes 2,285,000 Common Shares held by Big Fish Holdings LLC, of which Dr O’Dea and his spouse are the sole shareholders. 

(3)       Includes 300,000 Common Shares held by Mr Boggio’s spouse. 

(4)       Includes 60,000 Common Shares held by Mr Tetzlaff’s spouse. 

(5)       Includes 100,000 Common Shares held by Mr Donner’s spouse. 
 

 10.2 Details of Options granted to the Directors and Senior Managers are set out in paragraphs 15.1 – 15.3 
of this Part 16 (Additional Information). 

11.   Major Shareholders 
11.1 Save as set out below, as at the Last Practicable Date, the Company is not aware of any person who, 

directly or indirectly, is interested in five per cent. or more of the Company’s capital or voting rights: 

                                                                                                                             Number of    Percentage 

                                                                                                                               Common        of Share 

Name                                                                                                                          Shares           Capital 

AngloGold(1)                                                                                                                                                                               50,021,251              14.1 
2176423 Ontario(2)                                                                                                                                                              36,000,000              10.2 
Evanachan(3)                                                                                                                                                                             18,000,000                5.0 

Notes 

(1)       AngloGold also owns 12,325,000 Warrants exercisable into 12,325,000 Common Shares. 

(2)      2176423 Ontario is an entity beneficially owned and controlled by Eric Sprott. 2176423 Ontario also owns 18,000,000  
Warrants exercisable into 18,000,000 Common Shares.  

(3)      Evanachan is an entity wholly-owned and controlled by Robert McEwen. 

11.2 Neither of the Shareholders named in paragraph 11.1 have different voting rights from other 
Shareholders. 

11.3 The Company is not aware of any person who, directly or indirectly, owns or controls the Company. 
The Company is not aware of any arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date 
result in a change of control of the Company. 

AI 18.1  
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12.   Directors’ and Senior Managers’ service agreements 
 

 12.1 Directors 

        The Directors and their functions are set out in Part 9 (Directors, Senior Managers and Corporate 

Governance) of this document. The Directors are appointed at each AGM of the Shareholders and 
may also be appointed at a special meeting of Shareholders. 

        Once appointed, Directors hold office until the close of the next AGM following their appointment, or 
until a successor is duly elected or appointed or his or her office is earlier vacated in accordance with 
the Corporations Act and the Articles. 

        Directors who are not officers or employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries are compensated 
for their services as Directors through annual retainer fees and Options, issuable from time to time 
under the Option Plan based on recommendations of the Compensation Committee. 

        A director’s term of office is terminable in accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act. 
Pursuant to the Corporations Act, a director will cease to hold office by reason of: (a) death or 
resignation; or (b) expiration of his or her term of office; or (c) removal or disqualification in accordance 
with the provisions of the Corporations Act. A director may be removed from office if the shareholders 
of a corporation so vote by special resolution or otherwise as provided for in the Articles. A director 
may become disqualified if: (a) he is less than 18 years of age; or (b) is found by a court to be of 
unsound mind; or (c) is an undischarged bankrupt; or (d) is convicted of an offense involving fraud. 

        The Directors are subject to the Canadian common law fiduciary duty in respect of the Company which 
obliges them not to disclose the confidential information of the Company and to act honestly and in 
good faith. 

        On Admission, the Board will comprise of the Directors set out in Part 9 (Directors, Senior Managers 

and Corporate Governance) of this document. 

        The Company has not entered into a service agreement with Mr Graeme Currie, Mr Robert Pease, 
Mr Troy Fierro, Mr Lenard Boggio or Dr Mark O’Dea, each of whom are Directors; however, the 
Company has entered into the Oxygen Capital Services Agreement with Oxygen Capital, a company 
of which Mark O’Dea is a director. The terms of the Oxygen Capital Services Agreement are further 
described at paragraph 17.1 of this Part 16 (Additional Information). 

        Darin Labrenz 

        The Company entered into an employment agreement with Darin Labrenz on 3 September 2014, 
effective 1 April 2014. The agreement provides that Mr Labrenz will provide services to the Company 
in his role as President, CEO and Director for an annual salary of C$200,000. Mr Labrenz’s salary was 
increased to C$275,000 on 1 January 2017 and to C$400,000 on 1 January 2019. 

        Under Mr Labrenz’s employment agreement, termination of employment without cause entitles 
Mr Labrenz to receive any unpaid salary, an additional lump sum amount equal to two weeks plus one 
month per completed year of service calculated from the date of employment to a maximum of 
12 months. Any outstanding Options shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with the original 
terms thereof, whether or not vested, until the earlier of the normal expiry or such earlier time as 
determined by the Board. The Company would continue to pay benefits for Mr Labrenz until the earlier 
of six months from termination or the date at which Mr Labrenz obtained similar benefits through other 
employment. The Company would also pay Mr Labrenz an amount equal to six months of his long-
term disability insurance premiums. 

        Termination with cause entitles Mr Labrenz to receive only any unpaid salary plus an amount of any 
accrued unpaid vacation pay to the date of termination and the amount, if any, of any other 
compensation payable to him which has not been paid. 

        In the event of an Employment Change of Control, Mr Labrenz shall be entitled to a lump sum payment 
equal to 36 months of his base salary plus the cost of his benefits. Additionally, he shall be entitled to 
a bonus payment equal to three times the average bonus paid in the previous two years. 

AI 16.2

93



12.2 Senior Managers 

        Sean Tetzlaff 

        Sean Tetzlaff is an employee and director of Oxygen Capital, and, pursuant to the Oxygen Capital 
Services Agreement, is allocated to the Company on a 100 per cent. basis. The terms of the Oxygen 
Capital Services Agreement are further described at paragraph 17.1 of this Part 16 (Additional 

Information). Mr Tetzlaff is entitled to an annual salary of C$260,000. 

        On 13 May 2014, Sean Tetzlaff and the Company entered into the ST Change of Control Agreement. 
The agreement was amended on 22 October 2018. Pursuant to the agreement, in the event of an 
Employment Change of Control, Mr Tetzlaff shall be entitled to a lump sum payment equal to 24 months 
of his base salary plus the cost of his benefits. Additionally, he shall be entitled to a bonus payment 
equal to two times the average bonus paid in the previous two years. 

        Any outstanding unvested Options shall immediately vest on an Employment Change of Control and 
any unexercised portion of such Options shall be exercisable for a term that is the lesser of (i) two 
years after an Employment Change of Control; and (ii) the remaining term of such Options. 

        Phil Smerchanski 

        Phil Smerchanski is an employee of Oxygen Capital, and, pursuant to the Oxygen Capital Services 
Agreement, is allocated to the Company on a 100 per cent. basis (the terms of the Oxygen Capital 
Services Agreement are further described at paragraph 17.1 of this Part 16 (Additional Information)). 
Mr Smerchanski is entitled to an annual salary of C$245,000. 

        On 1 April 2014, Phil Smerchanski and the Company entered into the PS Change of Control 
Agreement. The agreement was amended on 22 October 2018. Pursuant to the agreement, in the 
event of an Employment Change of Control, Mr Smerchanski shall be entitled to a lump sum payment 
equal to 24 months of his base salary plus the cost of his benefits. Additionally, he shall be entitled to 
a bonus payment equal to two times the average bonus paid in the previous two years. 

        Any outstanding unvested Options shall immediately vest on an Employment Change of Control and 
any unexercised portion of such Options shall be exercisable for a term that is the lesser of (i) two 
years after an Employment Change of Control; and (ii) the remaining term of such Options. 

        Ken Donner 

        The Company entered into an employment agreement with Ken Donner on 29 September 2016. The 
agreement was amended on 22 October 2018. The agreement provided that Mr Donner will provide 
services to the Company in his role as Vice President, Operations of the Corporation for an annual 
salary of C$200,000. Mr Donner’s salary increased to C $210,000 per annum on 1 January 2018 and 
to C$300,000 on 1 January 2019. 

        Under Mr Donner’s employment agreement, termination of employment without cause entitles 
Mr Donner to receive any unpaid salary, an additional lump sum amount equal to two weeks plus one 
month per completed year of service calculated from the date of employment to a maximum of 
12 months. Any outstanding Options shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with the original 
terms thereof, whether or not vested until the earlier of the normal expiry or such earlier time as 
determined by the Board. The Company would continue to pay benefits for Ken Donner for the duration 
of the severance period. 

        Termination with cause entitles Ken Donner to receive only any unpaid salary plus an amount of any 
accrued unpaid vacation pay to the date of termination and the amount, if any, of any other 
compensation payable to him which has not been paid. 

        In the event of an Employment Change of Control of the Company, Mr Donner shall be entitled to a 
lump sum payment equal to 24 months of his base salary plus the cost of his benefits. Additionally, he 
shall be entitled to a bonus payment equal to two times the average bonus paid in the previous 
two years. 
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        Christopher Lee 

        Christopher Lee is an employee of Oxygen Capital, and, pursuant to the Oxygen Capital Services 
Agreement, is allocated to the Company on a 100 per cent. basis. The terms of the Oxygen Capital 
Services Agreement are further described at paragraph 17.1 of this Part 16 (Additional Information). 
Mr Lee is entitled to an annual salary of C$220,000. 

        On 17 May 2016, Christopher Lee and the Company entered into the CL Change of Control 
Agreement. This agreement was amended on 22 October 2018. Pursuant to the agreement, in the 
event of an Employment Change of Control of the Corporation, Mr Lee shall be entitled to a lump sum 
payment equal to 24 months of his base salary plus the cost of his benefits. Additionally, he shall be 
entitled to a bonus payment equal to two times the average bonus paid in the previous two years. 

        Any outstanding unvested Options shall immediately vest on an Employment Change of Control and 
any unexercised portion of such Options shall be exercisable for a term that is the lesser of (i) two 
years after an Employment Change of Control; and (ii) the remaining term of such Options. 

12.3 Employment Change of Control 

        For purposes of the Change of Control Agreements, and in the case of Darin Labrenz and Ken Donner, 
their respective service agreements with the Company, an “Employment Change of Control” is 
defined as the occurrence of any of the following events or transactions: 

        (a)     the Company sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all (90 per cent. or more) 
of its assets; or 

        (b)     any person, or combination of persons acting jointly in concert by virtue of an agreement, 
arrangement, commitment or understanding, by virtue of a takeover bid as that term is defined 
in the Securities Act (Ontario) 1990 or otherwise, acquires from a person or persons other than 
the Company 50 per cent. or more of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities 
of the Company; or 

        (c)     a merger, amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation, reorganisation or transfer takes place in 
which securities of the Company possessing more than 50 per cent. of the total combined voting 
power of the Company’s outstanding voting securities are acquired by a person or persons 
different from the persons holding those voting securities immediately prior to such event, and 
the composition of the Board following such event is such that the Directors prior to the 
transaction constitute less than 50 per cent. of the Board membership following the event; or 

        (d)     individuals who constitute the Board as at the date of this document (“Incumbent Board”) cease 
for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board, provided, however, that any individual 
becoming a Director subsequent to the Last Practicable Date, whose election, or nomination for 
election by the Shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the Directors then 
comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member 
of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial 
assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened proxy contest with respect to 
the election or removal of Directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents 
by or on behalf of a person other than the management or the Board of the Company; or 

        (e)     any person or any combination of persons acting jointly or in concert by virtue of an agreement, 
arrangement, commitment or understanding acquires, directly or indirectly, the right to appoint a 
majority of the Directors. 
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13.   Summary of remuneration and benefits 
 

13.1 A summary of the amount of remuneration paid by the Company to the Directors and Senior Managers 
(including any contingent or deferred compensation) and benefits in kind for the nine-month period 
ended 31 December 2018 for their services, in all capabilities, to the Company is set out below: 

Non-Equity  
Incentive  

Equity Incentive Plan  
                                                 Short-                Plan                          Compe-                            Common 
                                                           Term         Compensation                       nsation                                     Shares 
                                                          Basic                                                          Annual                             Percentage 
                                                         Salary                                                       Incentive                                     of Total 
                                                        & Fees        Shares         Options             Plans              Total         Remun- 
                                                               C$              C$                C$                 C$                 C$           eration 

Directors 
Darin Labrenz                         206,250                 –                   –         165,000        371,250                    – 
Graeme Currie                        120,000                 –                   –                    –         120,000                    – 
Mark O’Dea                            101,250                 –                   –                    –         101,250                    – 
Robert Pease                           26,250                 –                   –                    –           26,250                    – 
Troy Fierro                                26,250                 –                   –                    –           26,250                    – 
Lenard Boggio                          33,750                 –                   –                    –           33,750                    – 
 
Senior Managers 
Sean Tetzlaff                           157,500                 –                   –           84,000        241,500                    – 
Phil Smerchanski                    157,500                 –                   –           84,000        241,500                    – 
Ken Donner                            157,500                 –                   –           84,000        241,500                    – 
Christopher Lee                      142,500                 –                   –           76,000        218,500                    – 

13.2 Other than Darin Labrenz, Sean Tetzlaff, Phil Smerchanski, Ken Donner and Christopher Lee (details 
of which are summarised at paragraphs 12.1 and 12.2 of this Part 16 (Additional Information)), neither 
the Directors nor the Senior Managers are entitled to any benefits upon termination of their respective 
service agreements or letters of appointment. 

14.   Pension arrangements 
The Company does not have a pension plan or a deferred compensation plan. 

  

 15.   Option and incentives 
 15.1 As at the Last Practicable Date, the following Options were outstanding: 

                    Aggregate  
         Option  Exercise  
       Exercise Price  
            Price Option of Options 

Number of Options                C$ Expiration Date C$ 

200,000             0.35 10 February 2020 70,000 
650,000             0.28 19 March 2020 182,000 
33,333             0.11 3 December 2020 3,667 
2,700,000             0.11 11 December 2020 297,000 
400,000             0.63 26 May 2021 252,000 
300,000             0.72 11 October 2021 216,000 
75,000             0.72 14 November 2021 54,000 
4,635,000             0.44 21 December 2021 2,039,400 
200,000             0.54 16 June 2022 108,000 
100,000             0.54 24 July 2022 54,000 
5,160,000             0.49 15 December 2022 2,528,400 
50,000             0.65 5 June 2023 32,500 
200,000             0.65 11 June 2023 130,000 
200,000             0.54 6 May 2024 108,000 
250,000             0.64 15 November 2024 160,000 
–––––––––––––    –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
15,153,333                   – – 6,234,967 
–––––––––––––    –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––––    –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––
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15.2 As at the Last Practicable Date, the outstanding Options were delineated between Optionholders 
as follows: 

                     Aggregate  

           Option Exercise  

        Exercise Price 

Name Number of             Price Option of Options 

Options                 C$ Expiration Date C$ 

Directors 

Darin Labrenz                                                  750,000              0.49 15 December 2022 367,500  
                                                                       750,000              0.44 21 December 2021 330,000  
                                                                       450,000              0.11 11 December 2020 49,500  
                                                                       350,000              0.28 19 March 2020 98,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                    2,300,000                    – – 845,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Graeme Currie                                                 500,000              0.49 15 December 2022 245,000  
                                                                       500,000              0.44 21 December 2021 220,000  
                                                                       450,000              0.11 11 December 2020 49,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                    1,450,000                    – – 514,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Mark O’Dea                                                     400,000              0.49 15 December 2022 196,000  
                                                                       400,000              0.44 21 December 2021 176,000  
                                                                       450,000              0.11 11 December 2020 49,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                    1,250,000                    – – 421,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Robert Pease                                                   300,000              0.49 15 December 2022 147,000  
                                                                       300,000              0.44 21 December 2021 132,000  
                                                                       250,000              0.11 11 December 2020 27,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       850,000                    – – 306,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Troy Fierro                                                        300,000              0.49 15 December 2022 147,000  
                                                                       300,000              0.44 21 December 2021 132,000  
                                                                       250,000              0.11 11 December 2020 27,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       850,000                    – – 306,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Lenard Boggio                                                 300,000              0.49 15 December 2022 147,000  
                                                                       300,000              0.44 21 December 2021 132,000  
                                                                       250,000              0.11 11 December 2020 27,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       850,000                    – – 306,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Senior Managers 

Sean Tetzlaff                                                    500,000              0.49 15 December 2022 245,000  
                                                                       500,000              0.44 21 December 2021 220,000  
                                                                       250,000              0.11 11 December 2020 27,500  
                                                                       150,000              0.28 19 March 2020 42,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                    1,400,000                    – – 534,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Phil Smerchanski                                             500,000              0.49 15 December 2022 245,000  
                                                                       500,000              0.44 21 December 2021 220,000  
                                                                       200,000              0.63 26 May 2021 126,000 
                                                                       250,000              0.11 11 December 2020 27,500  
                                                                       150,000              0.28 19 March 2020 42,000 
                                                                       200,000              0.35 10 February 2020 70,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                    1,800,000                    – – 730,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
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                                                                                                          Aggregate  

                                                                                               Option Exercise  

                                                                                             Exercise Price 

Name                                                           Number of             Price Option of Options 

                                                                        Options                 C$ Expiration Date C$ 

Ken Donner                                                     500,000              0.49 15 December 2022 245,000  
                                                                       500,000              0.44 21 December 2021 220,000  
                                                                       300,000              0.72 11 October 2021 216,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                    1,300,000                    – – 681,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Christopher Lee                                               500,000              0.49 15 December 2022 245,000  
                                                                       400,000              0.44 21 December 2021 176,000  
                                                                       200,000              0.63 26 May 2021 126,000 
                                                                       100,000              0.11 11 December 2020 11,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                    1,200,000                    – – 558,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Other Optionholders                                                                            

Mike Wood                                                        10,000              0.49 15 December 2022 4,900 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                         10,000                    – – 4,900 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Kathy Moes                                                       50,000              0.49 15 December 2022 24,500 
                                                                         35,000              0.44 21 December 2021 15,400 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                         85,000                    – – 39,900 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Lauren McDougall                                              75,000              0.49 15 December 2022 36,750 
                                                                         75,000              0.44 21 December 2021 33,000 
                                                                         33,333              0.11 3 December 2020 3,667 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       183,333                    – – 73,417 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
First Globe Capital International Inc                  200,000              0.65 11 June 2023 130,000 
                                                                       200,000              0.54 16 June 2022 108,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       400,000                    – – 238,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
O&M Partners LLC                                            75,000              0.72 14 November 2021 54,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                         75,000                    – – 54,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Laura Moran                                                      75,000              0.49 15 December 2022 36,750 
                                                                         75,000              0.44 21 December 2021 33,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       150,000                    – – 69,750 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Susie Bell                                                           50,000              0.49 15 December 2022 24,500 
                                                                       100,000              0.54 24 July 2022 54,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       150,000                    – – 78,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Adam Buchanan                                              250,000              0.49 15 December 2022 122,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       250,000                    – – 122,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Anthony Stechishen                                         100,000              0.49 15 December 2022 49,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       100,000                    – – 49,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Koby Kushner                                                    50,000              0.65 5 June 2023 32,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                         50,000                    – – 32,500 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Adrian O’Brien                                                 200,000              0.54 6 May 2024 108,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       200,000                    – – 108,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
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                                                                                                          Aggregate  

                                                                                               Option Exercise  

                                                                                             Exercise Price 

Name                                                           Number of             Price Option of Options 

                                                                        Options                 C$ Expiration Date C$ 

Ashley Kate                                                     250,000              0.64 15 November 2024 160,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
                                                                       250,000                    – – 160,000 
                                                                                    ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––                                                                               ––––––––––––     –––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

15.3 Option Plan summary 

        The Company readopted the Option Plan on 28 June 2019, having previously adopted the Option 
Plan on 14 September 2018. The purpose of the Option Plan is to attract and motivate the Directors, 
Senior Managers, officers and employees of the Company (and any of its subsidiaries), employees of 
any management company and consultants to the Company and thereby advance the Company’s 
interests by providing them an opportunity to acquire an equity interest in the Company through the 
exercise of Options granted to them under the Option Plan. 

        Pursuant to the Option Plan, the Board may grant Options to Optionholders in consideration of them 
providing their services to the Company or a subsidiary. The number of shares subject to each Option 
is determined by the Board within the guidelines established by the Option Plan. The Options enable 
the Optionholders to purchase shares of the Company at a price fixed pursuant to such guidelines. 
The Options are exercisable by the Optionholder giving the Company notice and payment of the 
exercise price for the number of shares to be acquired. 

        The Option Plan authorises the Board to grant Options to the Optionholders on the following terms: 

        (a)     the number of shares subject to issuance pursuant to outstanding Options, in the aggregate, 
cannot exceed 10 per cent. of the Company’s issued shares. 

        (b)     the number of shares subject to issuance upon the exercise of Options granted under the Option 
Plan by one Optionholder or all Optionholders providing investor relations services is subject to 
the following limitations: 

                (i)      no Optionholders can be granted Options during a 12 month period to purchase more than: 

                        (A)    five per cent. of the issued shares of the Company unless Disinterested Shareholder 
approval has been obtained (such approval has not been sought); or 

                        (B)    two per cent. of the issued shares of the Company, if the Optionholder is a consultant; 
and 

                (ii)     the aggregate number of shares subject to Options held by all Optionholders providing 
investor relations services cannot exceed two per cent. in the aggregate. 

        (c)     unless the Option Plan has been approved by Disinterested Shareholders (such approval has not 
been obtained), Options granted under the Option Plan, together with all of the Company’s 
previously established and outstanding Options, share option plans, employee share purchase 
plans or any other compensation or incentive mechanisms involving the issuance or potential 
issuance of its shares, shall not result, at any time, in: 

                (i)      the number of shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to Insiders 
exceeding 10 per cent. of the shares outstanding at the time of granting; or 

                (ii)     the grant to Insiders as a group, within a one year period, of Options to purchase that 
number of shares exceeding 10 per cent. of the outstanding shares; or 

                (iii)     the issuance to any one Insider and such Insider’s associates, within a one year period, of 
shares totalling in excess of five per cent. of the outstanding shares. 

        (d)     the exercise price of the Options cannot be set at less than the closing trading price of the 
Common Shares on the day before the granting of the Options. 

        (e)     the Options may be exercisable for up to ten years. 
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        (f)      there are not any mandatory vesting requirements unless the Optionholder is a consultant 
providing investor relations services to the Company, in which case the Options must vest over 
at least 12 months with no more than one-quarter vesting in any three month period. However, 
the Board may impose additional vesting requirements and, subject to obtaining any required 
approval from the TSX-V, may authorise all unvested Options to vest immediately. 

        (g)     if there is a Change of Control, all unvested Options, subject to obtaining any required approval 
from the Exchange, shall vest immediately. 

        (h)     the Options can only be exercised by the Optionholder (to the extent they have already vested) 
for so long as the Optionholder is a Director, Senior Manager, officer or employee of, or consultant 
to, the Company or any subsidiary or is an employee of the Company’s management company 
and within a period thereafter not exceeding the earlier of: 

                (i)      the original expiry date; 

                (ii)     90 days after ceasing to be a Director, Senior Manager, officer or employee of, or consultant 
to, the Company at the request of the Board or for the benefit of another Director or officer; 
and 

                (iii)     if the Optionholder dies, within one year from the Optionholder’s death. 

                If the Optionholder is terminated “for cause”, involuntarily removed or resigns (other than at the 
request of the Board or for the benefit of another Director or officer) from any of such positions 
the Option will terminate concurrently. 

        (i)      the Options are not assignable except to a wholly-owned holding company of the Optionholder. 

        (j)      Disinterested Shareholder Approval must be obtained prior to the reduction of the exercise price 
of Options granted to Insiders of the Company. 

        Any amendments to the Option Plan or outstanding Options are subject to the approval of the TSX-V 
and, if required by the TSX-V, of the Shareholders, possibly with only Disinterested Shareholders entitled 
to vote. The amendment to an outstanding Option will also require the consent of the Optionholder. 

        No Options have been granted under the Option Plan which remain subject to Shareholder approval. 

        The Plan does not permit Options to be transformed into share appreciation rights. 

15.4 Warrants 

        The following is a summary of the principal attributes of the Warrants issued pursuant to the 2018 
Fundraising (governed by a warrant indenture dated 24 May 2018 entered into between the Company 
and the Warrant Agent that has been superseded by the Warrant Indenture), Offering and Non-
Brokered Private Placement and certain provisions of the Warrant Indenture. The summary does not 
purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the detailed provisions of the Warrant Indenture. 
Reference is made to the Warrant Indenture for the full text of the attributes of the Warrants, which 
has been filed by the Company under its SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com. 

        As at the Last Practicable Date, there were 57,672,000 Warrants outstanding. 

        A total of 14,465,000 Warrants entitle its holder, upon payment of the exercise price of C$0.85, to 
purchase one Common Share for a 24 month period, which expires on 24 May 2020. A total of 
43,207,000 Warrants entitle its holder, upon payment of the exercise price of C$0.85, to purchase 
one Common Share for a 24 month period, which expires on 18 July 2022. The Warrants are 
transferable although are not listed or quoted on any stock exchange or market. 

        The Warrants are governed by the Warrant Indenture. The Company designated the Warrant Agent, 
in its Vancouver office, as agent for the Warrants. 

        The Warrant Indenture provides for adjustment in the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise 
of the Warrants and/or the exercise price per Warrant Share upon the occurrence of certain events, 
including: 

        (a)     the issuance of Common Shares or securities exchangeable for, or convertible into, Common 
Shares to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares by way of a stock dividend or 
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other distribution (other than a distribution of Common Shares upon exercise of the Warrants or 
any outstanding options); 

        (b)     the subdivision, redivision or change of the Common Shares into a greater number of shares; 

        (c)     the reduction, combination or consolidation of the Common Shares into a lesser number of 
shares; 

        (d)     the issuance to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares of rights, options or 
warrants under which such holders are entitled, during a period expiring not more than 45 days 
after the record date for such issuance, to subscribe for or purchase Common Shares, or 
securities exchangeable for or convertible into Common Shares, at a price per Common Share 
to the holder (or at an exchange or conversion price per share) of less than 95 per cent. of the 
“current market price”, as defined in the Warrant Indenture, of Common Shares on such record 
date; and 

        (e)     the issuance or distribution to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares of securities, 
including rights, options or warrants to acquire shares of any class or securities exchangeable or 
convertible into any such shares or property or assets and including evidences of indebtedness, 
or any property or other asset (excluding cash dividends). 

        The Warrant Indenture also provides for adjustment in the class and/or number of securities issuable 
upon the exercise of the Warrants and/or exercise price per security in the event of the following 
additional events: 

        (a)     the reclassification of Commons Shares; or 

        (b)     the amalgamation, arrangement or merger with or into any other corporation or other entity (other 
than an amalgamation, arrangement or merger which does not result in any reclassification of 
the outstanding Common Shares or a change of the Common Shares into other shares); or 

        (c)     the sale or conveyance of the property and assets of the Company as an entirety or substantially 
as an entirety to another corporation or other entity. 

        No adjustment in the exercise price or number of Warrant Shares is required to be made unless the 
cumulative effect of such adjustment or adjustments would result in a change of at least one per cent. 
in the exercise price of the Warrants. 

        The Company covenants in the Warrant Indenture that, during the period in which the Warrants are 
exercisable, the Company will give notice to Warrant holders of certain stated events, including events 
that would result in an adjustment to the exercise price for the Warrants or the number of Warrant 
Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, at least 14 days prior to the record date or effective 
date, as the case may be, of such event. 

        No fraction of a Warrant Share will be issued upon the exercise of a Warrant and no cash payment will 
be made in lieu thereof. Warrant holders are not entitled to any voting rights or pre-emptive rights or 
any other rights conferred upon a person as a result of being a holder of Common Shares. 

16.   Subsidiaries, investments and principal establishments 
16.1 The Company does not have any subsidiaries, investments or principal establishments.  

 

 16.2 The Company previously held a 100 per cent. interest in Laurentian Copper Corporation. This 
subsidiary was dormant and therefore the Company arranged for its dissolution, effective 
22 August 2019. 

 

 17.   Material contracts 
The following contracts are outside the course of business and either: (a) have been entered into by the 
Company within two years immediately preceding the date of this document; or (b) contain provisions under 
which the Company has an obligation or entitlement that is or may be material to the Company as at the 
date of this document. 

AI 22
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17.1 Oxygen Capital Services Agreement 

        On 17 March 2014, the Company entered into the Oxygen Capital Services Agreement with Oxygen 
Capital, a company of which Mark O’Dea and Sean Tetzlaff are directors. The agreement was amended 
on 1 October 2017, to reflect the Company’s requirement for committed office space. Pursuant to the 
Oxygen Capital Services Agreement, Oxygen Capital provides technical and administrative services 
on a cost recovery basis. Oxygen Capital does not earn any profit as a result of its relationship with 
the Company. Oxygen Capital’s office is located at Suite 1900, 1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver 
B.C. Canada V6E 2E9 (“Oxygen Capital Office”). Under the terms of the Oxygen Capital Services 
Agreement, and without limiting or abrogating the duties of the Company’s President and Chief 
Executive Officer, or its Chief Financial Officer, Oxygen Capital provides the Company: 

        (a)     access to, and the use of the assets contained in, the Oxygen Capital Office as a “shared facility”; 
and 

        (b)     services, staff and expertise as determined necessary by Chief Executive Officer or its Chief 
Financial Officer. 

        The Oxygen Capital Services Agreement is intended to provide the Company with a number of 
technical and administrative services and access, on an as-needed basis, to Oxygen Capital’s roster 
of geologists, mining engineers, investor relations and financial professionals (“Oxygen Capital 
Talent”) that would not necessarily otherwise be available to the Company at this stage of the 
Company’s development. The Board believes that access to the Oxygen Capital Talent and Oxygen 
Capital Office is also generally at a lower cost than would otherwise be available to the Company if it 
had to seek out and engage such persons or contract for such administrative and office services on 
a full time basis. Oxygen Capital has no management role in the Company. 

        Shared Facilities and General and Administration charges 

        The allocation of Oxygen Capital Office costs to the Company is determined on a monthly basis, based 
on actual costs incurred by Oxygen Capital for operation of the Oxygen Capital Office (“G&A Overhead 
Charge”). The G&A Overhead Charge allocated to the Company reflects the number of individuals 
providing services to the Company relative to the overall number of individuals providing services to 
other entities serviced by Oxygen Capital that have access to the Oxygen Capital Office. 

        There is no prescribed incremental fee, mark-up on actual costs incurred by Oxygen Capital, or 
additional charge paid by the Company to Oxygen Capital, or any of Oxygen Capital’s directors in 
connection with the technical and administrative services received. The G&A Overhead Charge reflects 
an allocation to the Company of the actual cost paid by Oxygen Capital to third-parties for services 
(plus applicable tax) and an allocation of the wages and employment benefits paid to the employees 
of Oxygen Capital providing services to the Company. Oxygen Capital does not make any profit on 
this arrangement. The total G&A Overhead Charge during the nine-month period 31 December 2018 
was C$1,508,921 (financial year ended 31 March 2018 was C$1,574,696 and financial year ended 
31 March 2017 was C $1,413,001). Each of Sean Tetzlaff, Phil Smerchanski and Christopher Lee 
receive remuneration directly from Oxygen Capital; they do not receive any additional compensation 
from Oxygen Capital. 

        Employees 

        Each of Sean Tetzlaff, Phil Smerchanski and Christopher Lee are employees of Oxygen Capital and 
receive their remuneration for their services directly from Oxygen Capital, as described at paragraph 
12.2 of this Part 16 (Additional Information). The total cost to the Company for the ninth-month period 
ended 31 December 2018 was C $875,457 (financial year ended 31 March 2018 was C $849,142 
and financial year ended 31 March 2017 was C $875,639). The Company received services from eight 
employees of Oxygen Capital for the nine-month period ended 31 December 2018 (financial year 
ended 31 March 2018 was 8 and financial year ended 31 March 2017 was seven). 

        Termination of the Oxygen Capital Service Agreement and Indemnification 

        The Oxygen Capital Service Agreement is for an initial term of three years and shall be automatically 
renewed from time to time thereafter for additional terms of one year unless otherwise terminated. The 
Oxygen Capital Service Agreement may be terminated by either party giving at least 180 days’ prior 
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written notice of such termination, or immediately in the event of (i) the commission by Oxygen Capital 
of any fraudulent act, or (ii) upon a wind-up liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy, sale of substantially all 
assets, sale of business or if insolvency proceeding have been commenced or are being contemplated 
by Oxygen Capital. Notwithstanding any termination of the Oxygen Capital Service Agreement, the 
Company will continue to be bound by any agreements contracted on its behalf by Oxygen Capital 
prior to termination and has indemnified Oxygen Capital in connection with the due performance of 
such agreements. 

        Security Deposit 

        Oxygen Capital operates on a cost recovery basis and does not maintain a treasury balance sufficient 
to deliver access to the administrative and technical resources it provides. Accordingly, pursuant to 
the Oxygen Capital Agreement, the Company has paid to Oxygen Capital a security deposit (“Security 
Deposit”) equal to an estimated amount of three months of administrative and technical services. This 
Security Deposit allows Oxygen Capital to manage its invoicing and payment cycle with its suppliers 
and personnel while continuing to provide services to the Company. 

        As at 31 December 2018, the Security Deposit totalled C$305,280 (financial year ended 31 March 
2018 was C $305,280 and financial year ended 31 March 2017 was C$305,280). The Security Deposit 
will be applied to the last invoice, and any surplus will be refunded to the Company within 60 days of 
the effective date of termination, provided that the Company has paid all outstanding or potential future 
fees, costs and expenses. 

Project Financing Package 
17.2 Credit Facility 

        On 6 August 2019, the Company entered into the Credit Facility with Sprott Lending as part of the 
Project Financing Package. The term of the agreement is seven years, over which the Company can 
draw up to US$65 million, structured in multiple tranches. US$10 million was advanced to the 
Company at closing of the agreement, and subsequent tranches are available to the Company on 
satisfaction of customary conditions, primarily relating to the development and advancement of the 
Madsen Project.  

        Sums drawn by the Company under the Credit Facility are subject to variable interest rates indexed to 
the greater of 2.5 per cent. and 3-month LIBOR plus 5.50 per cent. to 6.75 per cent. per annum, with 
100 per cent. of the interest costs being capitalised to the principal until March 2021. A 2.0 per cent. 
arrangement fee is payable pro-rata on the drawdown of each tranche under the agreement. 

        Principal repayments are payable in quarterly instalments from September 2022, with 65 per cent. of 
the total amount advanced by Sprott Lending to be repaid by the Company prior to the maturity date 
of sums drawn under the agreement. The Company can make penalty-free repayments of outstanding 
principal and interest after August 2022.  

        The Credit Facility includes positive and restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company, 
including regarding the making of distributions, the sale or encumbrance of assets, the acquisition of 
assets and the assumption of indebtedness other than that contemplated under the Credit Facility. In 
addition, the Company is required to comply with certain financial covenants. 

        The Credit Facility sets out certain events of default, the continuing occurrence of which would allow 
acceleration of all outstanding sums drawn under the Credit Facility and the cancelation of Sprott 
Lending’s commitments and/or declaration that all or part of any amounts outstanding are immediately 
due and payable and/or payable on demand. The events of default are common for facilities of this 
nature and are, in certain cases, subject to grace periods, thresholds and other qualifications. The 
events of default include, by way of example, failure to pay principal, interest or any other amount 
payable under the Credit Facility, breach of positive or negative covenants and undertakings by the 
Company, and breach of financial covenants. 

        On the date when construction is complete and the Project has successfully completed an agreed 
upon completion test, a fee of 2.25 per cent. of the principal outstanding will be payable in cash or 
Common Shares at Sprott Lending’s option.  
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        There are no terms of hedging, cash sweeps, cash collateralisation or offtake agreement within or 
associated with the Credit Facility.  

17.3 Gold Stream 

        On 6 August 2019, the Company entered into the Gold Stream with Sprott Lending as part of the 
Project Financing Package pursuant to which Sprott Lending agreed to fully advance on closing of the 
agreement US$25 million as prepayment for 5.0 per cent. of the gold production until 50,000 ounces 
of gold has been delivered to Sprott Lending, following which this will reduce to 2.5 per cent. of gold 
production. The agreement also contemplates ongoing payments of 30 per cent. of the spot gold 
price. 

        The term of the agreement is 30 years, which will automatically extend in successive 10 year periods 
provided that the LOM of the Project is continuing and certain other conditions are met, although the 
agreement is terminable either by mutual consent of the parties or under an event of default.  

        The Gold Stream includes positive and restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company, 
including the provision to Sprott Lending of ongoing operational and financial reports, notification of 
Project milestones, the sale or encumbrance of assets, the acquisition of assets and the assumption 
of indebtedness other than that contemplated under the Credit Facility.  

        The Gold Stream sets out certain events of default, the continuing occurrence of which will make sums 
outstanding under the agreement repayable and the agreement terminable by Sprott Lending. The 
events of default are common for agreements of this nature and are, in certain cases, subject to grace 
periods, thresholds and other qualifications. The events of default include, by way of example, failure 
to deliver gold due under the agreement and breach of positive or negative covenants and undertakings 
by the Company. 

        The Gold Stream includes a full buyback option, where the Company may elect to terminate the entire 
Gold Stream on 30 June 2021 by paying US$35 million or on 30 June 2022 by paying US$38 million 
to Sprott Lending. 

17.4 Production payment agreement 

        Ancillary and a conditions precedent to the Credit Facility, on 6 August 2019, the Company and Sprott 
Lending entered into a production payment agreement, pursuant to which the Company has agreed 
to pay a fixed US$10 per ounce production-linked payment on the first 500,000 ounces produced at 
the Madsen Project. Payments from the Company to Sprott Lending are to be financially settled on a 
monthly basis and can be terminated at any time by payment of an early termination fee.  

Madsen Project agreements 
17.5 Services agreement 

        On 16 September 2019, the Company entered into a services agreement with JDS, pursuant to which 
JDS will provide the Company with certain surface EPCM services with respect to the Madsen Project. 
These services include certain preliminary design and engineering services, procurement and 
construction management activities for the Project.  

        The agreement allocates certain risks between the parties, and includes terms such as each of the 
parties indemnifying the other for any claims, demands, causes of action, suits, proceedings, losses, 
damages and costs, liabilities, expenses and judgments (including legal costs) incurred by the other 
for any failure, breach, misrepresentation, breach of representation or warranty or non-fulfilment on 
the part of other, its personnel or any sub-contractor.  

        The term of the agreement is until JDS and the Company have fulfilled their obligations under the 
agreement. The Company can terminate the agreement before completion of the term if JDS is 
adjudged bankrupt or JDS neglects to properly perform its obligations under the agreement or 
otherwise materially breaches its obligations under the agreement and fails to remedy such a default 
or breach after 10 business days’ notice by the Company. JDS can terminate the agreement before 
completion of the term if the Company is adjudged bankrupt or the Company materially breaches its 
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obligations under the agreement and fails to remedy such breach after 20 business days’ notice by 
JDS. The Company can also terminate the agreement at any time by giving notice to JDS.  

17.6 Underground mine design engineering agreement 

        On 16 September 2019, the Company entered into a services agreement with Dumas pursuant to 
which Dumas will provide the Company with certain engineering support services with respect to the 
underground mine design and engineering at the Madsen Project. These services include mine 
ventilation planning, mine services design and distribution and operational based procurement 
assistance.  

        The agreement allocates certain risks between the parties, and includes terms such as Dumas 
indemnifying the Company for any claims, demands, causes of action, suits, proceedings, losses, 
damages and costs, liabilities, expenses and judgments (including legal costs) incurred by the 
Company for any failure, breach, misrepresentation, breach of representation or warranty or non-
fulfilment on the part of Dumas, its personnel or any sub-contractor.  

        The term of the agreement is until Dumas has fully completed the services due under the agreement. 
The Company can terminate the agreement before completion of the term if Dumas is adjudged 
bankrupt or neglects to properly perform the services or is in material default in the performance of its 
obligations under the agreement and Dumas fails to correct such a default or breach after 15 business 
days’ notice by the Company. Dumas also has suspension and termination rights in specified 
circumstances. 

17.7 Project Agreement 

        On 28 July 2019, the Company entered into the Project Agreement with each of the Lac Seul First 
Nation and the Waubaskang First Nation. Pursuant to the Project Agreement, the Company 
acknowledges and respects the rights, history and interests that both the Wabauskang First Nation 
and the Lac Seul First Nation have in the region surrounding the Madsen Project. In turn, both First 
Nations acknowledge and support the Company’s rights and interests in the development and future 
operation of Madsen. The Project Agreement provides for communication, cooperation, and 
collaboration between the First Nations and the Company, and establishes a framework for support 
for current and future operations of the Madsen Red Lake Mine and defines the long-term benefits for 
the First Nations. 

        The Project Agreement confirms the First Nations collaboration with the Company in support of the 
operational permitting process for the Project and all subsequent regulatory authorisations and 
establishes a foundation for employment opportunities, direct contracting opportunities, and the 
Company’s commitment and support for education and training initiatives. Further, the Project 
Agreement confirms the Company’s commitment to sustainable development, to protecting the 
environment, and direct support for environmental monitoring.  

        Pursuant to the Project Agreement, the Company issued the Project Agreement Shares, being 500,000 
Common Shares to each of the Wabauskang First Nation and the Lac Seul First Nation, and agreed 
to establish future financial contributions commensurate with production at Madsen. 

        The Company estimates that the total cost of the Project Agreement, over the LOM as outlined in the 
Technical Report, to be approximately C$14 million. 

17.8 Offering underwriting agreement 

        On 18 July 2019, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with Sprott, as lead 
underwriter, to raise gross process of C$32.5 million (before expenses) by way of issuing 59,100,000 
Offering Units, at a price of C$0.55 per Offering Unit. 

        Each Offering Unit comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase 
warrant that was transferable and would entitle the holder to acquire one Common Share for three 
years from completion of the Offering at a price of C$0.85. Sprott and the syndicate of underwriters 
were further granted an option exercisable, in whole or in party, at any time up to three days prior to 
the closing of the Offering, to purchase such number of Offering Units as equal to 15 per cent. of the 
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Offering Units issued. Sprott and the syndicate of underwriters partially exercised this overallotment 
option and purchased an additional 3,614,000 Offering Units. 

        On 18 July 2019, the Company announced the closing of the Offering together with the Non-Brokered 
Private Placement, pursuant to which the Company issued a total of (i) 62,714,000 Offering Units at a 
price of C$0.55 per Offering Unit, raising gross proceeds (before expenses) of $34.5 million, pursuant 
to the Offering; and (ii) 23,700,000 Offering Units at a price of C$0.55 per Offering Unit, raising gross 
proceeds (before expenses) of C$13.0 million, pursuant to the Non-Brokered Private Placement.  

17.9 March 2019 underwriting agreement 

        On 29 March 2019, Pure Gold entered into an underwriting agreement with Sprott Capital Partners 
LP, as lead underwriter, and Macquarie Capital Markets Canada Ltd. and VT Capital. 

17.10 May 2018 underwriting agreement 

          On 24 May 2018, Pure Gold entered into an underwriting agreement with Sprott Private Wealth LP, 
as lead underwriter, and Macquarie Capital Markets Canada Ltd., Raymond James Ltd, Haywood 
Securities Inc., VT Capital, Canaccord Genuity Corp. and Echelon Wealth Partners. 

17.11 November 2017 underwriting agreement 

          On 1 November 2017, Pure Gold entered into an underwriting agreement with Macquarie Capital 
Markets Canada Ltd., as lead underwriter, Raymond James Ltd., Canaccord Genuity Corp., Haywood 
Securities Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. and National Bank Financial. 

17.12 February 2017 underwriting agreement 

          On 22 February 2017, Pure Gold entered into an underwriting agreement with Macquarie Capital 
Markets Canada Ltd., as lead underwriter, Haywood Securities Inc., Canaccord Genuity Corp., 
Beacon Securities Ltd., Cormark Securities Inc. and Raymond James Ltd. 

Discontinued operations agreements 
17.13 Kinross Option Agreement 

          On 12 March 2018, the Company entered into the Kinross Option Agreement whereby KG 
Exploration, a subsidiary of Kinross, was granted a right to earn a 70 per cent. interest in the 
Company’s Van Horne Project (“Kinross Option”). 

          The Kinross Option vested and commenced on 12 March 2018 and will terminate on the earlier of: 
(i) 12 March 2022, unless extended in accordance with the terms of the Kinross Option Agreement; 
or (ii) the date the Kinross Option is exercised in accordance with the terms of the Kinross Option 
Agreement; or (iii) the date that the Kinross Option or the Kinross Option Agreement is terminated in 
accordance with the terms of the Kinross Option Agreement. 

          To earn its 70 per cent. interest, Kinross must spend a total of C$4 million (“Expenditures”) on the 
Van Horne Project over a four-year period, with a committed minimum of C$750,000 in year one 
(completed) (“Committed Expenditures”), and pay to the Company C$100,000 (“Cash Payment”). 
Kinross may also satisfy the expenditures by making a cash payment to the Company. 

          The Company was appointed as operator of the Van Horne Project for calendar 2018, and as such, 
was entitled to an administration fee equal to 10 per cent. of the approved exploration expenditures. 

          As at 31 December 2018, the Company had received C$910,204 in aggregate funding from Kinross 
and incurred an aggregate of C$959,019 on exploration expenditures, including the administration 
fee of C$97,367 (inclusive of sales tax) due to the Company for operating the Van Horne Project in 
calendar 2018. As a result, the Company had a cash call receivable of C $48,815. This amount was 
received subsequent to 31 December 2018. 

          The Kinross Option Agreement will terminate if: (i) Kinross fails to deliver notice to the Company in 
writing that it will not incur and fund the Expenditures (other than the Committed Expenditures) or 
pay the Cash Payment; or (ii) Kinross fails to incur the Committed Expenditures in accordance with 
the Kinross Option Agreement; or (iii) Kinross fails to incur the Expenditures in accordance with the 
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Kinross Option Agreement; or (iv) Kinross fails to pay the Cash Payment to the Company in 
accordance with the Kinross Option Agreement; or (v) upon the mutual consent of the parties. Further, 
the parties have agreed that the Kinross Option and the Kinross Option Agreement may be terminated 
by Kinross upon written notice to the Company if a material breach or material default has occurred 
in respect of the Company’s obligations under the Kinross Option Agreement, which material breach 
or material default has not been cured by the Company within 20 Business Days or receipt by the 
Company of prior written notice of such material breach or material default from Kinross. 

17.14 Property and sale agreement for the Derlak Gold Property 

          On 10 March 2017, Pure Gold acquired a 100 per cent. interest in the 219ha Derlak Gold Property, 
from Orefinders Resources Inc. The Derlak Gold Property is considered part of the Madsen Gold 
Project. Consideration for the acquisition included C $500,000 in cash and 1,290,322 Common 
Shares, with a fair market value of C$696,744, being C$1,196,744 in aggregate. 

          A three per cent. NSR royalty is payable on gross revenue derived from the Derlak Gold Property, 
less permissible deductions. One percentage point of the NSR royalty may be bought back by the 
Company for C$1 million. 

18.   Mineral Rights 
The Company holds the following surface rights granted by ENDM: 

                                                                             No. of  

Claim No.                                                             Claims     Royalty                   Comments 

         229         

 

These Patents do not 
have expiry dates, they 
have annual mining tax 
payable (tax notices are 
issued in January each 
year and are payable 
within 60 days of 
receipt).The taxes on 
these 229 Patents were 
last paid on 15 March 
2019 and are in good 
standing until 26 March 
2020. Total tax paid for 
the Madsen patent claims 
in 2019 was C 
$16,193.26.

Patent, surface 
and mining rights

1445–1452, 407–408, 456–461,  
11502–11509, 12521–12529, 12601–12605, 
12638–12648, 12658–12669, 12673–12684, 
12704–12706, 12726–12728, 12730, 
12746–12756, 12758–12760, 12764–12766, 
12820–12824, 12836–12838, 12858–12866, 
12875–12883, 12921–12922, 12953–12955, 
12963–12965, 13024, 13060–13061, 
13068–13069, 13082–13084, 13241–13244, 
13254–13255, 13475–13477, 13554, 13659, 
13660, 16672–16673, 18728–18729, 18778, 
19181–19182, 19223–19226, 19235–19238, 
19247–19254, 19278–19281, 19306–19313, 
19367–19368, 19428–19430, 19684–19688, 
19719–19720, 19788, 20169–20171, 
20585–20588, 21273–21278, 21280–21281, 
21316–21318, 21378, 11509A, 12527A, 
12642A–12644A, 12881A–12882A,  
20585A–20587A, 21316A, 2890
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                                                                             No. of  

Claim No.                                                             Claims     Royalty                   Comments 

           10         

             3         

             2         

             7         

                     7         

        Other than the nine unpatented claims (being 124250, 135653, 140530, 188266, 194127, 216940, 
231394, 263367 303646) (“Unpatented Claims”), there are no financial commitments associated 
with the mineral rights held by the Company. While annual assessment work valued at C$400 per cell 
claim unit (C$200 per boundary cell claim) must be carried out to maintain the Unpatented Claims in 
good standing, significant work credits exist on these claims or adjacent Patents, which can be used 
to renew the Unpatented Claims. The Company does not therefore expect any associated financial 
liability with the Unpatented Claims. 

        In the ordinary course of business, the Company has made applications for the renewal of mining 
leases 51289, 51288, 51287, and 51290 none of which are material to the Project and which expired 
on 31 March 2019. As at the date of this document, these renewals remain pending and have not 
been granted although the mining leases remain in good standing and the Company has no reason to 
believe that such renewals will not be granted. 

19.   Governmental licences, permits, authorisations and other approvals 
The Company holds the following governmental licences, permits, authorisations and other approvals: 

Permits and authorisations in good standing 
19.1 Permit to take water  

        The permit to take water was updated in 2017 and allows for pumping of 6.5 litres of water per day 
from the mine workings. No pumping is currently being undertaken. 

These licences of 
occupation have annual 
rent of C$5 per hectare 
for a total of C$101.98 
total rent per year due 
annually on 1 October.

Licence of 
occupation, 
surface and 
mining rights

13062, 38093

These leases have annual 
rental payments due by 
the anniversary date of 
the lease (rental notices 
are issued about 45 days 
in advance). Leases 
51289, 51288, 51287, 
and 51290 had an expiry 
date of 31 March 2019 
and a 21-year renewal 
was filed prior to this date 
by the company. It is in 
process by ENDM.  

Leases 51020, 51018, 
51021, 51019, 50993, 
50992 have an expiry 
date of 31 December 
2036. 

Lease, surface 
and mining rights

50992, 50993, 51018, 51019, 51020, 51021, 
51287, 51288, 51289, 51290

N/ACrown retained 
surface rights

4229, 4231, 4902

N/ALease, mining 
rights only

47990, 47991, 47992, 47993, 47994, 47995, 
47996

N/APatent, mining 
rights only

36016, 36017, 36018, 36019, 38091, 
38092, 38094

108



19.2 Advanced exploration closure plan 

        In 2016, the Madsen Portal was moved from temporary suspension to advanced exploration status to 
facilitate underground access for feasibility level studies. The closure plan for these activities was 
accepted by the regulators along with additional closure funding for the advanced exploration program 
closure. This plan is in good standing and closure funding can be rolled over into a new mining 
operation or mine closure if a new operation does not proceed. 

19.3 Advanced exploration closure plan amendment 

        In 2018, Pure Gold requested an amendment to the Madsen Portal advanced exploration closure plan 
to allow for the taking of a bulk sample. This amendment was acceptable to ENDM and local First 
Nations and required nominal additional closure funding. This plan is in good standing and closure 
funding can be rolled over into a new mining operation or complete mine closure. 

19.4 SAR exemption and benefit program under clause 17(2)c of SARA for Endangered Bats 

        Myotis species bats were encountered in the underground portal area in 2017. A permit allowing Pure 
Gold to continue underground operations with acceptable and manageable conditions, including 
funding bat disease research, reporting requirements, installation of deterrents and installation of bat 
houses outside of the mining area was granted in June of 2017. The permit is in good standing and 
the MNRF has accepted two annual reports, 2017 and 2018, under this permit. 

19.5 Registered hazardous waste generation site 

        Pure Gold maintains its registration as a hazardous waste site, primarily focused on the collection of 
used lubricants and oils related to operations. In preparation for future operations the registration was 
extended in 2019 to include Petroleum distillates and waste compressed gases. Future registration 
updates are anticipated to account for all potentially hazardous materials planned to be used at the 
site. This permit is renewed annually and is in good standing for 2019. 

19.6 PCB storage site closure 

        Pure Gold has decommissioned and closed a legacy PCB storage site established by a previous 
operator and met all conditions set by MECP. A closure confirmation letter has been received 
from MECP. 

Permits and authorisations that require updating 
19.7 ECA industrial sewage works permit 

        Pure Gold currently has an Amended Certificate of Approval for Industrial Sewage Works 
(0047-7V9PW9) (“Certificate”) that allows for the release of suitable quality water from the tailings 
facility. This ECA allows Pure Gold to manage water storage in the tailings facility and to manage water 
levels in the underground operations. Ongoing environmental compliance monitoring of downstream 
catchments is conducted and annual reports are presented to MECP. The permit is in good standing. 

        Changes in the effluent regulations since the mine and mill facility last operated as well as the water 
management described in the Project definition will require an updated Certificate. Pure Gold is in the 
process of updating this ECA for future operations and has undertaken baseline studies focused on 
optimising water resource usage, recovery and recycling and has presented an updated operation 
general arrangement in the Project definition. JDS, Knight Piésold and Integrated Sustainability 
Consultants Limited were contracted to provide tailings and process water treatment designs and 
Lorax Environmental and Minnow Environmental Inc. the baseline studies for this work, which is aimed 
at bringing Pure Gold into compliance with the Metal Mining Effluent Regulation, Ontario Water 
Resources Act, Regulation 560/94 (Municipal Industrial Strategy for Abatement (MISA) Regulation) and 
the Metal Mining Effluent Regulation. Designs, baseline reports and predicted water quality modelling 
have been provided to MECP and ENDM as the first part of updating this permit. Full submission for 
a new permit application is expected by mid-2019 and a new permit is expected to be issued in 2019 
to early 2020. 

        The revised permit is required before the Mill and Tailings facility can be operated, but it is not required 
to commence development of these facilities. 

109



19.8 ECA for air and noise 

        With the proposed use of new equipment and some operational changes to enhance power, energy 
and water usage, a new air and noise ECA is required. DST Consulting Engineers Inc. and 
Aeroacoustics Engineering Limited were contracted to provide the baseline study for this work. 

        The Company is able to start development of the Project without this permit but it will be required 
before mining and milling can commence. A new permit application was submitted in 2018 and a new 
ECA for Air and Noise is expected to be issued in 2019. The Company does not anticipate any 
complexities in obtaining this permit. 

19.9 Mine closure plan, ENDM 

        In 2018, the existing closure plan was amended and the Closure Bond increased by C$85,000 to 
C$2.4 million to allow the Company to reopen the Madsen Portal (C$60,000) and undertake the bulk 
sampling programme (C$25,000). 

        In light of the proposed development of the Project and the return of the Madsen Mine to operational 
status, the existing closure plan will require updating, along with the Closure Bond. The revised Closure 
Bond has been estimated by JDS to be C$16 million (which includes the current provision of 
C$2.4 million) and will be considered by ENDM in conjunction with its assessment of the revised 
closure plan. 

        The Company will seek to submit a closure plan amendment in Q4 2019 following regulatory meetings 
to screen the application, which are expected in Q4 2019. The Company does not anticipate any 
difficulties in agreeing both a revised closure plan and additional funding to the Closure Bond in 
accordance with this timeline as ENDM’s determination will be made in light of JDS’s assessment. 

19.10 Permit to mine, ENDM 

          A notice of project status was received and acknowledged by ENDM on 24 April 2007. In light of the 
proposed development of the Project a new notice of project status will need to be in place before 
mining and milling can commence. However surface infrastructure can be constructed before this 
permit is received although development of underground infrastructure may not proceed without this 
permit. A revised project status was filed with ENDM and is expected to be received by Q4 2019.  

Permits and authorisations that may require updating 
All of the permits noted in paragraphs 19.11 – 19.18 are smaller permits with short approval times that are 
common to all construction projects. They will be applied for as required and the Company expects to 
receive them within the requested timeframes. Timing for the application of these permits will be established 
during detailed engineering for the Project. 

19.11 ECA for sewage 

          For approval to construct and operate a domestic sewage treatment system, or health unit approval 
for smaller systems. 

19.12 Work permit 

          Any construction/relocation of a transmission line for work on Crown land or for in-water works. 

19.13 Plans and specifications approval 

          For construction of dams or berms, including those associated with tailings facilities and/or new 
ponds and ditches. 

19.14 Forest resource licence 

          Annual licence for clearing of any Crown merchantable timber. 

19.15 Aggregate permit 

          For extraction of any aggregate for dam construction. 
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19.16 Leave to construct 

          For approval to construct a transmission line. 

19.17 Notice of construction 

          Notice is required before any contractor or construction activities take place. 

19.18 SARA approvals 

          Although the Project area falls within the range of several terrestrial species at risk these have not 
been encountered on or near the Project. FRi Corp Ecological Services has been retained to evaluate 
habitat suitability and to undertake surveys and develop management plans prior to any construction 
and operational activities associated with mine reopening. 

20.   Statutory auditors 
20.1 The auditors of the Company for the ninth-month period ended 31 December 2018 and the financial 

years ended 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 have been PwC, whose registered 
address is at 250 Howe Street, Suite 1400, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3S7. 

 

 20.2 PwC have audited the annual consolidated financial statements for the Company, which have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

 21.   Working capital 
        In the opinion of the Company, the working capital available to the Company is sufficient for its present 

requirements, that is, for at least the next 12 months from the date of this document. 
 

 22.   No significant change 
        There has been no significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Company 

since the unaudited condensed interim financial statements of the Company for nine months ended 
30 September 2019, being the end of the last financial period of the Company for which financial 
information has been published, to the date of this document. Such financial information, being the 
Historical Financial Information, is included in Part 11 (Historical Financial Information) of this document. 

 

 23.   Litigation 
        The Company confirms that there are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any 

such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the issuer is aware), during a period 
covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have had in the recent past significant 
effects on the Company and/or the Company’s financial position or profitability. 

 

 24.   Related party transactions 
        Each of Sean Tetzlaff, Phil Smerchanski and Christopher Lee are employees of Oxygen Capital and 

each of Mark O’Dea and Sean Tetzlaff are directors of Oxygen Capital. The Company is a party to the 
Oxygen Capital Services Agreement, details of which are summarised at paragraph 17.1 of this Part 
16 (Additional Information). 

25.   Miscellaneous 
25.1 The total costs (including fees and commissions, but exclusive of VAT) payable by the Company in 

connection with Admission are estimated to be £0.4 million. 

25.2 The Company confirms that all third party information contained in this document has been accurately 
reproduced and, so far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published 
by such third parties, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information 
inaccurate or misleading. Where third party information has been used in this document, the source 
of such information has also been identified. 

AI 2.1

 
 
AIII 3.1

 
 
AI 20.9

 
 
AI 20.8

 
 
AI 19
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 26.   Documents available for inspection 
        Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection during usual business hours on any 

Business Day for a period of 12 months following the date of Document at the offices of Memery 
Crystal LLP at 165 Fleet Street, London EC4A 2DY and on the Company’s website at 
http://puregoldmining.ca/investors: 

        (a)     this document; 

        (b)     the Articles and Notice of Articles, summaries of which are provided at paragraph 8 of this Part 16 
(Additional Information); and 

        (c)     the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company in respect of the ninth-month 
period ended 31 December 2018 and the financial years ended 31 March 2018, 31 March 2017 
and 31 March 2016, together with the related audit reports from the independent auditor, and 
the unaudited financial statements for the Company as at and for the nine-month period ended 
30 September 2019 as referred to in Part 11 (Historical Financial Information) of this document. 

Dated 12 December 2019 

 
 
AI 24
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  PART 17 

DEFINITIONS 

0785531 B.C.                                      0785531 B.C. Ltd, a company registered and incorporated in British 
Columbia, Canada, under the Corporations Act 

2015 Fundraising                               the bought-deal private placement whereby the Company issued 
and allotted (i) 13,836,478 Flow-Through Shares at a price of 
C $0.35 per Flow-Through Share; and (ii) 3,187,143 Common 
Shares at a price of C$0.28 per Common Share, raising gross 
proceeds of C$5.74 million, on 20 February 2015 

2016 Fundraising                               the bought-deal private placement whereby the Company issued 
and allotted 8,334,000 Flow-Through Shares at a price of 
C$0.75 per Flow-Through Share, raising gross proceeds of 
C$6.22 million, on 8 June 2016 

2017 PEA                                            the preliminary economic assessment in respect of the Madsen Gold 
Project published on 14 December 2017 

2018 Fundraising                               the bought-deal private placement whereby the Company issued 
and allotted (i) 28,930,000 2018 Units at a price of C$0.62 per 2018 
Unit; and (ii) 4,000,000 Flow-Through Shares at a price of 
C $0.75 per Flow-Through Share and the non-brokered private 
placement of 12,800,000 2018 Units to AngloGold at a price of C 
$0.62 per 2018 Unit, raising gross proceeds of C$20.94 million, on 
24 May 2018 

2018 Unit                                            a unit comprising of one Common Share and one-half of a Warrant 
issued and allotted pursuant to the 2018 Fundraising with each 
Warrant exercisable into one Common Share at a price of 
C$0.85 per Warrant until 24 May 2020 

2019 Flow-Through Shares               the 7,723,975 Flow-Through Shares issued and allotted at a price 
of C$0.67 per Flow-Through Share pursuant to the March 2019 
Fundraising 

2176423 Ontario                                 2176423 Ontario Ltd, a corporation beneficially owned and 
controlled by Eric Sprott 

8 Zone                                                 a mineral domain or zone forming a part of the Madsen Deposit, 
known as the 8 Zone 

86 Prospect                                        a mineral prospect located within the Wedge Deposit, known as the 
86 Prospect 

A3 Domain                                          a mineral domain forming part of the South Austin Zone, a part of 
the Madsen Deposit, known as the A3 Domain 

Admission                                          the admission of the New Common Shares to the standard segment 
of the Official List and to trading on the Main Market for listed 
securities 

Advanced Exploration                       exploration on a mining claim which meets certain criteria prescribed 
and enforced by ENDM and for which, inter alia, a closure plan must 
be filed 

AGM                                                    annual general meeting of the Company 
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AngloGold                                          AngloGold Ashanti International Exploration Holdings Limited 

Articles                                               the Company’s articles of association, adopted on 6 February 2008, 
a summary of which is set out in paragraph 8 of Part 16 (Additional 

Information) of this document 

Audit Committee                               the Company’s audit committee further details of which are set out 
in Part 9 (Directors, Senior Managers and Corporate Governance) 
of this document 

Austin Zone                                        a mineral domain or zone forming a part of the Madsen Deposit, 
known as the Austin Zone 

Basemet                                             Base Metallurgical Laboratories Ltd 

Board                                                  the Directors 

Business Day                                     a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in England 
when banks in London are open for business 

Capo Resources                                Capo Resources Limited, a company registered and incorporated 
in British Columbia, Canada, under the Business Corporations Act 

Change of Control                             a Board endorsed 100 per cent. change of control of Pure Gold 

Change of Control Agreements       together, the CL Change of Control Agreement, PS Change of 
Control Agreement and ST Change of Control Agreement 

CIM                                                     the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum 

CIM Standards                                   those standards of the CIM Committee on Reserve Definitions 

CK Zone                                             a mineral domain or zone forming a part of the Wedge Deposit, 
known as the CK Zone 

CL Change of Control Agreement   the change of control agreement entered into between the Company 
and Christopher Lee on 17 May 2016 

Claude                                                Claude Resources Inc., 100 per cent. owner of the then constituted 
Madsen Gold Project until selling its entire interest to the Company 
on 4 March 2014 

Closure Bond                                     the amount to be paid by the Company to re-open the Madsen Mine 
as part of the mine closure plan, currently estimated by JDS to be 
C$16 million, to be agreed with ENDM 

Common Share                                  a common share without par value in the capital of the Company 

Company or Pure Gold                      Pure Gold Mining Inc., a public limited company incorporated in 
British Columbia, Canada with business number 818789943 and 
having its registered office at c/o McMillan LLP, Suite 1500 Royal 
Centre, 1055 West Georgia Street, PO Box 11117, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, Canada V6E 4N7 

Compensation Committee               the Company’s compensation committee further details of which are 
set out in Part 9 (Directors, Senior Managers and Corporate 

Governance) of this document 

Corporate Governance                     the Company’s corporate governance committee further details of 
Committee                                         which are set out in Part 9 (Directors, Senior Managers and 

Corporate Governance) of this document 
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Corporations Act                               the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 2002 

Credit Facility                                     the senior secured US$65 million credit facility, part of the Project 
Financing Package, details of which are set out in paragraph 17.2 
of Part 8 (Information on Pure Gold Mining.) of this document 

CREST                                                the relevant system in respect of which Euroclear UK & Ireland is the 
operator (as defined in the CREST Regulations) 

CREST Manual                                   the rules governing the operation of CREST, consisting of the CREST 
Reference Manual, CREST Rules, Registrars Service Standards, 
Settlement Discipline Rules, CCSS Operations Manual, Daily 
Timetable, CREST Application Procedures and CREST Glossary of 
Terms promulgated by Euroclear on 15 July 1996 (and as amended 
since) 

CREST Regulations                           the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 No. 3755) 

Custodian                                           Computershare Investor Services Inc. or a subsidiary or third party 
appointed by Computershare Investor Services Inc. to provide the 
custody services 

Deed Poll                                            the deed poll executed by the Depositary in favour of the holders of 
the Depositary Interests from time to time 

Depositary                                          Computershare Investor Services plc 

Depositary Agreement                      the agreement entered into between the Company and the 
Depositary appointing the Depositary further details of which are set 
out in Part 13 (CREST and Depository Interests) of this document 

Depositary Interests                          the dematerialised depositary interests issued by the Depositary in 
respect of the underlying Common Shares 

Derlak Gold Property                        the property consisting of 11 Patents acquired by Pure Gold Mining 
in 2017 and amalgamated with the Madsen Gold Project, known as 
the Derlak Gold Property 

Directors                                             the directors of the Company from time to time whose names, as at 
the date of this document, are set out on page 39 of this document 

Disinterested Shareholder                a Shareholder entitled to vote at a meeting of Shareholders that does 
not have an interest in the subject matter of the resolution in 
accordance with the TSX-V Policies 

Disinterested Shareholder               approval by a majority of Disinterested Shareholders at a meeting  
Approval                                             of Shareholders 

DTR                                                     the disclosure guidance and transparency rules made by the FCA 
under section 73A of FSMA 

Dumas                                                Dumas Contracting Limited, a corporation incorporated pursuant to 
the laws of Ontario, whose address is Suite 2301, 200 bay Street 
South Tower, Toronto, ON M5J 2J1  

DV Zone                                             a mineral domain or zone forming a part of the Wedge Deposit, 
known as the DV Zone 

ECA                                                     Ontario Environmental Compliance Approval 
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Eligible Persons                                 Employees, Management Corporation Employees and Consultants 
of the Company, each as defined in the TSX Policies 

Employment Change of Control      has the meaning given to it in paragraph 12.3 of Part 16 (Additional 

Information) of this document 

Endeavour Financial                          Endeavour Financial Limited (Cayman), the Company’s retained debt 
advisor 

ENDM                                                 Ontario Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and Mines, 
formerly referred to as MNDM 

Equity Exploration                             Equity Exploration Consultants Ltd, a company registered and 
incorporated in Canada, and having its registered office at 1510-250 
Howe Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3R8 

Evanachan                                         Evanachan Limited, a company registered and incorporated in 
Canada, an entity wholly-owned and controlled by Robert McEwen 

FCA                                                     the Financial Conduct Authority 

Feasibility Contractors                      MineFill Services, Nordmin, Ginto Consulting, Knight Piésold, Equity 
Exploration and Lorax Environmental 

February 2017 Fundraising               the bought-deal private placement whereby the Company issued 
and allotted 17,600,000 Flow-Through Shares at a price of 
C$0.75 per Flow-Through Share, raising gross proceeds of 
C$13.2 million, on 22 February 2017 

First Nations                                       the Aboriginal peoples of Canada official recognised by the federal 
government of Canada as an administrative unit 

Flow-Through Share                         a Common Share issued pursuant to the flow-through-share 
programs of the Canadian federal government providing investment 
tax credits and incentives to investors by transferring the tax 
deductibility of qualifying resource expenditures, incurred by the 
Company, which forms part of the issued share capital of the 
Company at Admission in the same manner as other Common Share. 

Fork Deposit                                      the deposit within the Project known as the Fork Deposit, one of the 
Satellite Deposits 

FSMA                                                  the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 

Ginto Consulting                                Ginto Consulting Inc., a company registered and incorporated in 
British Columbia, and having its registered office at 333 West 
17th Street, North Vancouver, BC Canada V7M 1V9 

Gold Stream                                       the US$25 million callable gold stream, part of the Project Financing 
Package, details of which are set out in paragraph 17.3 of Part 8 
(Information on Pure Gold Mining.) of this document 

Goldcorp                                            Goldcorp Inc., a gold producer in the Red Lake District, British 
Columbia, Canada 

Health, Safety & Environment          the Company’s health, safety and environment committee further 
Committee                                         details of which are set out in Part 9 (Directors, Senior Managers 

and Corporate Governance) of this document 
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Historical Financial Information       the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes, as 
referred to in Part 11 (Historical Financial Information) of this 
document 

Historical Financial                           the period covered by the Historical Financial Information 
Information Period 

HMRC                                                 Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 

IFRS                                                    International Financial Reporting Standards 

Insiders                                               (a) a director or senior officer of the company; or (b) a director or 
senior officer of a company that is an insider or subsidiary of the 
company; or (c) a person that beneficially owns or controls, directly 
or indirectly, shares carrying more than 10 per cent. of the voting 
rights; or (d) the company if it holds any of its own securities 

JDS                                                     JDS Energy & Mining Inc., a private company registered and 
incorporated in British Columbia, Canada with Business Number 
854154408 and having its registered office at Suite 900, 999 West 
Hastings Street, Vancouver, Canada V6C 2W2 

Key Management Personnel            persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 
including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the 
Company 

KG Exploration                                  KG Exploration (Canada) Inc., a subsidiary of Kinross 

Kinross                                               Kinross Gold Corporation 

Kinross Option Agreement               the agreement between the Company and KG Exploration (Canada) 
Inc., dated 12 March 2018 

Knight Piésold                                   Knight Piésold Ltd., a company registered and incorporated in 
Canada, and having its registered office at 750 W Pender St 1400, 
Vancouver, BC Canada V6C 2T8 

Last Practicable Date                       11 December 2019 

Laurentian Exploration                      Laurentian Exploration Ltd, a former wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Capo Resources, amalgamated with the Company on 22 January 
2009, a private company registered and incorporated in British 
Columbia, Canada, under the Business Corporations Act 

Laurentian Goldfields                        Laurentian Goldfields Ltd, a private company registered and 
incorporated in British Columbia, Canada, under the Business 
Corporations Act 

Listing Rules                                      the listing rules made by the FCA under section 73A of FSMA 

London Stock Exchange or LSE       London Stock Exchange plc 

Lorax Environmental                         Lorax Environmental Services Ltd, a company registered and 
incorporated in Canada, and having its registered office at 2289 
Burrard Street, Vancouver BC Canada V6J 3H9 

Madsen Deposit                                the main deposit within the Madsen Gold Project (comprising of the 
Austin Zone, the South Austin Zone (including the A3 Domain), the 
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McVeigh Zone and the 8 Zone), the Company’s principal focus of 
exploration and development 

Madsen Gold Project or                   the exploration and development project in the Archean Red Lake 
Madsen Project or Project                Greenstone Belt, Ontario, Canada, comprising the Madsen Deposit 

and the Satellite Deposits 

Madsen Mine                                     the underground gold mine known as the Madsen Mine that 
operated continuously from 1938 to 1974 and from 1997 to 1999, 
located within the Madsen Gold Project 

Madsen Portal                                   the surface opening of the ramp access to the Madsen Mine 
underground 

Main Market                                       the Main Market of the LSE 

MAR                                                    the European Union Market Abuse Regulation (596/2014) 

March 2019 Fundraising                   the bought-deal private placement whereby the Company issued 
and allotted the 2019 Flow-Through Shares, raising gross proceeds 
of C$5.18 million, on 29 March 2019 

McVeigh Portal                                  the surface opening of the ramp access to the McVeigh Zone 
underground 

McVeigh Zone                                    a mineral domain or zone forming a part of the Madsen Deposit, 
known as the McVeigh Zone 

MECP                                                  Ontario Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks formerly 
referred to as MOECC 

Member States                                  the member states of the European Union 

Métis or Métis Nation of Ontario      one of Canada’s aboriginal peoples recognised under the 
Constitution Act 1982 

MineFill Services                               MineFill Services Inc., a company registered and incorporated in the 
United States, and having its registered office at P.O Box 725, 
Bothell, Washington, USA 98041 

MJ Zone                                             a mineral domain or zone forming a part of the Wedge Deposit, 
known as the MJ Zone 

MNRF                                                  Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 

New Common Shares                       the Offering Shares, Non-Brokered Private Placement Shares, 
Project Financing Shares and Project Agreement Shares  

Newman-Madsen Property              a 700 hectare property acquired by Pure Gold and added to the 
Madsen Gold Project in 2014, known as the Newman-Madsen 
Property 

NI 43-101                                            the National Instrument 43-101, “Standards of Disclosure for Mineral 

Projects”, Companion Policy 43-101CP and Form 43-101F1, a set 
of rules developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators 

Non-Brokered Private Placement    the non-brokered private placement by the Company of 23,700,000 
Offering Units which was announced on 15 July 2019 and 
completed on 18 July 2019, details of which are set out in paragraph 
16 of Part 8 (Information on Pure Gold Mining Inc.) of this document 

 

118



Non-Brokered Private                      the 23,700,000 new Common Shares issued as part of the Offering 
Placement Shares                             Units under the Non-Brokered Private Placement  

Notice of Articles                               the Company’s notice of articles, adopted by the Company on 
6 February 2008 

November 2017 Fundraising            the bought-deal private placement whereby the Company issued 
and allotted (i) 8,690,000 Super Flow-Through Shares at a price of 
C$0.725 per Super Flow-Through Share; (ii) 8,061,125 
Flow-Through Shares at a price of C$0.64 per Flow-Through Share; 
and (iii) 14,862,167 Common Shares at a price of C$0.52 per 
Common Share, raising gross proceeds of C$19.2 million, on 
1 November 2017 

Offering                                               the bought deal private placement by the Company of 62,714,000 
Offering Units which was announced on 21 June 2019 and 
completed on 18 July 2019, details of which are set out in paragraph 
16 of Part 8 (Information on Pure Gold Mining.) of this document  

Offering Shares                                  the 62,714,000 New Common Shares issued as part of the Offering 
Units under the Offering 

Offering Unit                                       a unit comprising of one Common Share and one-half of a Warrant 
issued and allotted pursuant to the Offering and Non-Brokered 
Private Placement with each Warrant exercisable into one Common 
Share at a price of C$0.85 per Warrant until 18 July 2022 

Official List                                         the Official List of the FCA 

OL Prospect                                       a mineral prospect located within the Wedge Deposit, known as the 
OL Prospect 

Option                                                 an option to acquire a Common Share pursuant to the Option Plan 

Option Plan                                        the option plan adopted by the Company on September 14, 2018 
further details of which are set out in paragraph 15.3 of Part 16 
(Additional Information) of this document 

Optionholders                                    the persons who hold Options from time to time 

Oxygen Capital                                  Oxygen Capital Corporation 

Oxygen Capital Employees              those individuals made available to the Company on a fulltime basis 
by Oxygen Capital, pursuant to the Oxygen Capital Services 
Agreement 

Oxygen Capital Services                  the agreement between the Company and Oxygen Capital dated 
Agreement                                          17 March 2014, as amended on 1 October 2017 

Patents                                               patented mining claims that confer fee-simple rights to hard-rock 
mineral tenure and allow extraction and sale of minerals 

PDMR                                                 person discharging managerial responsibilities, as defined in 
Article 3(1)(25) MAR 

Premier                                               Premier Gold Mines Limited 

Premium Listing                                a listing on the premium segment of the Official List 
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Project Agreement                            the agreement between each of the Company, Wabauskang First 
Nation and Lac Seul First Nation, dated 28 July 2019, details of 
which are set out at paragraph 19 of Part 8 (Information on Pure 

Gold Mining Inc.) of this document  

Project Agreement Shares               the 1,000,000 New Common Shares issued to Wabauskang First 
Nation and Lac Seul First Nation pursuant to the Project Agreement 

Project Costs                                     the minimum of C$107 million financing that the Directors intend to 
raise to fund the Closure Bond and commence development of the 
Project in Q4 2019, to be raised by way of equity and debt and/or 
the sale of a metal stream or royalty, or combination thereof 

Project Financing Package              the US$90 million project financing package with Sprott Lending, 
comprising of the Credit Facility and Gold Stream, completed on 
6 August 2019, details of which are set out in paragraph 17 of Part 8 
(Information on Pure Gold Mining.) of this document 

Project Financing Shares                 the 3,841,000 New Common Shares issued to Sprott Lending LP 
under the Project Financing Package 

Prospectus                                         this document 

Prospectus Regulation                     Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and Council 
of 14 June 2017 

Prospectus Regulation Rules           the prospectus regulation rules published by the FCA under 
section 73A of FSMA 

PS Change of Control Agreement   the change of control agreement entered into between the Company 
and Phil Smerchanski on 1 April 2014 

PwC                                                    PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, 
whose registered office is 250 Howe St Suite 1400, Vancouver, 
BC Canada V6C 3S7 

Russet South Deposit                       the deposit within the Madsen Gold Project known as the Russet 
South Deposit, one of the Satellite Deposits 

Sabina                                                 Sabina Gold & Silver Corp., 100 per cent. owner of the Newman-
Madsen Property until selling its entire interest in the 
Newman-Madsen Property to the Company on 24 June 2014 

SARA                                                  the Species at Risk Act (S.C. 2002, c.29) 

Satellite Deposits                              the Fork Deposit, the Russet South Deposit and the Wedge Deposit 

Senior Managers                               Sean Tetzlaff, Phil Smerchanski, Ken Donner and Christopher Lee 

Shareholders                                      the Company’s shareholders from time to time 

South Austin Zone                             a mineral domain or zone forming a part of the Madsen Deposit, 
known as the South Austin Zone 

Sprott                                                  Sprott Capital Partners LP of Royal Bank Plaza, South Tower, 
200 Bay Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 2J1 

Sprott Lending                                   each of (1) Sprott Lending Inc.; and (2) Sprott Lending LP  
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Sprott Lending Inc.                           Sprott Private Resource Lending II (Co), Inc., of Royal Bank Plaza, 
South Tower, 200 Bay Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada M5J 2J1 

Sprott Lending LP                             Sprott Private Resource Lending II (Collector), LP, of Royal Bank 
Plaza, South Tower, 200 Bay Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada M5J 2J1 

ST Change of Control Agreement    the change of control agreement entered into between the Company 
and Sean Tetzlaff on 13 May 2014 

Standard Listing                                a listing on the standard segment of the Official List 

Starratt                                               the Starratt-Olsen mine that operated continuously from 1948 to 
1956 and was located within the Madsen Gold Project area 

Super Flow-Through Share              an investment industry term which describes a Flow-through Share 
which also qualifies for provincial, in this case Ontario, tax credits in 
addition to the incentives and investment tax credits provided by the 
Canadian federal government 

Takeover Panel                                  the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers 

Technical Report                               the technical report on the Madsen Gold Project comprising of the 
definitive feasibility study in respect of the Madsen Deposit published 
on 21 March 2019 and republished on 5 July 2019, completed by 
JDS and the Feasibility Contractors 

Temporary Suspension                     a voluntary suspension of activities at a mine site allowing the mine 
to be shut down without full closure, subject to certain conditions 
contained within section 139(1) Part VII of the Mining Act, R.S.O. 
1990 and section 22, Part VII of the Mine Development And Closure 
under the Mining Act .O. Reg 240/00 

Treaty 3                                               the North-West Angle Treaty, entered into between Saulteaux band 
of the Ojibwa peoples and the Government of Canada on 3 October 
1873 and subsequent adhesions 

TSX                                                     the Toronto Stock Exchange 

TSX Policies                                       the policies included in the TSX Venture Exchange Corporate 
Finance Manual 

TSX-V                                                  the TSX Venture Exchange 

UK Takeover Code                            The City Code on Takeovers and Mergers issued by the Takeover 
Panel 

UKLA                                                  the United Kingdom Listing Authority 

Underwriting Agreements                the underwriting agreements entered into by the Company as set 
out in paragraphs 17.8 – 17.12 of Part 16 (Additional Information) of 
this document 

Unpatented Claims                            unpatented mining claims conferring title to hard-rock mineral tenure 
which must be converted to leases before mining can take place 

Van Horne Project                             the mineral exploration project exploring the Van Horne Property 
near Dryden, Ontario 
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VAT                                                      value added tax 

Warrant Agent                                    Computershare Trust Company of Canada 

Warrant Indenture                             the agreement entered into between the Company and the Warrant 
Agent, dated 18 July 2019, to govern the Warrants 

Warrant Shares                                  the Common Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Warrants 

Warrants                                             the existing warrants to subscribe for Common Shares further details 
of which are set out in paragraph 15.4 of Part 16 (Additional 

Information) of this document 

Wedge Deposit                                  the deposit within the Madsen Gold Project known as the Wedge 
Deposit, one of the Satellite Deposits 

Working Capital Period                     the 12 month period from the date of publication of this document 
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PART 18  

GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS 

Ai                                                         abrasion index 

AISC                                                    all in sustaining cash cost 

Au                                                        gold 

BWi                                                      bond ball mill work index 

CIP                                                      carbon-in-pulp 

CWi                                                     crushing work index 

EPCM                                                  engineering, procurement and construction management 

G&A                                                     general and administrative expense 

g/t                                                        grams per tonne 

ha                                                        hectares 

Indicated Mineral Resource             as defined in the NI 43-101, is that part of a Mineral Resource for 
which quantity, grade or quality, densities, shape and physical 
characteristics, can be estimated with a level of confidence sufficient 
to allow the appropriate application of technical and economic 
parameters, to support mine planning and evaluation of the 
economic viability of the deposit. The estimate is based on detailed 
and reliable exploration and testing information gathered through 
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, 
pits, workings and drill holes that are spaced closely enough for 
geological and grade continuity to be reasonably assumed 

Inferred Mineral Resource                as defined in the NI 43-101, is that part of a Mineral Resource for 
which quantity and grade or quality can be estimated on the basis 
of geological evidence and limited sampling and reasonably 
assumed, but not verified, geological and grade continuity. The 
estimate is based on limited information and sampling gathered 
through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, 
trenches, pits, workings and drill holes 

IRR                                                      internal rate of return 

km                                                       kilometre 

km2                                                      square kilometre 

Koz                                                      thousand ounces 

kWh/t                                                  kilowatt hour per tonne 

LOM                                                    life of mine 

m                                                         metre 
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Measured Mineral Resource            as defined in the NI 43-101, is that part of a Mineral Resource for 
which quantity, grade or quality, densities, shape, and physical 
characteristics are so well established that they can be estimated 
with confidence sufficient to allow the appropriate application of 
technical and economic parameters, to support production planning 
and evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit. The estimate 
is based on detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing 
information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations 
such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes that are 
spaced closely enough to confirm both geological and grade 
continuity 

Mineral Reserve or Reserve             as defined in the NI 43-101, is the economically mineable part of a 
Measured or Indicated Mineral Resource demonstrated by at least 
a preliminary feasibility study. This study must include adequate 
information on mining, processing, metallurgical, economic and 
other relevant factors that demonstrate, at the time of reporting, that 
economic extraction can be justified. A Mineral Reserve includes 
diluting materials and allowances for losses that may occur when 
the material is mined 

Mineral Resource or Resource         as defined in the NI 43-101, a concentration or occurrence of solid 
material of economic interest in or on the Earth’s crust in such form, 
grade (or quality), and quantity that there are reasonable prospects 
for eventual economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade 
(or quality), continuity and other geological characteristics of a 
Mineral Resource are known, estimated or interpreted from specific 
geological evidence and knowledge, including sampling 

mm                                                      millimetre 

Moz                                                     million ounces 

MRMF                                                 mine rate management facility 

Mt                                                        million tonnes 

NPV                                                     net present value 

NSR                                                     net smelter return royalty 

oz                                                        ounce 

pH                                                       measure of acidity or alkalinity of water soluble substances 

ppm                                                     parts per million 

Probable Mineral Reserve                as defined in the NI 43-101, is the economically mineable part of an 
Indicated and, in some circumstances, a Measured Mineral 
Resource demonstrated by at least a Preliminary Feasibility Study. 
This Study must include adequate information on mining, 
processing, metallurgical, economic, and other relevant factors that 
demonstrate, at the time of reporting, that economic extraction can 
be justified 

SMC                                                    SAG mill comminution 

SO2                                                      sulphur dioxide 

TMF                                                     tailings management facility 
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tonne or t                                            thousand kilograms 

tpd                                                       tonne per day 

tph                                                       tonne per hour 

troy oz                                                troy ounce 

μm                                                       micrometre 
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